CHOLESTEROL-LOWERING AND PROBIOTIC PROPERTIES OF SELECTED LACTIC ACID BACTERIA



A Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Pharmaceutical Chemistry and Natural Products Department of Food and Pharmaceutical Chemistry FACULTY OF PHARMACEUTICAL SCIENCES Chulalongkorn University Academic Year 2021 Copyright of Chulalongkorn University การลดคอเลสเตอรอลและคุณสมบัติโพรไบโอติกของแบกทีเรียกรดแลกติกที่คัดเลือกได้



วิทยานิพนธ์นี้เป็นส่วนหนึ่งของการศึกษาตามหลักสูตรปริญญาวิทยาศาสตรคุษฎีบัณฑิต สาขาวิชาเภสัชเคมีและผลิตภัณฑ์ธรรมชาติ ภาควิชาอาหารและเภสัชเคมี คณะเภสัชศาสตร์ จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย ปีการศึกษา 2564 ลิบสิทธิ์ของจุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย

Thesis Title	CHOLESTEROL-LOWERING AND PROBIOT	
	PROPERTIES OF SELECTED LACTIC ACID	
	BACTERIA	
By	Mr. Engkarat Kingkaew	
Field of Study	Pharmaceutical Chemistry and Natural Products	
Thesis Advisor	Professor SOMBOON TANASUPAWAT, Ph.D.	
Thesis Co Advisor	Wonnop Visessanguan, Ph.D.	

Accepted by the FACULTY OF PHARMACEUTICAL SCIENCES, Chulalongkorn University in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirement for the Doctor of Philosophy

> Dean of the FACULTY OF PHARMACEUTICAL SCIENCES (Professor PORNANONG ARAMWIT, Ph.D.)

DISSERTATION COMMITTEE

Chairman
(Associate Professor SUYANEE
PONGTHANANIKORN, Ph.D.)
Thesis Advisor
(Professor SOMBOON TANASUPAWAT, Ph.D.)
Thesis Co-Advisor
(Wonnop Visessanguan, Ph.D.)
Examiner
(Associate Professor Pornchai Rojsitthisak, Ph.D.)
Examiner
(Assistant Professor TIPPAWAN SIRITIENTONG,
Ph.D.)
Examiner
(KANNIKA KHANTASUP, Ph.D.)
External Examiner
(Associate Professor Malai Taweechotipatr, Ph.D.)

อิงกรัต กิ่งแก้ว : การฉดคอเลสเตอรอลและคุณสมบัติโพรไบโอติกของแบกทีเรียกรดแลกติกที่คัดเลือกได้. (CHOLESTEROL-LOWERING AND PROBIOTIC PROPERTIES OF SELECTED LACTIC ACID BACTERIA) อ.ที่ปรึกษาหลัก : ศ. คร.สมบูรณ์ ธนาศุภวัฒน์, อ.ที่ปรึกษาร่วม : คร.วรรณพ วิเศษ สงวน

แบกทีเรียกรดแลกติกทั้งหมด 90 สาขพันธู์ที่แขกได้จากอาหารหมักและเปลือกไม้ถูกกัดกรองฤทธิ์ในการลดคอเลสเตอรอล และพิสูจน์ เอกลักษณ์โดขอาศัยลักษณะทางฟีโนไทป์ อนุกรมวิธานเคมี และการวิเคราะห์ลำดับเบสช่วงขึ้น 16S rRNA สามารถพิสูจน์เอกลักษณ์ได้เป็น Companilactobacillus farciminis (5 สายพันธุ์), C. formosensis (10 สายพันธุ์), C. futsaii (6 สายพันธุ์), C. pabuli (4 สายพันธ์), Enterococcus thailandicus (2 สายพันธ์), Lactiplantibacillus argentoratensis (3 สาย พันธ์), Lactiplantibacillus pentosus (10 ศายพันธ์), Lactiplantibacillus plantarum subsp. plantarum (17 สายพันธุ์), Lactococcus lactis subsp. lactis (2 สายพันธุ์), Lentilactobacillus buchneri (8 สายพันธุ์), Limosilactobacillus fermentum (2 สาขพันธุ์), P. pentosaceus (12 สาขพันธุ์) และแต่ละสาขพันธุ์ของ En. durans, En. hirae, En. lactis, Lacticaseibacillus paracasei subsp. tolerans, Lacticaseibacillus rhamnosus, Lactococcus lactis subsp. hordniae, Leuconostoc lactis และ Pediococcus acidilactici สายพันธุ์ BCM23- 1^{T} ที่แขกได้งากเปลือกต้นมะขาม มีความใกล้เคียงกับ *Terrilactibacillus laevilacticus* NK26- 11^{T} (98.3 %) สายพันธุ์ BCM23-1^T มีขนาดจีโนม 3.24 Mb ประกอบด้วย 3088 coding sequences (CDS) และมี in silico DNA G+C ร้อยละ 37.1 โมล เมื่อวิเคราะห์ก่าร้อยสะเฉลี่ยความเหมือนนิวกลีโอไทด์ (ANI) ระหว่าง BCM23-1^T และ NK26-11^T พบว่า มี ก่า ANIb (89.9 %) และ ANIm (90.8 %) และมีก่าดิจิทัลดีเอ็นเอ-ดีเอ็นเอ ไฮบริไดเซชั่น (dDDH) ร้อยละ 40.4 จากข้อมูลของการศึกษาฟี ในทป์ อนุกรมวิธานเคมี การวิเคราะห์ร้อยละความเหมือนของขึ้น 16S rRNA การวิเคราะห์แผนภาพวิวัฒนาการ และการวิเคราะห์จากจีโนม บ่งชี้ว่า สาขพันธุ์ BCM23-1^T เป็นสปีซีส์ใหม่ในสกุล *Terrilactibacillus* จึงเสนอเป็นแบคทีเรียสปีชีส์ใหม่ชื่อว่า *Terrilactibacillus tamarindi* แบคทีเรียที่คัดเลือกได้ 12 สาขพันธุ์มีฤทธิ์ผลิตเอนไซม์ใบลท์ชอลที่ไฮโครเลส และความสามารถในการนำคอเรสเตอรอลไปใช้ พบว่า L. plantarum สายพันธุ์ LM14-2 มีความสามารถในการใช้คอเรสเตอรอลสูงสุดอยู่ที่ร้อยละ 86.07 เมื่อศึกษาคุณสมบัติพื้นฐานของการเป็น โพรไบโอดิกของแบกทีเรียกรดแลกติกที่กัดเลือก 12 สายพันธุ์ พบว่าสามารถทบและอยู่รอดได้สภาวะกระเพาะจำลอง นาน 3 ชั่วโมง และลำไส้เล็ก จำลอง นาน 5 ชั่วโมง และมีความสามารถขึดเกาะต่อเซลล์ Caco-2 อยู่ที่ร้อขละ 82.46 ถึง 31.16 นอกจากนี้เมื่อนำไปศึกษาความสามารถในการ ส่งเสริมสุขภาพค้านอื่นๆ พบว่า แบกทีเรียกรดแลกติกที่คัดเลือกได้มีความสามารถในการปรับระดับภูมิคุ้มกัน (IL-12, IFN-γ, hbD2, TNFα, IL-6 และ NO) นอกจากนี้มีเพียง Lc. lactis subsp. lactis สายพันธุ์ NH2-7C สามารถผลิตแบกเทอริโอซินที่มีฤทธิ์ในการขับยั้ง เชื้อก่อโรค การวิเคราะห์ด้วยข้อมูลจีโนมสามารถระบุได้ว่า แบคเทอริโอซินดังกล่าวคือ ในซินเอ (nisin A) แบคเทอริโอซิน NH2-7C ถูกนำไป ทำกึ่งบริสุทธิ์ผ่านเทคนิค hydrophobic interaction และ เทคนิค cation exchange โครมาโทกราฟี และนำมาศึกษาคุณลักษณะต่างๆ พบว่าแบลเทอริโอซินกึ่งบริสุทธิ์ NH2-7C สามารถทนได้ที่ความร้อน 100 องศาเซลเซียส เป็นเวลา 30 นาที และแสดงฤทธิ์ด้านจุลชีพในสภาวะที่ พีเอช 2 ถึง 7 แบคเทอริโอซินกึ่งบริสุทธิ์ NH2-7C ไวต่อเอนไซม์โปรดีเอสเค จากการวิเคราะห์จีโนม L. plantarum สายพันธุ์ LM14-2 และ Lc. lactis subsp. lactis สายพันธุ์ NH2-7C พบว่าทั้งสองสายพันธุ์มีความปลอดภัย ไม่เป็นเชื้อก่อโรคในมนุบย์ และมีคุณสมบัติโพร ใบโอจีโนมิก (probiogeomic characteristics)

UHULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY

สาขาวิชา ปีการศึกษา เภสัชเคมีและผลิตภัณฑ์ธรรมชาติ 2564

ลายมือชื่อนิสิต	
ลายมือชื่อ อ.ที่ปรึกษาหลัก	
ลายมือชื่อ อ.ที่ปรึกษาร่วม	

6076456833 : MAJOR PHARMACEUTICAL CHEMISTRY AND NATURAL PRODUCTS KEYWORD: Lactic acid bacteria Fermented foods Tree bark Taxonomy Cholesterol-lowering effects Probiotic health-promoting effects Probiogenomics Whole-genome Engkarat Kingkaew : CHOLESTEROL-LOWERING AND PROBIOTIC PROPERTIES OF SELECTED LACTIC ACID BACTERIA. Advisor: Prof. SOMBOON TANASUPAWAT, Ph.D. Co-advisor: Wonnop Visessanguan, Ph.D.

Ninety strains of lactic acid bacteria (LAB) isolated from fermented foods and bark of Tamarindus indica were screening cholesterol-lowering effects, selected and identified based on the phenotypic, chemotaxonomic characteristics and 16S rRNA gene sequence analysis. They were identified as Companilactobacillus farciminis (5 strains), C. formosensis (10 strains), C. futsaii (6 strains), C. pabuli (4 strains), Enterococcus thailandicus (2 strains), Lactiplantibacillus argentoratensis (3 strains), Lactiplantibacillus pentosus (10 strains), Lactiplantibacillus plantarum subsp. plantarum (17 strains), Lactococcus lactis subsp. lactis (2 strains), Lentilactobacillus buchneri (8 strains), Limosilactobacillus fermentum (2 strains), P. pentosaceus (12 strains) and each of En. durans, En. hirae, En. lactis, Lacticaseibacillus paracasei subsp. tolerans, Lacticaseibacillus rhamnosus, Lactococcus lactis subsp. hordniae, Leuconostoc lactis and Pediococcus acidilactici. Strain BCM23-1^T isolated from bark of *Tamarindus indica* was closely related to *Terrilactibacillus* laevilacticus NK26-11^T (98.3 %). The draft genome of BCM23-1^T was 3.24 Mb in size and contained 3088 coding sequences with an in silico DNA G+C content of 37.1 mol%. The values of ANIb, ANIm and digital DNA–DNA hybridization between strain BCM23-1^T and *T. laevilacticus* NK26-11^T were 89.9, 90.8 and 40.4%, respectively. The results of phenotypic and chemotaxonomic, 16S rRNA gene sequence similarity, phylogenetic tree analysis and whole genome analyses support strain BCM23-1^T as representing a novel species of *Terrilactibacillus* for which the name Terrilactibacillus tamarindi sp. nov. is proposed. Twelve selected strains exhibited bile salt hydrolase activity (BSH activity) and the ability of cholesterol assimilation. Strain L. plantarum LM14-2 showed the greatest cholesterol assimilation ability at 86.07%. From the investigation of fundamental probiotic properties, twelve selected strains could tolerate and survive in the simulated gastric condition for 3 hours and simulated small intestinal condition for 5 hours, and adhere to Caco-2 cells at 82.46 to 31.16%. In addition, all selected strains were evaluated other healthpromoting effects. All selected strains showed immunomodulatory effects. Furthermore, only Lc. lactis subsp. lactis NH2-7C could synthesis bacteriocin containing anti-pathogenic activity. Based on the genomic data, bacteriocin NH2-7C was identified as nisin A. The bacteriocin NH2-7C was partially purified through hydrophobic interaction and cation exchange chromatography and characterized. The partially purified bacteriocin NH2-7C was stable at 100 °C for 30 minutes and it showed antimicrobial activity at pH 2 to 7. The partially purified bacteriocin NH2-7C was sensitive to protease-K. Based on the genomic analysis, L. plantarum LM14-2 and Lc. lactis subsp. lactis NH2-7C were safe and they were predicted as non-human pathogen and contained probiogenomic characteristics.

Field of Study:	Pharmaceutical Chemistry and	Student's Signature
	Natural Products	
Academic Year:	2021	Advisor's Signature
		Co-advisor's Signature

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to convey my profound appreciation to my thesis adviser, Professor Dr. Somboon Tanasupawat, for his valuable assistance, constant support, and always profound understanding. Throughout my academic life, he has not only supplied me with valuable advice but also supported me in both bright and challenging times.

My heartfelt gratitude goes to my thesis co-advisor, Dr. Wonnop Visessanguan, from the National Center for Genetic Engineering and Biotechnology (BIOTEC). He provided me with essential guidance and instruction.

I would like to thank Associate Professor Dr. Suyanee Pongthananikorn for serving as chair of the thesis committee, as well as Associate Professor Dr. Pornchai Rojsitthisak, Assistant Professor Dr. Tippawan Siritientong, Dr. Kannika Khantasup, and Associate Professor Dr. Malai Taweechotipatr for serving as thesis committee members and for their helpful suggestions throughout my research. Furthermore, I would like to thank Dr. Hiroshi Konno and Dr. Yoshihito Hosaka for their supportive information and kind suggestions.

I would like to thank the Pharmaceutical Research Instrument Center, Faculty of Pharmaceutical Sciences, Chulalongkorn University, for providing equipment. I want to thank Researchers and staffs from the National Center for Genetic Engineering and Biotechnology (BIOTEC) and the National Science and Technology Development Agency (NSTDA) for their thoughtful advice, assistance, and always being my close friends.

In addition, I would like to thank All of my friends in the Department of Biochemistry and Microbiology, Faculty of Pharmaceutical Sciences, Chulalongkorn University, for their assistance and support and for always standing by my side as if they were my brother and sister.

This research was supported by the Thailand Research Fund for the 2017 Royal Golden Jubilee Ph.D. Program as a scholarship to E. K. (PHD/0226/2560) and the Grant for International Research Integration: Research Pyramid, Ratchadaphiseksomphot Endowment Fund (CUGRP-61-01-33-01), Chulalongkorn University.

Lastly, I am very thankful to my family for their unwavering love and understanding, as well as to my partner (Mr. Nakares Kongmalai) for his love and support in assisting me in overcoming the numerous hurdles I have encountered in my studies.

Engkarat Kingkaew

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT (THAI) iii
ABSTRACT (ENGLISH)iv
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTSv
TABLE OF CONTENTSvi
Tablex
Figuresxii
CHAPTER I INTRODUCTION 14
1.1 The objectives of the study15
CHAPTER II LITERATURE REVIEW
2.1 Lactic acid bacteria (LAB)
2.2 Probiotics
2.3 Health benefits of probiotics
2.3.1 Hypocholesterolemic effects
2.3.1.1 Cholesterol
2.3.1.2 Bile and functions
2.3.2 Mechanisms of cholesterol lowering by probiotics
2.3.2.1 Deconjugation of bile acids via bile salt hydrolase enzyme (BSH)
2 3 2 2 Cholesterol assimilation 24
2 3 3 Immune response 25
2.3.4 Antimicrobial activity
2.3.4.1 Bacteriocin
(I) Classification of bacteriocins
(II) Anti-pathogenic activity of bacteriocin
(III) Bacteriocin characteristics
(IV) Factors affecting the antimicrobial activity of bacteriocin

CHAPTER III MATERIALS AND METHODS	35
3.1 Media, chemicals and equipments	35
3.2 Methodology	37
3.2.1 Experimental plan	37
3.2.2 Collection of samples and isolation	37
3.3 Identification	
3.3.1 Phenotypic characteristics	
3.3.2 Chemotaxonomic characteristics	
3.3.2.1 Cell wall composition	
3.3.2.2 Cellular fatty acid analysis	39
3.3.3 Genotypic characteristics	
3.3.3.1 16s rRNA gene sequencing	
3.3.3.2 Whole-genome sequencing	40
3.3.3.3 Gene prediction and functional annotation	40
Determination of cholesterol-lowering effects	41
3.4 Screening bile salt hydrolases (BSH) activity	41
3.5 Cholesterol assimilation in MRS	42
3.6 Evaluation of probiotic properties	43
Fundamental probiotic properties	43
Preparation of LAB cell suspension	43
3.6.1 Viability during gastrointestinal (GIT) transit	43
3.6.2 Adhesion assay	43
Other health-promoting effects	44
3.6.3 Immunomodulation effects of selected strains	44
3.6.3.1 Preparation of sterilized lactic acid bacteria powder	44
3.6.3.2 Cell culture and cell differentiation	45
3.6.3.3 Measurement of NO production	45
3.6.3.4 Intestinal Immunity Model	46

3.6.3.5 The immunomodulatory effects of Lc. lactis subsp. lactis NH	2-7C
(I) THP-1 cell culture	46 47
(I) Determination of TNE- α and II -6 from THP-1 cells	+7
2.6.4 Screening of antimicrobial activity	+7 17
3.6.4.1 Cultures and Cultivation	47
2.6.4.2 Determination of antimianshiel activity	47
3.6.4.2 Determination of antimicrobial activity	52
3.6.4.3 Partial purification of antimicrobial compound	53
3.6.4.4 Protein determination	53
3.6.4.5 Characterization of partial purified bacteriocin	53
(I) The effect of various enzymes on antimicrobial activity	53
(II) The effect of chemicals on antimicrobial activity	54
(III) The effect of pH on antimicrobial activity	54
(IV) The effect of temperature on antimicrobial activity	55
3.7 Statistical analysis	55
CHAPTER IV RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	56
4.1 Sample collection and isolation	56
4.2 Identification	58
4.2.1 LAB from fermented mussel (hoi-dong)	58
4.2.2 LAB from fermented fish (pla-paeng-daeng)	64
4.2.3 LAB from fermented pork (<i>nham</i>)	68
4.2.4 LAB from tree bark of <i>Tamarindus indica</i>	71
4.3 Bile salt hydrolase activity	79
4.4 Cholesterol assimilation	81
4.5 Gastrointestinal transit tolerance	82
4.6 Adhesion assay	83
4.7 Immunomodulation effects	85
4.8 The antimicrobial activity of selected strains	89
4.9 The confirmation proteinaceous characteristic of antimicrobial compound	
produced from <i>Lc. lactis</i> subsp. <i>lactis</i> NH2-7C	94

4.10 Time course bacteriocin production of strain NH2-7C	94
4.11 Partial purification of antimicrobial peptide	95
4.12 Antimicrobial spectra	96
4.13 Characterization of bacteriocin NH2-7C	98
4.14 The bacteriocin synthesis cluster gene	
4.15 Probiotic genetic markers of Lc. lactis subsp. lactis NH2-7C	
4.16 Safety assessment of strain NH2-7C	104
4.17 The candidate probiotic strain LM14-2	106
4.18 Safety assessment	114
4.19 Identification of genes associated stress response, microbe-host inter and bacteriocin biosynthesis	actions
4.20 Carbohydrate-active enzyme analysis	120
CHAPTER V CONCLUSION.	122
APPENDIX A Culture media	126
APPENDIX B Reagents and buffers	129
APPENDIX C Reagents and buffers for partial purification	131
REFERENCES	2
VITA	25

จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

Table

Page

Table 1 Microorganisms used as probiotics
Table 2 Bile salt hydrolase producing LAB 23
Table 3 Classification scheme of bacteriocins 30
Table 4 The appropriate medium and condition for indicator strains
Table 5 Sample, location, strain number and number of strains
Table 6 Phenotypic characteristics of strains 61
Table 7 Phenotypic characteristics of strains 66
Table 8 Phenotypic characteristics of strains 69
Table 9 Differential characteristics of strain BCM23- 1^{T} and its related type strain72
Table 10 Cellular fatty acid composition of strain BCM23-1 ^T and its closely related
type strain75
Table 11 Genomic statistics of strain BCM23-1 ^T and Terrilactibacillus laevilacticus NK26-11 ^T
Table 12 The viability during gastrointestinal transit of selected strains
Table 13 Immunomodulatory effects of the selected strains 85
Table 14 The characteristics of strain NH2-7C 90
Table 15 Genomic features of Lc. lactis subsp. lactis NH2-7C
Table 16 Partial purification of bacteriocin produced by Lc. lactis subsp. lactis NH2- 7C
Table 17 Antimicrobial spectra of strain NH2-7C97
Table 18 Effects of enzymes, chemicals, pH and temperatures on antimicrobial of partially purified bacteriocin NH2-7C 100
Table 19 The potential genes associated to various probiotic characteristics from Lc. lactis subsp. lactis NH2-7C genome
Table 20 Pathogenicity prediction, prophage detection and antibiotic resistance genes(ARGs) analysis from PathogenFinder of CGE and PHASTER (Default program settings applied)

Table 21 The characteristics of strain LM14-2.....107

- Table 22 ANIb and ANIm (%) and the digital DNA-DNA hybridization (dDDH) values between the draft genomes of the strain LM14-2; *L. plantarum* DSM 20174^T (=ATCC 14917^T); *L. plantarum* DSM 13273^T; *L. argentorensis* DSM 16365^T and *L. paraplantarum* DSM 10667^T.......111
- Table 23 Genomic features of Lactiplantibacillus plantarum LM14-2, L. plantarum299V, and Lacticaseibacillus rhamnosus GG (ATCC 53103)
- Table 25 Potential genes associated to various probiotic characteristics from L.

 plantarum LM14-2 genome

 118



Figures

Page

Figure 1 Structure of cholesterol
Figure 2 Cholesterol as the precursor for the synthesis of new bile acids and the hypocholesterolemic role of bile salt hydrolase (BSH)
Figure 3 Schematic representation of probiotic cholesterol assimilation mechanism. (a) Cholesterol absorption by the intestinal. (b) Cholesterol is assimilated by probiotics or bounded to cellular surface
Figure 4 Mechanisms of pathogen inhibition by LAB-probiotics
Figure 5 Experiment plan in this study
Figure 6 Neighbor-joining tree based on 16S rRNA gene of the representative strains from <i>hoi-dong</i>
Figure 7 Neighbor-joining tree based on 16S rRNA gene of the representative strains from <i>pla-paeng-daeng</i> 67
Figure 8 Neighbor-joining tree based on 16S rRNA gene of the representative strains from <i>nham</i>
Figure 9 Scanning electron micrograph of strain BCM23-1 ^T grown on GYP agar at 30°C for 7 days (A) and Photomicrograph of terminal endospores (A) and flagella of strain BCM23-1 (B)
Figure 10 Polar lipid profile of strain BCM23-1 ^T on a two dimensional thin-layer chromatogram
Figure 11 Neighbor-joining tree based on almost-complete 16S rRNA gene sequences showing relationships between strain BCM23-1 ^T and related species of the genus Terrilactibacillus. Asterisks and sharps (*,*) indicate that the corresponding nodes was also recovered in maximum-likelihood and maximum-parsimony trees, respectively
Figure 12 Circular genomic map of strain BCM23-1 ^T
Figure 13 Bile salt hydrolase activity of selected strains on MRS agar supplemented with 0.5% taurodeoxycholic acid sodium salt (TDCA)79
Figure 14 Determination BSH gene of strain NH2-7C and LM14-2 from RAST sever web-based tool

Figure 15 The cholesterol assimilation ability of selected strains
Figure 16 The adhesion ability of selected strains to Caco-2 cells
Figure 17 The immunomodulation effects of strain NH2-7C; The concentration of TNF-α (A) and IL-6 (B)
Figure 18 Scanning electron micrograph of strain NH2-7C grown on MRS agar at 30°C for 3 days
Figure 19 Circular genomic map of Lc. lactis subsp. lactis NH2-7C
Figure 20 An overview of the subsystem categories assigned to the genome of <i>Lc.</i> <i>lactis</i> subsp. <i>lactis</i> NH2-7C. The genomic sequence of the strain NH2-7C was annotated using the Rapid Annotation System Technology (RAST) server. The pie chart demonstrates the count of each subsystem feature and the subsystem coverage
Figure 21 Effects of proteolytic enzymes on antimicrobial activity of CFS NH2-7C.94
Figure 22 Time course bacteriocin production of strain NH2-7C
Figure 23 The gene cluster encoding the production of nisin A in strain NH2-7C using the online BAGEL v.4.0. web-based tool (http://bagel4.molgenrug.nl/index.php, accessed on 18 June 2022). Terminators are shown as maroon line circle ends
Figure 24 Phylogenomic tree based on whole genome sequence data result of strain LM14-2 and closely related type strains reconstructed on the Type (Strain) Genome Server (TYGS)
Figure 25 Circular genomic map of <i>L. plantarum</i> LM14-2113
Figure 26 An overview of the subsystem categories assigned to the genome of <i>L.</i> <i>plantarum</i> LM14-2. The genomic sequence of the strain LM14-2 was annotated using the Rapid Annotation System Technology (RAST) server. The pie chart demonstrates the count of each subsystem feature and the subsystem coverage
Figure 27 Genetic map of the bacteriocin synthetic genes of <i>L. plantarum</i> LM14-2. using the online BAGEL v.4.0. web-based tool (http://bagel4.molgenrug.nl/index.php, accessed on 18 June 2022). Terminators are shown as maroon line circle ends

CHAPTER I INTRODUCTION

Lactic acid bacteria (LAB) are the most commonly used as probiotics, "microorganisms that when administered in adequate amounts confer a health benefit on the host"(Hill et al., 2014), to reduce the level of cholesterol and also promote other health benefits such as modulation of host immune response, and antipathogenic activity (Bartley et al., 2010; Joint, 2001; Jones et al., 2013; Somashekaraiah et al., 2019; Tejero-Sarinena et al., 2013). Hypercholesterolemia is a condition that is defined as a very high level of cholesterol in the blood. Since some studies reported that even a small (1%) reduction in serum cholesterol could reduce the risk of coronary heart disease by 2 to 3% (Albano et al., 2018), However, available hypocholesterolemia drugs should not be used for a long term treatment because these drugs may develop some adverse effects (Golomb & Evans, 2008). have recently received more Thus. probiotics attention to prevent hypercholesterolemia.

The possibly interesting mechanisms have been proposed, including removing cholesterol by enhancing fecal bile acid excretion levels by bile salt hydrolase (BSH) enzyme and cholesterol assimilation (Ma et al., 2019). BSH activity has been regarded as a factor related to the cholesterol-lowering activity; hence, BSH activity is also considered as an additional criterion for the selecting probiotics (Miremadi et al., 2014). Numerous studies have interestingly focused on human-, fermented foods-, fruit-, animal- or dairy-derived lactic acid bacteria since some strains of these lactic acid bacteria express bile salt hydrolase activity.

For cholesterol assimilation, it has been suggested that lactic acid bacteria assimilate cholesterol from the medium for their metabolism and growth; consequently, the amount of cholesterol available for absorption in the intestine is reduced. (Lye et al., 2010). The study of Tomaro-Duchesneau et al. (2014) reported that *Lb. reuteri* NCIMB 702656 assimilated about $59.94 \pm 7.49 \,\mu\text{g/mL}$ of cholesterol in MRS. Also, Albano et al. (2018) demonstrated that *Lb. casei* VC199 could remove approximately 54% of the cholesterol in MRS broth. Thus, it is possible to use

probiotics with cholesterol-lowering effects to reduce serum cholesterol levels in a patient with hypercholesterolemia and prevent hypercholesterolemia in ordinary people. It has become an interesting alternative to drugs available today (Chae et al., 2013). Notably, the effect of LAB is variable even within the same or different species, strain dependence (Kim et al., 2008; Wang et al., 2014).

Recently, the study of Zielinska and Kolozyn-Krajewska (2018) and Sornplang and Piyadeatsoontorn (2016) reported that lactic acid bacteria strains considered to be potential probiotics with interesting activity could be isolated from non-human origins such as foods, fruits, fermented foods, environments and animals. Thus, this study aimed to investigate the cholesterol-lowering effects of LAB isolated from fermented foods and environments, for their potential to deconjugate bile acid via BSH and assimilate cholesterol. Selected strains were evaluated probiotic properties, including viability during gastrointestinal transit, adhesion on Caco-2 cell, immunomodulatory effect, and antimicrobial activity. Furthermore, the antimicrobial compound was characterized. This fundamental information is helpful for further studies and applications.

1.1 The objectives of the study

- 1. To investigate cholesterol-lowering effects of lactic acid bacteria
- 2. To study probiotic properties of selected strains
- 3. To determine immunomodulatory effects of selected strains
- 4. To screen antimicrobial activity and characterize the antimicrobial compounds of selected strain
- 5. To evaluate probiogenomic characteristics of selected strains.

CHAPTER II LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1 Lactic acid bacteria (LAB)

Lactic acid bacteria (LAB) are Gram-positive, typically catalase negative, aerobic or facultative anaerobic bacteria, acid-tolerant, non-spore forming, nonrespiring cocci or rods that reside in a diversity of various habitats. The LAB found distinct phyla, namely Firmicutes and Actinobacteria. For the Firmicutes phylum, the most important genera of LAB are Enterococcus (En.), Lactobacillus (Lb.), Lactococcus (Lc.), Leuconostoc (Ln.), Pediococcus (P.), Streptococcus (S.), Aerococcus (A.), Oenococcus (O.), Carnobacterium (C.), Vagococcus (V.), Tetragenococcus (T.) and Weissella (W.), which all belong to the order Lactobacillales and are low-GC content organisms (31-49 %); on the other hand; the Actinobacteria phylum, LAB belong to the *Bifidobacterium (Bf.)* genus, which have a high-GC content (58-61 %) (Florou-Paneri et al., 2013; Sun et al., 2014). LAB are widespread microorganisms which can be found in various environment such as plants, food products, gastrointestinal tract of human and animal, genitourinary tract of vertebrates, terrestrial and marine animals (Mayo et al., 2008). The LAB can be classified in two metabolic sub-group according to the pathway used to metabolize glucose: homo- and heterofermentative (Basso et al., 2014). For homofermentative LAB, they converted almost 85% of glucose to lactic acid through Embden-Meyerhof-Parnas pathway; whereas, heterofermentative LAB, they converted glucose to lactic acid and other metabolites including, CO₂, acetic acid and/or ethanol through phosphoketolase pathway (Bintsis, 2018).

Lactic acid bacteria play a vital role in the process of food fermentation by inhibiting spoilage/pathogenic bacteria and by producing flavor, aroma, and texture of fermented foods (Mulaw et al., 2019). In addition, interestingly, lactic acid bacteria are the most widely used as probiotics due to numerous studies reported that probiotic lactic acid bacteria promote human health through the inhibition of pathogenic bacteria, modulation of immune system, bile salt hydrolase activity and cholesterol-lowering potential (Capela et al., 2006; Lee & Salminen, 2009; Ozyurt & Ötles, 2014).

2.2 Probiotics

Probiotics described as "live microorganisms that, when administered in adequate amounts, confer a health benefit on the host" (Hill et al., 2014). These microorganisms are mainly belonging to lactic acid bacteria of the *Lactobacillus (Lb.)* and *Bifidobacterium (Bf.)* genera (Table 1) due to Species from the genera *Bifidobacterium* and *Lactobacillus* generally have a satisfactory safety record (Saad et al., 2013; Zukiewicz-Sobczak et al., 2014). However, some genera including *Pediococcus, Leuconostoc, Lactococcus lactis,* and *Streptococcus thermophilus* have little information about probiotic properties (Kechagia et al., 2013).

Table 1 Microorganisms used as probiotics

Microorganisms considered as Probiotics		
Lactobacillus species	Bifidobacterium species	Other LAB
Lb. acidophilus Lb. casei Lb. crispatus Lb. curvatus Lb. delbrueckii Lb. farciminis Lb. farciminis Lb. fermentum Lb. gasseri Lb. johnsonii Lb. paracasei Lb. plantarum Lb. reuteri Lb. reuteri	Bf. adolescentis Bf. animalis Bf. bifidum Bf. breve Bf. infantis Bf. lactis Bf. longum Bf. thermophilum	En. faecium Lc. lactis Ln. mesenteroides P. acidilactici S. thermophilis S. diacetylactis S. intermedius

The selection of probiotic requires an essential criterion. This criterion can be roughly divided into four distinct categories: safety, functionality (probiotic properties), technology, and physiology. According to safety assessment, acceptable criteria include human origin, taxonomic identification, non-pathogenic, and absence of virulence, infectivity, toxicity, and transferable antibiotic resistance genes (Sanders et al., 2010). For the functionality, the probiotics must be able to tolerate to gastrointestinal condition and also adhere and colonize on gastrointestinal epithelial cells (de Melo Pereira et al., 2018). For the technological criteria, the selected probiotics should not have adverse effects on the organoleptic properties of the product. Also, the selected probiotics must tolerate and be viable during product processing and storage (Terpou et al., 2019). Furthermore, some LAB strains can promote host metabolic activities such as bile salt hydrolase activity, cholesterol assimilation, modulation of immune system, and antagonistic activity against pathogen bacteria (Ranadheera et al., 2017; Saarela et al., 2000; Shokryazdan et al., 2017).

Even though, BSH producing lactic acid bacteria and effective cholesterol assimilators are mostly found and isolated in bile acid-rich environment such as human origin (Lye et al., 2010; Tanaka et al., 1999), screening of LAB strains of from foods, fermented foods, and environments (tree barks) for potentially candidate probiotic features have become increased. Higashikawa et al. (2010) reported that LAB isolated from plant origin are more resistant to harsh conditions such as human gastrointestinal tract and also LAB can utilize sugar in plant materials. Thus, if they are studied, examined both of *in vitro* and *in vivo*, particularly in terms of their safety and probiotic properties, they may be an interesting alternative source of LAB from non-human origin (Sornplang & Piyadeatsoontorn, 2016; Zielinska & Kolozyn-Krajewska, 2018).

UHULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY

2.3 Health benefits of probiotics

Probiotics have been associated with a range of various health benefits such as cholesterol-lowering effect, anti-pathogenic activity, and immunomodulation in several studies (Ohashi & Ushida, 2009). Notably, the health promoting characteristics are strain specific, not all strains give desirable health benefits.

2.3.1 Hypocholesterolemic effects

Hypercholesterolemia is a risk factors of cardiovascular disease (CVD) that is the major cause of the mortality (D. R. Labarthe & S. B. Dunbar, 2012; Roth et al., 2011). The coronary arteries are affected by elevated serum cholesterol.

19

Atherosclerosis, the hardening of the arteries, is a condition that the arteries become narrowed and hardened due to an accumulation of plaque around the artery wall. Plaque is a combination of calcium, cells, fibrous connective tissue, debris, and lipids (cholesterol and fatty acids) that can block the arteries and lead to cardiovascular disease (Marcus, 2013). Therefore, dietary modification, physical activity and functional foods (i.e., probiotics) are attractive choices to reduce the risk of heart diseases and dosage of hypocholesterolemic drugs. (Aronow, 2017; Lichtenstein & Goldin, 2004; St-Onge et al., 2000). In addition, several studies suggested that certain probiotic bacterial strains can assimilate cholesterol. Screening for cholesterol-lowering properties, *in vitro*, has become an essential criterion in the selection of bacterial strains for further *in vivo* probiotic studies (Lin & Chen, 2000; Tahri et al., 1996).

2.3.1.1 Cholesterol

Cholesterol is a waxy, fat-like substance that is only occurred in animal products (Marcus, 2013; Povey, 2016). Cholesterol is not only derived from the diet (exogenous), but also synthesized *de novo* by liver (endogenous) (Arnold & Kwiterovich, 2003). Chemically, cholesterol is an organic compound belonging to the steroid family due to the structure of cholesterol consists of steroid ring and hydroxyl group. Its molecular formula and weight are $C_{27}H_{46}O$ and 386.7 g/mol, respectively as shown in Figure 1 (Kim et al., 2006). Naturally, cholesterol is amphipathic. The polar head of cholesterol is small and consists of 3 β -hydroxy group. The rest of the cholesterol molecule is nonpolar and includes a hydrocarbon (isooctyl) tail and four fused rings (the steroid nucleus). Cholesterol is an essential component of cell membranes and modulates membrane fluidity. Also, cholesterol plays a key role as the building block for the biosynthesis including steroid hormones, vitamin D and bile acids (Crockett, 1998; Feleke, 2006).



Figure 1 Structure of cholesterol

2.3.1.2 Bile and functions

Bile is a dark green to a yellowish brown aqueous solution whose main constituents include cholesterol, bile acids, phospholipid, and the pigment biliverdin (M. Begley et al., 2006). Bile is mainly produced in the pericentral hepatocytes of the liver, stored and concentrated in the gallbladder interdigestively, and secreted into the first part of the small intestine. Bile plays an important role in fat digestion, which acts as a biological detergent, helping to emulsify and solubilize fats in food. Because of its biological detergent and membranolytic activity, bile is also an antimicrobial compound, a feature considered important for inhibiting the pathogenic colonization in the gut (Tremblay et al., 2017).

The two primary bile acids are cholic acid and chenodeoxycholic acid that are synthesized *de novo* from cholesterol in the liver. After that, the primary bile acid is also metabolized via conjugation to taurine or glycine. The conjugation in the liver increases the solubility of the hydrophobic steroid nucleus; consequently, these molecules are amphipathic and can solubilize lipid to form mix micelles. Bile acids are conserved by a process called enterohepatic recirculation. Bile acids are reabsorbed in the distal part of ileum and colon (Kumar, Nagpal, et al., 2012). Reabsorbed bile acids flow into the portal bloodstream and are taken up by hepatocytes. Later, reabsorbed bile acids are reconjugated and resecreted into bile. Secondary bile acids are formed by gastrointestinal microbiota. Bortolini et al. (1997) informed that "approximately 5% of the total bile acid pool (0.3 g to 0.6 g) per day eludes epithelial absorption and may be extensively modified by the indigenous intestinal bacteria". One of the main bile acids conversion is deconjugation (Batta et al., 1990).

Numerous mechanisms to lower cholesterol have been proposed in previous researches, such as enzymatic deconjugation of bile salt by probiotics and cholesterol assimilation.

2.3.2.1 Deconjugation of bile acids via bile salt hydrolase enzyme (BSH)

For deconjugation of bile acids, primary bile acids are secreted across the canaliculi to the biliary system into small intestine. The Over than 95% of bile acids secreted in bile are reabsorbed in the distal part of ileum and reabsorbed to the liver (Korpela et al., 1988; Kurdi et al., 2003). Unreabsorbed bile acids flow into the colon and then they are catalyzed by bile salt hydrolase enzyme (BSH) which is produced by probiotics; therefore, the conjugated bile acids are transformed to the deconjugated form. Most deconjugated bile acids are more excreted and found in human feces because of their lower solubility and reabsorption ability, as shown in Figure 2 (Kumar, Nagpal, et al., 2012). Consequently, it causes a reduction in serum cholesterol by increasing cholesterol demand for de novo bile acid synthesis to replace the eliminated part. In a homeostatic response, new bile acids are synthesized from cholesterol for maintaining bile acids level, resulting in decreasing of serum cholesterol (Ahn et al., 2003; Bi et al., 2013; Kumar, Ghosh, et al., 2012; Moser & Savage, 2001; Ooi & Liong, 2010). In conclusion, the BSH enzyme performance has a cholesterol-lowering effect. The bile salt hydrolase producing LAB are presented in เลงกรณมหาวทยาลเ Table 2.

CHULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY



Figure 2 Cholesterol as the precursor for the synthesis of new bile acids and the hypocholesterolemic role of bile salt hydrolase (BSH)



Species	Strain	Source	Reference
Lb. acidophilus	ATCC 4356	Human	Elkins et al.
-	BFE 1059	Pig feces	(2001)
		-	du Toit et al.
			(1998)
Lb. brevis	BCCM 18022	Yogurt	Elkins et al.
	UNIVASF CAP 16,	Goat milk	(2001)
	UNIVASF CAP 279		Ferrari et al.
			(2016)
Lb. rhamnosus	BO3	Boza	Shehata et
			al. (2016)
Lb. reuter	Iso66	Camel milk	Abushelaibi
			et al. (2017)
Lb. reuteri	NCIMB 30242	Pig	Hou et al.
		, <u> </u>	(2015)
Lc. lactis subsp. lactis	IS-10285	Dadih	Pato et al.
*			(2004)
Lc. garvieae	Iso47	Camel milk	Abushelaibi
-			et al. (2017)
Lb. paracasei	UNIVASF CAP 45,	Goat milk	Ferrari et al.
	UNIVASF CAP 84		(2016)
Lb. delbrueckii subsp.	D11, D14	Dongbei kimchi	Xu et al.
bulgaricus			(2016)
Lb. fermentum	ATCC 11976	Infant intestine	Elkins et al.
		No. 1	(2001)
Lb. gasseri	BCCM 9203	Human	Elkins et al.
	A Change	7	(2001)
Lb. johnsonii	BFE 1061	Pig feces	du Toit et al.
	O - mil v and -		(1998)
Lb. plantarum	GV, GP, SG, OP	Fruits	Shekh et al.
	TGCM 15, TGCM 33	Thai fermented food	(2016)
	LP96	Fermented food	Sirilun et al.
			(2010)

Table 2 Bile salt hydrolase producing LAB

	จุฬาลงกรณมหาวทยาลย					
Lb. pentosus En. faecium	B279, B283, E43, E100, E128 B20, B21 FAIR-E 154	Naturally fermented olives Stinky soybean Food	al. (2017) Argyri et al. (2013) Xu et al. (2016) Franz et al. (2001)			
En. durans	C12, C5, C3	Rubing	Xu et al. (2016)			
P. ethanolidurans	D13	Dongbei kimchi	Xu et al. (2016)			
Ln. mesenteroides	V12, V21	Sichuan kimchi	Xu et al. (2016)			
Ln. lactis	KC117496	Idli batter	Saravanan and Shetty (2016)			
Bf. Longum subsp. longum	NRRL B-41409	Adult intestine	Jarocki et al.			

Species	Strain	Source	Reference	
			(2014)	
Bf. pseudolongum subsp. pseudolongum	DSM 20095	Chicken feces	Jarocki et al. (2014)	

2.3.2.2 Cholesterol assimilation

Cholesterol assimilation is another mechanism involved in reduction cholesterol levels by probiotics. Due to probiotics can assimilate cholesterol for their metabolism (Bordoni et al., 2013; Liong & Shah, 2005). Consequently, lowering luminal cholesterol levels available for absorption, shown in Figure 3 (Lye et al., 2010; Tomaro-Duchesneau et al., 2014).



(b)

Figure 3 Schematic representation of probiotic cholesterol assimilation mechanism.(a) Cholesterol absorption by the intestinal. (b) Cholesterol is assimilated by probiotics or bounded to cellular surface

The *in-vitro* study of Abushelaibi et al. (2017) demonstrated that *Lc. lactis* KX881768, *Lb. plantarum* KX881772, *Lc. lactis* KX881782 and *Lb. plantarum* KX881779 can effectively assimilate cholesterol in culture medium. Bordoni et al. (2013) demonstrated that *Bf.* subsp. *infantis* ATCC 15697 assimilated 40 µg/ml and *Bifidobacterium bifidum* MB 109 assimilated 50 µg/ml of cholesterol in MRS broth. Additionally, Shehata et al. (2016) reported that *Lc. lactis* subsp. *lactis* BO37 cells exhibited good cholesterol-removal ability and reached their maximum (43.7%). Michael et al. (2016) stated that *Lb. plantarum* CUL66 exhibited bile salt hydrolase activity and the ability to assimilate cholesterol from culture media (28%).

2.3.3 Immune response

The human immune system is divided into major groups termed innate immune system (non-specific immunity) and acquired immune system (specific immunity). Innate immune system is a mechanism exerting immediate or nearimmediate responses to the presence of pathogens. Phagocytic cells, including neutrophils, monocytes, macrophages, and NK cells, enable this first-line defense system against pathogen. However, this first-line defense system largely depends on the number of phagocytic cells and proteins, which then activate the adaptive immune response through the activation of antigen-presenting cells (APCs). On the contrary, adaptive immune system is highly specific and can destroy individual invading pathogens. Besides, a pathogen-specific long-lasting protective memory enables the adaptive immune system to destroy pathogens when reencountered. Lymphocytes, especially B cells and T cells, exert adaptive immune responses by recognizing antigens with their specific receptors (Azad et al., 2018). Probiotics can stimulate, modulate, and regulate immune responses (Jensen et al., 2015; Tsai et al., 2012). The intrinsic properties of probiotic modulate the immune system included elicitation of phagocytic and natural killer (NK) cells, increasing cytokine excretion, and promoting immunoglobulin-secreting cells. (Xiao et al., 2014). Modulation of the regulation of the immune system is likely to play a role in several of the proposed health benefits of probiotics, such as stimulating immune response against various infections and using in specific diseases (immunodeficiency diseases, autoimmune diseases, and (N. Iwabuchi et al., 2012). For these reasons, depending on the purposes and target of the

product, strains that can induce a certain immune response can be selected (Cross, 2002; de Melo Pereira et al., 2018; Gill et al., 2001; Gill et al., 2000; Kirjavainen et al., 1999; Nagafuchi et al., 1999). Probiotics that have been informed as having optimistic effect on immune response are Bf. lactis, Lb. acidophilus, Lb. casei Shirota, Lb. johnsonii, Lb. plantarum, and Lb. rhamnosus GG. Notwithstanding, the immune response might enhance when administered of the combination probiotics (Cunningham-Rundles et al., 2000). Lb. acidophilus, Lb. casei Shirota, Lb. plantarum, and Lb. rhamnosus GG have been reported effective to enhance host defense via interleukine-12 (IL-12) cytokine induction (Christensen et al., 2002; Heufler et al., 1996; N. Iwabuchi et al., 2012; Shida et al., 2011; Tsai et al., 2012). Th1 cells (T helper cell) are involved in the cellular immune response. Th1 cell are characterized by the production TNF- α , IL-12, and IFN- γ . IL-12 is a proinflammatory cytokine (Th-1-associated cytokine) and is generated mainly by antigen-presenting cells (APCs) (i.e., macrophage and dendritic cells) in response to microbial stimulation. A major biological function of IL-12 is induction of IFN- γ production (produced by active CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells, NK cells, and macrophages). IFN- γ involved host defense against intracellular pathogen infection such as virus, fungal, parasites, and bacteria (i.e., Salmonella Typhimurium and Listeria monocytogenes) (Price et al., 2007; Romani et al., 1997). For example, IFN-y can activate phagocytic activity and inducible nitric oxide synthase to synthesize nitric oxide to kill intracellular pathogen and protozoa, and also induce major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class II expression. There have been numerous investigations of LAB inducing NO production (Kmonickova et al., 2012; Korhonen et al., 2001; Surayot et al., 2014). Also, another function of IL-12 is involved antitumor activity such as induction of major histocompatibility complex (MHC) expression on tumor cell and stimulation of cytotoxic activity. The study of Thamacharoensuk et al. (2017) demonstrated that each isolated LAB from Thai fermented foods could induce IL-12 at different levels. Furthermore, an in vitro study of Chen et al. (2013) stated that heat-killed multispecies combination of lactic acid bacteria (HMLABs) showed higher induction activities on the production of interleukin-12 with mouse macrophage (RAW 264.7) and also HMLABs and cell walls were able to reduce the Salmonella invasion of Caco-2 and mouse macrophage

cells. In addition, IL-6 is a pleiotropic cytokine that is essential to the immune network's comprehensive defense against pathogens and tissue injuries. Clinical investigations of IL-6 inhibitors, namely tocilizumab, demonstrate that their usage is related to an elevated risk of severe and opportunistic infections (Rose-John et al., 2017; Tanaka et al., 2014). *L. paracasei* F19 and *L. plantarum* 2362 supplemented with IL-1β (1 ng/ml) enhanced the level of IL-6 concentration (Reilly et al., 2007). Besides, tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF- α) is a cytokine that has pleiotropic effects on numerous cell types (Jang et al., 2021). TNF- α protects against bacterial endotoxin, viruses, and parasites, provides enhanced nutrients for immune cells, and favors a proper host response (Galeone et al., 2013). Also, TNF- α can induce tumor cell apoptosis (Pfeffer, 2003), or programmed cell death. In general, TNF- α promotes several cell functions related to immune cell proliferation and adhesion and apoptosis (Aggarwal et al., 2012; Popa et al., 2007). The study of Ashraf et al. (2014) showed that *L. casei* 290 and *St. thermophilus* M5 could potentially stimulate the secretion of TNF- α and IFN- γ .

Moreover, the innate immune system is composed of cellular and humoral components, the latter of which includes antimicrobial peptides present in humans, amphibians, and insects (Dale & Fredericks, 2005; Diamond et al., 2008). In humans, defensins are antimicrobial peptide and serve vital functions in host defense. Especially, β -defensins (BD) are found in the mucosal epithelium and skin (Ganz, 2003). Human (h)BD2 has received attention; hBD2 is induced by inflammation or infection (Ganz, 2003; Harder et al., 2001). Several LAB strains have been shown to stimulate BD expression; hence, enhancing BD expression is likely to prevent infections (Schlee et al., 2008; Zhang et al., 2011).

2.3.4 Antimicrobial activity

Antimicrobial activity is regarded as one of the most beneficial effects of probiotics. Probiotics have several mechanisms to inhibit pathogen such as production of antimicrobial compounds, prevention of the pathogens adhesion, and modulation of the host immune system as shown in Figure 4 (Vieco-Saiz et al., 2019).



Figure 4 Mechanisms of pathogen inhibition by LAB-probiotics

For the production of antimicrobial substances, study of Islam (2016) also reported that various of anti-pathogenic compounds such as bacteriocin-like compounds, ethanol, organic acids, diacetyl, acetaldehydes, hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂), reuterin, and peptides were synthesized by probiotics. Interestingly, peptides and bacteriocins are mostly involved against pathogen by increasing the membrane permeability of the target cells; consequently, the membrane is depolarized, ultimately, cell death (Simova et al., 2009). The study of Tejero-Sarinena et al. (2013) investigated that the influence of probiotics on the survival of Sa. Typhimurium and *Clostridium difficile* in an *in vitro* and postulated that probiotics inhibit enteric pathogens by short-chain fatty acids (SCFAs), such as acetic, propionic, butyric and lactic acids. Additionally, SCFAs also help to maintain pH in lumen (Kareem et al., 2014). In addition, Lb. reuteri, which reside in gastrointestinal tract of humans and animals, can produced broad-spectrum antimicrobial compound called reuterin. Reuterin can inhibit the growth of several pathogenic bacteria as Cl. spp., Es. spp., Salmonella (Sa.), Shigella (Sh.) spp., Staphylococcus (St.) spp., Proteus (Pt.) spp., and Pseudomonas (Ps.) spp. (Axelsson et al., 1989; Talarico et al., 1988).

2.3.4.1 Bacteriocin

Bacteriocins are ribosomally synthesized peptides by various groups of bacteria including lactic acid bacteria. Bacteriocins have either bactericidal or bacteriostatic activity (Prudencio et al., 2015). Interfering of cell wall and the membrane of target organisms, either by inhibiting cell wall biosynthesis or causing pore formation, consequently resulting in death and/or growth inhibition, are the proposed mechanisms of bacteriocins. In addition, bacteriocins have several desirable characteristics such as are recognized as safe (GRAS), nonactive or cytotoxic substance to eukaryotic cells and degraded by digestive enzymes (protease) (da Costa et al., 2019). For these reasons, bacteriocins are recommended in several studies as alternative to existing preservatives in the food products such as meat and dairy products, canned foods, instant soups, also for therapeutic applications in the medical field (Kaya & Simsek, 2019). For instance, pediocin PA-1 is produced by *P. acidilactici* that has potential to extend the shelf-life of food products particularly by inhibiting the growth of *Listeria monocytogenes* (Kumariya et al., 2019).

(I) Classification of bacteriocins

Bacteriocins are classified majority into two distinct categories based on the structural and characteristic shown in Table 3 (Cotter et al., 2005).



Examples		Single peptide: nisin, mersacidin, and lacticin 481 Two-peptide: lacticin 3147 and cytolysin		Class IIa: pediocin PA1, leucocin A	Class IIb: lactacin F	Class IIc: enterocin AS48, reuterin 6	Class IId: lactococcin A, divergicin A	W/)			Lysostaphin, enterolysin A		
Remarks		Includes both single- and two-peptide lantibiotics.	୍ (ବୁ ' HL	Heterogeneous class of small peptides;	- subclass a: pediocin-like	- subclass b: two-peptide	- subclass c: cyclic	- subclass d: non-pediocin single linear	peptides		Large, heat-labile proteins, often murein	hydrolases a hydrolases	ej I T
Classification	Class I	Lanthioine-containing bacteriocin (lantibiotics)	Class II	Non-lanthionine-containing	bacteriocins					Bacteriolysins	Non-bacteriocin lytic proteins		

Table 3 Classification scheme of bacteriocins

(II) Anti-pathogenic activity of bacteriocin

Nowadays, the studies on antimicrobial activity of bacteriocins produced by probiotic-LAB have become increased, since they have proven effectiveness in inhibition the pathogenicity of food-borne pathogens. However, Gram-negative bacteria are naturally resistant to the bacteriocin that produced from Gram-positive bacteria because of outer layer membrane (lipopolysaccharide) that plays a key role as a potential barrier (Cao-Hoang et al., 2008; Gyawali & Ibrahim, 2014). The research of Casey et al. (2004) demonstrate that Lb. salivarius subsp. salivarius DPC6005 and Lb. salivarius subsp. salivarius M7.2 isolated from porcine intestinal origin exhibited the effective inhibition of gram-negative and gram-positive bacteria such as Sa. Typhimurium BAA 185, Escherichia coli O157:H7 AR12900, Li. innocua DPC 5073, Staphylococcus aureus DPC 5246. Simova et al. (2009) reported that bulgaricin BB18, produced by Lb. bulgaricus BB18 isolated from traditional Bulgarian dairy products, exhibits antimicrobial activity to gram-negative and gram-posive such as Sa. Typhimurium FVK781, Helicobacter pylori HPK78, Listeria (Li.) monocytogenes C12, Clostridium difficile TCN16, and Bacillus subtilis 1A95. In addition, both gramnegative and gram-positive bacteria are inhibited by purified Bac7293A and Bac7293B that produced by Weisslla (W.) hellenica BCC7293 isolated from Nham (Thai fermented pork sausage) (Woraprayote et al., 2015). The study of Stern et al. (2006) found that purified bacteriocin OR-7, produced from Lb. salivarius NRRL B-30514, showed antimicrobial activity to Campylobacter (Ca.) jejuni NCTC 11168. Furthermore, bacteriocin DY4-2 produced by Lb. plantarum DY4-2 isolated cutlassfish (Trichiurus lepturus), that showed inhibitory activity against gramnegative and gram-positive bacteria (Lv et al., 2018). Therefore, the isolation of potential bacteriocin producing LAB from non-human origin, evaluation of probiotic properties and the safety for using in food and pharmaceutical application are attractively investigated.

(III) Bacteriocin characteristics

Molecular weight and amino acid sequence

The molecular mass and amino acid sequencing of antimicrobial peptides are used as tools for bacteriocins classification and identification. Elegado et al. (1997) and Ennahar et al. (2000) reported that the molecular mass of normal purified antimicrobial peptides are about 2.5 to 6.5 kDa. Purified bacteriocins produced from *Enterococcus faecium* ICIS 7 was estimated to be about 6.5 kDa (Vasilchenko et al., 2018). The research of Woraprayote et al. (2015) reported that the molecular weight of Bac7293A and Bac7293B produced from *W. hellenica* BCC7293 were 6,249 and 6,489 Da, respectively. The approximate molecular mass of bacteriocin DY4-2 synthesized from *Lb. plantarum* DY4-2 is 1,465 Da (Lv et al., 2018).

Furthermore, its N-terminal sequencing always be used to identify or classify the type of antimicrobial peptides. Ly et al. (2018) reported that bacteriocin DY4-2 contains 13 amino acids, HAQIGMTMNGSFR. reported that bacteriocin DY4-2 contains 13 amino acids, HAQIGMTMNGSFR. Simova et al. (2009) stated that the molecular mass of bulgaricin BB18 produced from Lb. bulgaricus BB18 is around 4.2 kDa. Bulgaricin **BB18** consisted of 31 was amino acids (KIYRGNVGHCGKSTVDWGTAIGNGNNAASFL) and also it was classified into class IIa non-lantibiotics bacteriocins. Also, the research of Stern et al. (2006) reported that purified bacteriocins OR-7 produced from Lactobacillus salivarius NRRL B-30514 is about 5,123 Da. The amino acid sequencing of bacteriocin OR-7 is N'-

KTYYGTNGVHCTKNSLWGKVRLKNMKYDQNTTYMGRLQDILLGWATGAF GKTF-C' and classified into class IIa.

(IV) Factors affecting the antimicrobial activity of bacteriocin Temperature

The effect of various temperatures on antimicrobial activity of antimicrobial peptides has been evaluated. Simova et al. (2009) studied the sensitivity of antimicrobial peptide that produced by *Lb. bulgaricus* BB18 to heat treatment. After heat treatment at 100 °C for 60 min, and 115 °C for 15 min, antimicrobial activity of antimicrobial peptide was slightly decreased. Antimicrobial activity of bacteriocin DY4-2 produced by *Lb. plantarum* DY4-2 show the stability to heating at 100 °C for 30 min and 121 °C for 30 min. After heat treatment at 121 °C for 30 min, the activity of antimicrobial peptide is slightly decreased (Lv et al., 2018). Stern et al. (2006) studied the sensitivity of bacteriocin OR-7 to heat treatment.

37 °C for 2 h, 37 °C for 24 h and 90 °C for 20 min, antimicrobial activity of bacteriocin OR-7 was not decreased. Furthermore, the research of Yi et al. (2016) investigated that bacteriocin MN047 produced from *Lb. crustorum* MN047 is mostly resistant to heating at 100 °C for 10,20, and 30 min. Summarily, all of the results can possibly be concluded that antimicrobial peptide possess the stability to heating at 100 °C for 10-30 min.

pН

Since bacteriocins are peptide compound; therefore, the study of pH is crucial to evaluate antimicrobial activity. A few studies have investigated the effect of pH on anti-pathogenic activity of antimicrobial peptides. The research of Woraprayote et al. (2015) reported that the activity of purified bacteriocin Bac7293A and Bac7293B synthesized from *W. hellenica* BCC7293 decreased upon the exposure to high pH (alkalinity condition). *Lb. plantarum* DY4-2 isolated from cutlassfish (*Trichiurus lepturus*), produced bacteriocin DY4-2 that had the stability over a pH range from 2 to 9 and is retained more than 70% activity even at high pH (pH 10 and pH 11) (Yi et al., 2016). Stern et al. (2006) studied the sensitivity of bacteriocin OR-7 to various pH condition (3.0 to 10). Antimicrobial activity of bacteriocin OR-7 was stable at pH values ranging from 3.0 to 9.1 but became inactive at pH 10. Additionally, the research of Simova et al. (2009) stated that the antimicrobial peptide produced by *Lb. bulgaricus* BB18 exhibited the good stability to a wide range of pH from 5 to 8.

HULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY

Enzymes

Several enzymes including lipases, amylase, and proteases that usually presented in foods and gastrointestinal tract were used to evaluate the effect of these enzymes on anti-pathogenic activity of antimicrobial peptides. Anti-pathogenic activity of antimicrobial peptide produced from *Lb. bulgaricus* BB18 was inactivated when this antimicrobial peptide was exposed to α -chymotrypsin, papain, pepsin, proteinase K, protease XI, protease XIV and trypsin, whereas α -amylase and lipase were not influence anti-pathogenic activity (Simova et al., 2009). Purified bacteriocin Bac7293A and Bac7293B synthesized from *W. hellenica* BCC7293 was totally inactivated by proteolytic enzymes such as α -chymotrypsin, pepsin, trypsin,

proteinase K; on the other hand, it was insensitive to α -amylase and lipase (Woraprayote et al., 2015). Purified bacteriocin OR-7 synthesized from *Lb. salivarius* NRRL B-30514 was inactivated by proteolytic enzymes such as β -chymotrypsin, proteinase K, and papain; on the other hand, it was insensitive to lysozyme and lipase (Stern et al., 2006). In addition, anti-pathogenic activity of bacteriocin DY4-2 synthesized from *Lb. plantarum* DY4-2 was entirely inactivated after treatment with papain, pepsin but partially inactivated by nutrase (Lv et al., 2018).



CHAPTER III MATERIALS AND METHODS

3.1 Media, chemicals and equipments

- 1. 0.22 µm pore size filter Millipore (MA, USA)
- 2. 24-well tissue culture plates (Corning, USA)
- 3. 25% Trypsin (Gibco-Invitrogen, USA)
- 4. 3-(4,5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl) -2,5 diphenyltetrasolium bromide (MTT) (Sigma, Germany)
- 5. 37% Hydrochloric acid (HCl) (Merck, Germany)
- 6. 96-well tissue culture plates (Corning, USA)
- 7. Acetic acid (CH₃COOH) (Merck, Germany)
- 8. Agar (Difco, USA)
- 9. Anaeropack TM-MicroAerobic and Anaerobic gas generator kit (Mitsubishi, Japan)
- 10. API 50 CH (bioMérieux, USA)
- 11. Autoclave, Model : HA-3D (Hirayama, Japan)
- 12. Calcium carbonate (CaCO₃) (Merck, Germany)
- 13. Calcium Chloride (CaCl₂) (Merck, Germany)
- 14. Cell line : RAW 264.7 cells
- 15. Cell line : Caco-2 human colon carcinoma cells (ATCC HTB-37)
- 16. Cell line : THP-1 cells OKKORN UNIVERSITY
- 17. Centrifuge (Sartorius, Germany)
- 18. Centrifuge 5810 R (Eppendorf, Germany)
- 19. Cholesterol PEG-600 (Sigma, USA)
- 20. CO₂ incubator (NAPCO 6000, Thermo Scientific, USA)
- 21. Conical tube 15 and 50 mL (Corning, USA)
- 22. Counter (Fisher Scientific, USA)
- 23. De Man-Rogosa-Sharpe (MRS) or Lactobacilli MRS broth (Difco, USA)
- 24. Dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO) (Fisher Scientific, India)
- 25. Dulbecco Modified Eagle medium (DMEM) (Gibco-Invitrogen, USA)
- 26. Ethanol (EtOH) (Merck, Germany)
- 27. Fetal bovine serum (FBS) (Gibco-Invitrogen, USA)
- 28. Gel Electrophoresis (Model : GE-100, China)
- 29. Hemocytometer (Hausser Scientific, USA)
- 30. Hexane (C_6H_{14}) (Merck, Germany)
- 31. Incubator, Model : BE600, Memmert, Germany
- 32. Laminar flow hood (Model : BV-126, ISSCO, Thailand)
- 33. Medium 199 (M199) (Gibco-Invitrogen, USA)
- 34. Methanol (MeOH) (Merck, Germany)
- 35. Microscope CHS model (Olympus, Japan)
- 36. Multi-Detection Microplate Reader (BioTek Synergy HT, USA)
- 37. O-phthaldialdehyde (OPA) (Sigma, USA)
- 38. Oxgall or bovine bile (Sigma, USA)
- 39. PCR Authorized Thermal Cycler (Bio-Rad Laboratories, California)
- 40. PCR DNA fragment extraction kit (Geneaid Biotech, Taiwan)
- 41. Penicillin-Streptomycin (Gibco-Invitrogen, USA)
- 42. Phase contrast microscopy (ZEISS Primo Star, USA)
- 43. Potassium hydroxide (KOH) (Fisher, USA)
- 44. Roswell Park Memorial Institute medium number 1640 (RPMI 1640) (Gibco-Invitrogen, USA)
- 45. Skimmed milk (Difco, USA)
- 46. Sodium chloride (NaCl) (Sigma-Aldrich, USA)
- 47. Sodium hydroxide (NaOH) (Merck, Germany)
- 48. Sodium salt of taurodeoxycholic acid (TDCA) (Sigma, USA)
- 49. Speed vacuum (Rotational Vacuum Concentrator Rvc 2-18, Germany)
- 50. Sulfuric acid (H₂SO₄) (Merck, Germany)
- 51. Syringes (NIPRO, Thailand)
- 52. Tissue culture flask 25 and 75 cm (Corning, USA)
- 53. HumanTNF-alpha DuoSet ELISA (R&D systems a biotechne brand, USA)
- 54. Human IL-6 DuoSet ELISA (R&D systems a biotechne brand, USA)
- 55. Amberlite-XAD N16 (Sigma, USA)
- 56. Sp-sepharose (Sigma, USA)
- 57. Trifluoroacetic acid (Merck, Germany)

58. Enzymes Kit (Sigma, USA)

59. Wizard Genomic DNA Purifcation kit (Promega Corporation, USA)

3.2 Methodology

3.2.1 Experimental plan

Lactic acid bacteria (LAB) isolated from fermented foods and tree barks. All isolated LAB were identified, screened for bile salt hydrolase activity. The LAB strains which exhibit bile salt hydrolase were selected for further studies. The selected LAB strains were examined probiotic properties. The antimicrobial compound involving in the inhibition of pathogenic bacteria were partially purified and characterized. The selected strains were also analyzed the probiogenomic characteristics from the genomic data. The experimental plan of this study is presented in the Figure 5.



Figure 5 Experiment plan in this study

3.2.2 Collection of samples and isolation

In this study, fermented food products and tree barks samples were collected in Thailand. For isolation, 10 g or 10 ml of each sample was suspended and homogenized in 90 mL of De Man Rogosa Sharpe (MRS) broth (De Man et al., 1960)

38

and incubated at 30 °C for 72 h under aerobic condition. After incubation period, one loopful of culture broth was streaked on MRS agar supplemented with 0.3% (w/v) calcium carbonate (CaCO₃) and incubated under the same conditions. The colonies surrounding with clear zone were selected and picked up for purification based on different morphology. This procedure was repeated until obtained the pure cultures. The cultures were kept at -20 °C in 40% (v/v) glycerol and lyophilized with 10% (w/v) skim milk for further studies.

3.3 Identification

3.3.1 Phenotypic characteristics

After 48 hours of cultivation on MRS agar plate and incubation at 30 °C, colony appearance, cell shape, cell arrangement, catalase activity, and Gram staining were determined. Physiological and biochemical characteristics include growth in 4%, 6%, and 8% (w/v) NaCl, growth at the temperatures 15 °C, 30 °C, and 45 °C, growth at different pH (2.0-9.0, using relevant buffer), nitrate reduction, gas production, aesculin hydrolysis, arginine hydrolysis, and acid production from carbohydrates (conventional and API 50 CH (bioMérieux) were examined as described by Tanasupawat et al. (1998). Isomer of lactic acid was enzymatically analysed as previously describied by Okada et al. (1978). The hierarchical cluster analysis for grouping the isolates using SPSS for Window version 22.0 was performed based on the phenotypic characteristics.

3.3.2 Chemotaxonomic characteristics VERSITY 3.3.2.1 Cell wall composition

Cells were grown in MRS broth at 30 °C for 48 h, harvested by centrifugation at 10,000 rpm for 5 min and then washed twice with 0.85% NaCl solution. The amino acids in the cell wall was detected by TLC technique (Hasegawa et al., 1983). Briefly, cells pellet was hydrolyzed by using 0.1 ml of 6N HCl (hydrochloric acid) and heated by autoclaving at 121 °C for 15 min. After cooling, 1:1 of hydrolysate was spotted onto a cellulose TLC plate. The TLC plate was developed with the solvent system of methanol-water-6N HCl-pyridine (80:26:4:10 v/v) for 3 h. After the second developing, the TLC plate was sprayed with ninhydrin spray reagent and heated at 100 °C for 2 min to visualize the spot. *meso*-diaminopimelic acid (DAP) was used as the standard.

3.3.2.2 Cellular fatty acid analysis

Strains were cultivated in MRS broth at 30 °C for 4 days. Gas chromatography (GC) was used for cellular fatty acid analysis following the instruction of Microbial Identification System (MIDI) Sherlock version 6.0 (Kämpfer & Kroppenstedt, 1996; Sasser, 1990). Dry cell (40 mg) was suspended in 0.1 ml of reagent 1 (sodium hydroxide 15 g, methanol 50 ml and milli-Q water 50 ml) and vigorously mixed for 5-10 seconds with a vortex mixer. The solution will be heated at 100 °C for 5 min, mixed and heated again at 100 °C for 25 min. After cooling, 2 ml of reagent 2 (6 N-HCl 65 ml, methanol 55 ml) was added to the test tube, mixed and heated at 80 °C for 10 min. The mixture was added with 1.25 ml of reagent 3 (n-hexane 50 ml, methyl-tert-butyl ether 50 ml) and mixed for 10 min. The upper layer was transferred to a new tube and added with 3 ml of reagent 4 (sodium hydroxide 1.2 g, milli-Q water 100 ml). The tube was mixed for 5 min and transferred 2/3 of the sample to a GC vial. The cellular fatty acids were analyzed by using gas chromatography.

3.3.3 Genotypic characteristics3.3.3.1 16s rRNA gene sequencing

The representative strains of each group were selected to sequence their 16S rRNA gene sequences. The 16S rRNA gene sequences of isolates were amplified using polymerase chain reaction (PCR) technique with primer 20F (5'-AGTTTGATCCTGGCTC-3') and 1530R (5'AAGGAGGTGATCCAGCC-3'). PCR products were sequenced using a DNA sequencer (Macrogen, Korea) with universal primers 27F (5'-AGAGTTTGATCMTGGCTCAG-3'), 518F (5'CCAGCAGCCGCGGTAATACG-3'), 800R (5'-TACCAGGGTATCTAATCC-3') and 1492R (5'-TACGGYTACCTTGTTACGACTT-3') ((Lane, 1991)).,The sequence similarity values between the isolates and their related reference isolates were calculated using the EzBiocloud tool (Yoon et al., 2017). MEGA 7 constructed a phylogenetic tree using the neighbor-joining (NJ) approach (Kumar et al., 2016;

Saitou, 1987). A bootstrap analysis with 1000 replications was used to determine the confidence values for each branch in the phylogenetic tree (Felsenstein, 1985). The identified sequences were deposited in DDBJ (DNA Data Bank of Japan, Mishima, Japan).

3.3.3.2 Whole-genome sequencing

The genomic DNA of strain BCM23-1T was extracted from cells grown in MRS broth after incubating at 30 °C for 48 h and was purified by the method of Saito and Miura (1963). The Nanodrop ND-2000 UV-Vis spectrophotometer and the Qubit 3.0 fluorometer (Thermoscientific) were used to measure the purity and concentration of the extracted genomic DNA. At Omics Science and Bioinformatics Center, Chulalongkorn University, library preparation and sequencing of the strain LM14-2 were performed by Nextera XT DNA prep kit and Illumina Miseq sequencer. Quality of raw reads was checked using FASTQC software (Galaxy Version 1.1.5). Adaptors and poor-quality reads were removed using Trim Galore (Galaxy Version 0.6.3), filtered reads were used as an input for Unicycler, genome assembly program (Galaxy Version 0.4.8.0). The genomic quality and contamination were evaluated by CheckM (Parks et al., 2015). The sequence similarity values between the strains and their related reference strains were computed using the EzBiocloud tool (Yoon et al., 2017). Then, the average nucleotide identity (ANI) and the digital DNA-DNA hybridization (dDDH) values were analyzed using JSpeciesWS web server tool (Richter & Rosselló-Móra, 2009; Richter et al., 2016) and the Genome-to-Genome Distance Calculator (GGDC 2.1) using the BLAST+ method with formular 2 (Meier-Kolthoff et al., 2013). The ANI of >95% and DDH of >70% are considered to be the same species (Kim et al., 2014). A phylogenetic tree based on whole-genome sequence was constructed by using TYGS web server (https://tygs.dsmz.de/) (Meier-Kolthoff & Göker, 2019). Furthermore, genomic circular map was constructed using CGView Server (Grant & Stothard, 2008).

3.3.3.3 Gene prediction and functional annotation

The draft genome was annotated by using the DFAST sever (Tanizawa et al., 2018), Rapid Annotation Server Technology (RAST) (Aziz et al., 2008), PATRIC

(Davis et al., 2020), the NCBI Prokaryotic Genome Annotation Pipeline (PGAP) (Tatusova et al., 2016). Antibiotic resistance genes were determined using the Comprehensive Antibiotic Resistance Database (CARD; https://card.mcmaster.ca) (Alcock et al., 2020), and ResFinder web-based tool (Bortolaia et al., 2020). The pathogenicity was predicted by PathogenFinder web-based tool (Cosentino et al., 2013) and plasmid was detected by PlasmidFinder (Carattoli et al., 2014). The PHAge Search Tool Enhanced Release (PHASTER) was used to identify and annotate putative prophage sequences (Arndt et al., 2016). The Identification of carbohydrateusing active enzymes was performed the dbCAN meta server (https://bcb.unl.edu/dbCAN2/blast.php) with HMMER: biosequence analysis with profile hidden Markov models (version: 3.3.2), and all data generated in dbCAN were based on the family classification from the CAZy database (http://www.cazy.org/) (Cantarel et al., 2009; Zhang et al., 2018). The biosynthesis of antimicrobial peptides gene clusters was detected and visualized by BAGEL4 (BActeriocin GEnome mining tool; http://bagel4.molgenrug.nl) (van Heel et al., 2018). Genes responsible for virulence and undesirable characteristics may be identified using publicly available databases and manually inspected to confirm its identity and function. Precautions are required in the interpretation of the findings since genes involved in survival and adaptation should not be treated as virulence genes for non-pathogenic bacteria. The search using the Kyoto Encyclopedia of Genes and Genomes (KEGG) database (https://www.kegg.jp) (Kanehisa et al., 2016) for the pathways and genes.

HULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY

Determination of cholesterol-lowering effects 3.4 Screening bile salt hydrolases (BSH) activity

The BSH activity was determined as described by Shehata et al. (2016) with minor modification. 20 μ l of the overnight culture broth was spotted on MRS agar supplemented with 0.5% (w/v) taurodeoxycholic acid sodium salt (TDCA) and 0.037% (w/v) calcium chloride. Plates was incubated anaerobically at 37 °C for 72 h. The halos around colonies or white opaque colonies were indicated the bile salt hydrolase activity of bacteria. The non-modified MRS was used as control. The BSH-producing LAB were be selected for evaluation of probiotic properties.

3.5 Cholesterol assimilation in MRS

The capability to assimilate cholesterol was evaluated following the method of Tomaro-Duchesneau et al. (2014) with minor modification. MRS broth was supplemented with Cholesterol-PEG 600 at a final concentration 100 µg/ml. The MRS broth without supplementation of cholesterol stock solution was used as control. A 1% (v/v) of cell suspension was inoculated in and incubated anaerobically at 37 °C for 24 h. At the end of incubation period, the cell free supernatant (CFS) was harvested by centrifugation at 4,000xg for 20 min at 4 °C. The residual cholesterol content was determined. In brief, 100 µl of CFS was mixed with100 µl of KOH (33%, w/v) and 200 µl of 95% ethanol, vortexed for 1 min, incubated at 37 °C for 15 min, and cooled to room temperature. Thereafter, 200 µl of MilliQ water and 500 µl of hexane were added into the mixture solution and vortexed for 1 min. The mixture was allowed to settle until separation of the two layers. One hundred microliters of the upper hexane layer was collected and evaporated under nitrogen. After that, 200 µl of o-phthalaldehyde reagent (50 mg OPA in 100 ml glacial acetic acid) was added and gently shaken for 1 min. After incubation at room temperature for 3 min, 50 µl of sulphuric acid was added and gently mixed followed by resting for 10 min at room temperature before measuring the absorbance at 550 nm using UV-spectrophotometer. A standard curve of absorbance versus cholesterol concentrations was generated using the cholesterol concentrations: 0, 3.125, 6.25, 12.5, 25, 50, 75, 100, and 125 µg/ml. The cholesterol concentration was read off a standard curve prepared using the cholesterol stock solution. The ability of probiotics to assimilate cholesterol in MRS was reported as the percentage of cholesterol removed at each incubation interval as follows:

Cholesterol assimilated (
$$\mu g / ml$$
) = [Cholesterol ($\mu g / ml$)]_{0 h} - [Cholesterol ($\mu g / ml$)]_{24 h}

% Cholesterol assimilated =
$$\left[\frac{\text{Cholesterol assimilated }(\mu g / ml)}{\text{Cholesterol }(\mu g / ml)_{0 h}}\right] \times 100$$

3.6 Evaluation of probiotic properties Fundamental probiotic properties Preparation of LAB cell suspension

For the studies of probiotic properties, the cell suspension was prepared following the procedure of Pithva et al. (2014). The selected strains were cultivated twice in MRS broth at 30 °C for 24 h. After incubation period, the cells were collected by centrifugation at 14,000 rpm for 10 min at 4 °C, washed twice with phosphate-buffered saline (PBS; 0.1 M, pH 7.2, containing 0.85% (w/v) NaCl), and resuspended in phosphate buffer (0.1 M, pH 7) to get cell suspension of $A_{600} = 1$ and 10^9 CFU/ml.

3.6.1 Viability during gastrointestinal (GIT) transit

In vitro assessment of characteristics for viability in the transit of gastrointestinal tract were assessed using an *in vitro* model simulated gastric fluid and intestinal fluid as described by Minekus et al. (2014) with minor modification. Briefly, the cell suspension was mixed with simulated gastric fluid (SGF) containing pepsin 2000 U/ml and incubated anaerobically for 3 hours at pH 3 and 37 °C. The samples were collected at 0 (initial time) and 3 (gastric-emptying time) hours of incubation time for viably bacterial enumeration. After the incubation time, the gastric chyme was transferred, mixed with simulated small intestinal fluid (SIF) containing pancreatin (based on trypsin activity at 100 U/ml) and 10 mM of bile, and incubated anaerobically for 5 hours at pH 7 and 37 °C. The samples were collected at 0 (initial time) hours of incubation time viably bacterial enumeration. The number of viable LAB was quantified using a serial 10-fold dilution and spot plate technique. The *L. rhamnosus* GG was used as control. The viable bacteria were reported as logarithms of colony-forming units per milliliter (log₁₀CFU/ml).

3.6.2 Adhesion assay

The human intestinal epithelial cell line, Caco-2 cell line was used to assess the adhesion capacity of selected LAB strains following the method of Han et al. (2017) with minor modification. Caco-2 cells were routinely cultured in Dulbecco's Modified Eagle's Medium (DMEM) high glucose supplemented with 10% (v/v) fetal bovine serum (FBS), and 1% (v/v) penicillin-streptomycin. The Caco-2 cells were cultured in tissue flask at 37 °C in 5% CO₂. For the adhesion test, the Caco-2 cells were treated with trypsin then incubated at 37 °C in 5% CO₂ for 5 min, to elute adherent Caco-2 cells from tissue flask. The Caco-2 cell concentration were adjusted to 5×10^5 cell/ml and seeded into 24-well tissue culture plates. The tissue plates were incubated at 37 °C in 5% CO₂ until the Caco-2 cells attained a confluent-differentiated monolayer state. The Caco-2 cells were washed twice in PBS before the experimental use. The cell suspension was harvested by centrifugation at 14,000 rpm for 10 min at 4 °C and re-suspended again in DMEM without antibiotics. Next, 1 ml of each cell suspension was inoculated into well then incubated for 90 min at 37 °C in 5% CO₂. After incubation period, Caco-2 cells were washed three times with PBS to rule out the unbounded cells then cells were eluted by addition of 1 ml of 0.05% Triton-X100 solution. The number adherent bacteria were enumerated by spot-plate technique on MRS agar then incubated at 37 °C for 48 h. The *L. rhamnosus* GG was used as control. The adherent ability of selected strains was calculated according to the following equation as previously described by Alp and KuleaŞan (2020);

Adhesion percentage (%) =
$$\frac{N_t}{N_0} \times 100$$

Where; N_t = the log CFU of adherent bacterial cells to the Caco-2 cells N_0 = the log CFU of inoculated bacterial cells

หาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย

Other health-promoting effects

3.6.3 Immunomodulation effects of selected strains

The selected strains were prepared and evaluated for immunomodulatory effects following the method of Hosaka et al. (2021).

3.6.3.1 Preparation of sterilized lactic acid bacteria powder

Each selected strain was inoculated into MRS broth and incubated for 24 hours at 120 rpm with shaking at 30°C. Following sterilizing the culture media at 100°C for 20 minutes, the bacteria were collected by centrifugation at 1,000 rpm for 10 minutes. To prepare sterilized lactic acid bacteria powder, the bacteria were washed with sterile distilled water and then lyophilized. For preparing the test sample, the test sample was suspended in PBS at a concentration of 200 μ g/ml.

3.6.3.2 Cell culture and cell differentiation

RAW264.7 cells were cultured in Dulbecco's modified Eagle medium (DMEM) (SIGMA) supplemented with 5% FBS and 0.2% PS at 37°C in a 5% CO₂ incubator. Caco-2 cells were provided by Professor Shinichi Yokota, Sapporo Medical University School of Medicine. Cultures were grown in Dulbecco's modified Eagle medium supplemented with 5% FBS and 0.25% PS in a 5% CO₂ incubator at 37°C. THP-1 cells were cultured in RPMI 1640 medium supplemented with 10% FBS and 0.2% PS in a 5% CO₂ incubator at 37°C.

Caco-2 cells $(1.5 \times 10^5$ cells) were seeded on cell culture inserts (Falcon, 24-Well Hanging Inserts 0.4 µm) and cultured for 72 hours. After 72 hours, the media containing 5 mM sodium butyrate was replaced, and the cells were incubated for 96 hours to induce differentiation. Differentiated cells were evaluated by transepithelial electrical resistance (TEER) using Millicell-ERS (Merk), and differentiated cells with TEER values greater than 400 $\Omega \times cm^2$ were used. THP-1 cells were seeded on a multiwell plate (24 well, Falcon) and incubated for 3 days in media containing 100 ng/ml cholecalciferol (Vitamin D₃) and 10 nM phorbol12-myristate13-acetate (PMA) to differentiate into macrophage-like cells. Following differentiation, Caco-2 and THP-1 cells were co-cultured in Transwell.

3.6.3.3 Measurement of NO production

Nitric oxide (NO) production was determined as described by Yang et al. (2018). RAW264.7 cells were suspended in DMEM medium (5% FBS + 0.2% PS) at a concentration of 3 x10⁵ cells/ml, seeded in each 24-well multi-well plate and incubated at 37 °C in a 5% CO₂ incubator for 24 hours. The test sample was added to stimulate the cells (final concentration of 20 μ g/ml). PBS was used as a negative control, and LPS (10 μ g/ml) (Fujifilm Wako) as a positive control. After 24 hours of stimulation, the supernatant was collected and centrifuged at 12,000 rpm for 20 minutes and evaluated by Griess reaction, as reported by Baek et al. (2015). 100 μ l of each Griess reagent, medium supernatant sample, and 1.56-100 μ M sodium nitrite standard solution was added to 96-well microplates and incubated for 20 minutes at room temperature. The absorbance at 550 nm was measured in a microplate reader,

and the nitrite concentration in the medium supernatant was calculated using a calibration curve obtained from the sodium nitrite standard solution.

3.6.3.4 Intestinal Immunity Model

An *in vitro* intestinal immune model was simulated by co-culture cell culture inserts (apical side) and multi-well plates (basal side). The test sample was suspended in RPMI 1640 medium was added to the apical side (final concentration 20 µg/ml), and the cells were stimulated in a 5% CO₂ incubator at 37°C for 48 hours. After incubation, the basal side of the medium was collected, and after centrifugation at 12,000 rpm for 20 min, the supernatant was collected to remove foreign substances. For IL-12 and IFN- γ , proteins were precipitated by adding a 25% volume of 100% TCA to the culture medium supernatant sample. The precipitates were washed with acetone to remove TCA and dissolved in 1X sample buffer for protein enrichment after heat treatment at 100 °C for 2 min. The proteins were separated by SDS-PAGE performed according to Laemmli (1970), and the target proteins were detected by Western blot according to the method reported by Towbin et al. (1979). Calibration curves were prepared with known concentrations of IL-12 standard and IFN-y standard to calculate the production of IL-12 and IFN-y. Production was corrected by measuring β -actin as an endogenous control. For hBD2, unenriched medium supernatant was measured by the Dot blot, and the amount of hBD2 production was corrected from the total protein by CBB staining. The values were evaluated relative to the no-stimulation test section with PBS.

3.6.3.5 The immunomodulatory effects of Lc. lactis subsp. lactis NH2-7C

The strain NH2-7C was analyzed by Biodiversity Research Centre, Research and Development Group for Bio-Industries, Thailand Institute of Scientific and Technological Research (TISTR), Pathum Thani 12120, Thailand. For the heat-killed cell preparation, strain NH2-7C was cultivated twice in MRS broth and incubated at 30 °C for 24 h. The bacterial cells were collected by centrifugation at 10,000 rpm for 10 min and heated at 85 °C for 10 min. Then, the lysate was filtered through 0.22 μ m and lyophilized before the test. The supernatant of strain NH2-7C was collected, heated at 85 °C for 10 min, filtered through 0.22 μ m and lyophilized before the test.

(I) THP-1 cell culture

THP-1 cells were maintained in complete RPMI-1640 medium. Complete medium consisted of 500 ml RPMI 1640 medium, 50ml FBS, 5ml penicillin/streptomycin and 5ml L-glutamine. Cells were incubated at 37°C, 5% CO₂ and 100% humidity. A suspension of 500 μ l of THP-1 cells was seeded in a 24 well plate at a density of 1x10⁵ cells/ml with phorbol 12-myristate 13-acetate (PMA) at a concentration of 60 ng/ml in each well, and incubated at 37°C in 5% CO₂ and 100% humidity for 48 h. The differentiated cells were checked and then the medium resuspended to the same volume without PMA and incubated for a further 24 h. Heat-killed cells and supernatant of strain NH2-7C (500 μ l) were added together with lipopolysaccharide (LPS, 1 μ g/ml) and without LPS and then incubated for another 24 h. The supernatants were collected and stored at -20 °C until analyzed by Enzyme-Linked Immunosorbent Assay (ELISA).

(II) Determination of TNF-a and IL-6 from THP-1 cells

TNF- α and IL-6 levels were measured following the manufacturer's instructions of a Human TNF-alpha DuoSet ELISA (R&D systems a biotechne brand, USA) and human IL-6 DuoSet ELISA (R&D systems a biotechne brand, USA), respectively.

3.6.4 Screening of antimicrobial activity3.6.4.1 Cultures and Cultivation

Strains were cultivated on MRS agar and incubated at 30 °C for 48 h and the strains were propagated twice in MRS broth at 30 °C for 18 h. The *L. sakei* JCM 1157 was used as indicator strains and the other indicator strains were used for the study of antimicrobial spectra. The appropriate medium and condition are shown in Table 4.

•	r strains
:	for indicato
	condition
;	medium and
•	appropriate
	Table 4 The

	Testing condi	tion		1
Indicator strain	Medium	pH	Temp. (°C)	
Gram-positive bacteria:				
$Bacillus circulans JCM 2504^{T}$	TSB	7.3	30	
B. subtilis JCM 1465 ^T	TSB	7.3	30	
B. cereus	TSB	7.3	30	
Enterococcus faecalis JCM 5803 ^T	MRS	6.5	37	
En. faecium JCM 5804 ^T	MRS	6.5	37	
Lactobacillus plantarum ATCC 14917 ^T	MRS	6.5	30	
Lb. sakei JCM 1157 ^T	MRS	6.5	30	
Lactococcus lactis ATCC 19435 ^T	MRS	6.5	30	
Leuconostoc mescenteroides JCM 6124 ^T	MRS	6.5	30	
Listeria inocua ATCC 33090 ^T	TSB	7.3	37	
Li. monocytogenes ATCC 19115	TSB	7.3	37	
Micrococcus luteus MIII	TSB	7.3	37	
M. luteus NBRC 12708 (Kocuria rhizophila)	TSB	7.3	30	
Pediococcus dextrinicus JCM 5887 ^T	MRS	6.5	30	
P. pentosaceus JCM 5885	MRS	6.5	30	
Staphylococcus aureus ATCC 23235	TSB	7.3	37	
Methilcillin-resistant S. aureus DMST 20635	TSB	7.3	37	
S. aureus ATCC 25923	TSB	7.3	37	
S. aureus ATCC 6538	TSB	7.3	37	

7.3 37	7.3 37
TSB	TSB
S. aureus Cowan I	S. aureus DMST 6512

Table 4 The appropriate medium and condition for indicator strains

	ି ସୁ	Testing cond	ition	
Indicator strain		Medium	μd	Temp. (°C)
Gram-positive bacteria:	Ala	国们人		
Streptococcus agalactiae 1611		TSB	7.3	37
St. gordonii DMST 35778		TSB	7.3	37
St. iniae SI 1810	STATES AND	TSB	7.3	37
St. mutans DMST 18777		TSB	7.3	37
St. pyogenes DMST 17020	NIV	TSB	7.3	37
St. suis NaH	nå ER:	TSB	7.3	37
St. suis P1/7) รัย SIT	TSB	7.3	37

	200				ļ
		Test	ing condit	ion	ļ
Indicator strain		Medium	pH	Temp. (°C)	
Gram-negative bacteria:					
Aeromonas hydrophila B1 AhB1	ลัง เกม	TSB	7.3	37	
Campylobacter coli NCTC 11353 ^{T*}	NS N N N N N N	BHI	7.4	42	
Escherichia coli ATCC 25922	13	TSB	7.3	37	
$E. \ coli\ O157:H7$	5 M S	TSB	7.3	37	
$E. \ coli \ F18$		TSB	7.3	37	
E. coli ATCC 35401	ร์ สัย สรเ	TSB	7.3	37	
E. coli JCM 1093		TSB	7.3	37	
H. pylori ATCC 43504*		BHI + 5% Sheep blood	7.4	37	
H. pylori 3875*		BHI + 5% Sheep blood	7.4	37	
H. pylori BK 364*		BHI + 5% Sheep blood	7.4	37	
Pseudomonas aeroginosa ATCC 27852	3 ^T	TSB	7.3	37	
Salmonella typhimurium ATCC 13311 ¹	_	TSB	7.3	37	
Vibrio algenolyticus Va		TSB + 1.5% NaCl	7.3	37	
V. harveyi AQVH 01		TSB + 1.5% NaCl	7.3	37	
V. parahaemolyticus DMST 26792 ^T		TSB + 1.5% NaCl	7.3	37	

 Table 4 The appropriate medium and condition for indicator strains

V. parahaemolyticus with AHPND toxin plasmid 1691	TSB + 1.5% NaCl	7.3	30	
V. parahaemolyticus without AHPND toxin plasmid 1681	TSB + 1.5% NaCl	7.3	30	
V. vulnificus 1809	TSB + 1.5% NaCl	7.3	30	
Yeast & Mold:				
Candida albicans ATCC 10231	TSB	7.3	25	
Candida albicans ATCC 90028	TSB	7.3	25	
*, These indicators were incubated in microaerobic condition.				

3.6.4.2 Determination of antimicrobial activity

Selected strains were cultivated at 30 °C for 18 h in MRS broth under aerobic condition. Culture supernatant was harvested by centrifugation at 14,000 rpm for 10 min at 4 °C. The cell-free supernatant (CFS) was adjusted to pH 6.5 ± 0.1 with 1 M NaOH (Hu et al., 2017; Lv et al., 2018; Zhang et al., 2019). After that, the neutralized cell-free supernatant (NCFS) was filtered through 0.22 pore-size sterile filter prior to the antimicrobial assay. The antimicrobial activity was determined by the spot-on-lawn method as described by Ennahar et al. (2001). The antimicrobial assay was be divided into 2 parts including qualitative assay and semi-quantitative.

For qualitative assay, 10 μ l of the aliquot of NCFS was be spotted directly onto the prepared indicator lawn in soft agar (0.7% (w/v); top layer) that overlaid on solidified agar (1.5% (w/v); bottom layer). Culture medium used in this test is depend on indicator strain (Table 4). The indicator lawn was prepared by 5 ml of soft agar seeded with an overnight culture of each indicator strains approximately 10⁷ CFU/ml (Lima et al., 2007). The plates were dried for 30 min, and then incubated at the appropiate conditions for each indicator strain. The effective NCFSs showed a transparent inhibition zone of the indicator strain were selected for further semi-quantitative assay (Casey et al., 2004; van Reenen et al., 1998).

For semi-quantitative assay, two-fold serial dilution of effective NCFS was prepared in sterile distilled water in a sterile 96-well microtiter plate. Next, 10 μ l of each two-fold serial dilution of effective NCFS was spotted directly on indicator lawn that overlaid on solidified agar as described above. The plates were dried for 30 min and incubate at same condition. After incubation period, the antimicrobial activity was recorded and reported in arbitrary activity units per milliliters (AU/ml) which was defined as the reciprocal of the highest two-fold serial dilution showing a transparent inhibition zone of the indicator strain according to the following formula;

The antimicrobial activity $(AU/ml) = (2^N) \times 100$

Where; AU : Arbitrary Unit

Ν

: The highest two-fold serial dilution showing a transparent inhibition zone of the indicator strain.

3.6.4.3 Partial purification of antimicrobial compound

(I) Time course bacteriocin production

The antimicrobial compounds production of selected strain was following the method of Woraprayote et al. (2015) with modifications. An overnight selected strain was inoculated into 200 ml of MRS broth then incubated at 30 °C. Samples were taken and recorded at 4 h intervals for 48 h, and the bacterial growth and the changes in pH were detected using UV-Visible (600 nm) and digital pH meter, respectively. The antimicrobial activity (AU/ml) was evaluated by the critical dilution spot-on-lawn assay.

(II) Partial Purification

The antimicrobial compound was partially purified as described by Woraprayote et al. (2015). An overnight selected strain was inoculated into 1 L of MRS broth at 30 °C for 20 h under aerobic condition. The CFS was collected by centrifugation at $8,000 \times g$ for 15 min at 4 °C. Briefly, antimicrobial peptide was extracted using a series of hydrophobic interaction chromatography (Amberlite XAD-16 polymeric resin) and fast flow cation-exchange chromatography (SP-sepharose resin) with stepwise gradient from 0.25 to 1.0 M NaCl in 20 mM sodium phosphate, pH 5.7. All fractions were collected and determined for the antimicrobial activity by spot-on-lawn technique.

3.6.4.4 Protein determination

Protein concentration was determined by Lowry (1951) using bovine serum albumin (BSA) as standard.

3.6.4.5 Characterization of partial purified bacteriocin

(I) The effect of various enzymes on antimicrobial activity

Sensitivity of bacteriocin to various enzymes was evaluated as described by Hu et al. (2017) with minor modifications. The partially purified bacteriocin was incubated with 1.0 mg/ml final concentration of various enzymes as trypsin, α -chymotrypsin, pepsin, protease-K, lipase and amylase in the appropriate buffer at 37 °C for 5 h. At the end of incubation period, the solution mixture was heated at 100 °C for 5 min to deactivate the enzymes and adjusted to pH 6.5. The residual antimicrobial

activity was determined by spot-on-lawn method using *Lb. sakei* JCM 1157^{T} as an indicator strain. The sample without enzyme treatment was used as a control.

(II) The effect of chemicals on antimicrobial activity

Organic solvents

Effect of chemicals, including organic solvents and surfactants, on the antimicrobial activity of bacteriocin was studied as previously described of KaraoĞLu et al. (2003). Various organic solvents such as acetonitrile, ethanol and isopropanol were added to partially purified bacteriocin solution at 1:1 ratio. All samples were thoroughly mixed and kept at room temperature for 5 h before antimicrobial test. The residual antimicrobial activity was determined by spot-on-lawn method using *Lb. sakei* JCM 1157^T as an indicator strain. Untreated partially purified bacteriocin solution and organic solvent with equal volume of sterile ultrapure water were used as controls.

Chemicals

Effect of chemicals on antimicrobial activity of partially bacteriocin was determined by incorporating non-ionic (Triton X-100, Tween 20, Tween 80), anionic (sodium dodecyl sulphate) surfactant, EDTA and urea following the procedure of Pinto et al. (2009). All agents were added to partially purified bacteriocin to yield the final concentration of 1% (w/v). All samples were incubated at 30 °C for 5 h before antimicrobial test. The residual antimicrobial activity was determined by spot-on-lawn method using *Lb. sakei* JCM 1157^T as an indicator strain. Untreated purified bacteriocin and chemicals at this concentration in sterile distilled water were used as controls.

(III) The effect of pH on antimicrobial activity

The impact of pH to antimicrobial activity of partially purified bacteriocin was determined following the method of Ahn et al. (2017) with slight modifications. The partially purified bacteriocin was adjusted to various pH 2, 3, 5, 7, 9, 11 and 13 with 5 N of HCl or NaOH, then incubated at 37 °C for 4 h. After incubation period, the sample was neutralized to pH 6.5 and tested residual antimicrobial activity by spoton-lawn method using *Lb. sakei* JCM 1157^T as an indicator strain. The untreated sample was used as a control.

(IV) The effect of temperature on antimicrobial activity

The thermostability of partially purified bacteriocin was determined as described by Lim (2015). The partially purified bacteriocin was incubated at 100 °C for 10, 20, and 30 min, and by autoclaving at 121 °C for 15 min, respectively. At the end of incubation period, the partially purified bacteriocin was immediately cooled in ice bath and adjusted to pH 6.5. The residual antimicrobial activity was determined by spot-on-lawn method using *Lb. sakei* JCM 1157^T as an indicator strain. The untreated sample was used as a control.

3.7 Statistical analysis

All experiment were done in triplicate and reported as the mean \pm standard deviation (SD). Results was analyzed by ANOVA (Analysis of variance) by SPSS 22.0 software. Duncan's Multiple Range Test (DMRT) was used for comparison for mean values at a significant level of P \leq 0.05.



CHAPTER IV RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

4.1 Sample collection and isolation

Ninety strains were obtained from various sources in Thailand (Table 5). They were isolated from fermented mussels (49 strains), fermented fish (25 strains), fermented pork (15 strains), bark of *Tamarindus indica*. (1 strain).

Sample	Location	Strain no.	Total
Fermented	Samutprakarn	LM1-1, LM1-2,	5
mussels (Hoi-		LM2-1, LM2-2,	
dong)		LM2-3	
	Bangkok	LM3-1, LM3-2,	16
		LM4-1, LM4-2,	
		LM16-1, LM16-2,	
		LM16-3, LM17-2,	
		LM17-3, LM17-4,	
	O CONTRACT	LM17-5, LM17-6,	
		LM17-7, LM18-2,	
		LM18-3, LM18-4	
	Rayong	LM5-1, LM5-2,	4
		LM6-1, LM6-2	
	Samutsongkhram	LM7-1SP, LM7-2S,	8
		LM7-2-2B, LM7-3,	
		LM8-2, LMK9-1,	
		LMK9-2L, LMK9-3	
	Samutsakhon	LM10-1M, LM10-	5
		2M, LM10-3M,	
		LMK11-2, LMK11-	
		3	
	Nakhonpathom	LM12-1, LM12-2,	4

Table 5 Sample, location, strain number and number of strains

Sample	Location	Strain no.	Total
		LM13-1, LM13-3	
	Chonburi	LM14-1, LM14-2,	7
		LM15-1P, LM15-2,	
		LM15-2A, LM15-	
		2B, LM15-3	

Total strains isolated from Thai fermented mussel (Hoi-dong)49



Sample	Location	Strain no.	Total
Fermented fish	Nakhon Si	PD1-1, PD1-2, PD2-1,	
(pla-paeng-daeng)	Thammarat	PD2-2, PD3-1, PD3-2,	10
		PD4-1, PD4-2, PD5-1,	
		PD5-2	
	Songkhla	PD6-1, PD6-2, PD6-3,	11
		PD7-1, PD7-2, PD8-1,	
		PD8-2, PD9-1, PD9-2,	
		PD10-1, PD10-2	
	Satul	PD11-1, PD11-2,	4
		PD12-1, PD12-2	
Total strains isolate	ed from Thai fermented	d fish (pla-paeng-daeng)	25
Fermented pork	Bangkok	NH1-1, NH1-2, NH1-	7
(Nham)		3, NH1-4, NH1-5,	
		NH1-6, NH1-7	
	Pathumthani	NH2-1, NH2-2, NH2-	8
	Section A read	3, NH2-4, NH2-5A,	
		NH2-6, NH2-6A,	
	จหาลงกรณ์มหา	NH2-7C	
Total strai	ins isolated from Thai f	fermented pork (Nham)	15
Bark of	Chiang Mai	BCM23-1	1
Tamarindus indica			
Total s	strain isolated from bar	rk of Tamarindus indica	1
	,	Total number of strains	90

Table 5 Sample, location, strain number and number of strains

4.2 Identification

4.2.1 LAB from fermented mussel (*hoi-dong*)

Forty-nine strains were isolated from Thai fermented mussel (Hoi-dong) samples from various Thai provinces (Table 5). All strains were Gram-positive, catalase-negative, and facultatively anaerobic. They did not reduce nitrate. They belonged to the members of genera *Companilactobacillus*, *Lentilactobacillus*,

Lactiplantibacillus, *Lacticaseibacillus*, *Pediococcus*, *Enterococcus*, *Lactococcus* and *Leuconostoc*, and they were divided into 8 Groups when the hierarchical cluster was analyzed based on their phenotypic characteristics, and the 16S rRNA gene sequence similarity of the representative strains was determined (Figure 6 and Table 6).

Group I included ten rod-shaped strains (LM15-2A, LM16-2, LM10-2M, LM15-2B, LM18-3, LM7-1SP, LM7-2S, LM10-3M, LM10-1M and LM15-3). They did not produced gas from glucose. They grew at pH 3, in 8% NaCl, at 15°C and 45°C but did not grow at and pH 9.0. They hydrolyzed arginine. The strains contained *meso*-DAP in the cell wall. They produced D-lactic acid. All strains did not produce acid from arabinose, cellobiose, lactose, mannitol, melibiose, raffinose, rhamnose and sorbitol. The representative strains in this group showed 99.56% to 100% 16S rRNA gene sequence similarity to *Companilactobacillus formosensis* S215^T (Figure 6). Therefore, they were identified as *Companilactobacillus formosensis* (Zheng et al., 2020). Their differential phenotypic characteristics are presented in Table 6.

Group II included eight rod-shaped strains (LM17-6, LM17-7, LM17-2, LM17-5, LM17-4, LMK9-3, LM7-3, and LM18-4). They produced gas from glucose. They grew at pH 3 and 9, 15°C and 45 °C and in 8% NaCl. The strains did not have *meso*-DAP in the cell wall. They produced DL-lactic acid. All strains did not produce acid from lactose, mannose, rhamnose and salicin. They could hydrolyze arginine. The representative strains in this group showed 99.81% to 99.93% 16S rRNA gene sequence similarity to *Lentilactobacillus buchneri* JCM 1115T (Figure 6). Therefore, they were identified as *Lentilactobacillus buchneri* (Zheng et al., 2020). Their differential phenotypic characteristics are presented in Table 6

Group III included seventeen rod-shaped stains (LM16-1, LM6-1, LM7-2-2B, LM15-1P, LM6-2, LM14-1, LM14-2, LM15-2, LM12-1, LM18-2, LMK11-2, LM12-2, LM2-3, LM3-2, LM3-1, LM16-3, LMK11-3). They did not produce gas from glucose. They grew at pH 3 and in 8% NaCl. The strains contained *meso*-DAP in the cell wall. They produced DL-lactic acid. The representative strains in this group showed 99.78% to 100% 16S rRNA gene sequence similarity to *Lactiplantibacillus plantarum* subsp. *plantarum* ATCC 14917^T (Figure 6). Therefore, they were identified as *Lactiplantibacillus plantarum* subsp. *plantarum* subsp. *plantarum* (Zheng et al., 2020). Their differential phenotypic characteristics are presented in Table 6.

Group IV included one rod-shaped strains (LM1-1). They did not produce gas from glucose. They grew at pH 3 and, 15°C and 45 °C and in 6% and 8% NaCl but did not grow at pH 9. The strains did not have *meso*-DAP in the cell wall. They produced L-lactic acid. They did not produce acid from aesculin. It hydrolyzed arginine. The representative strain in this group showed 100% 16S rRNA gene sequence similarity to *Lacticaseibacillus rhamnosus* JCM 1136^T (Figure 6). Therefore, it was identified as *Lacticaseibacillus rhamnosus* (Zheng et al., 2020).

Group V included six tetracoccal strains (LMK9-1, LM13-1, LM17-3, LM13-3, LM5-2, and LM5-1). They did not produce gas from glucose. They grew at pH 3 and, 15°C, and in 8% NaCl but did not grow at pH 9. The strains did not have *meso*-DAP in the cell wall. They produced DL-lactic acid. The representative strains in this group included LMK9-1, LM13-1, LM17-3, LM13-3, which showed 99.86% to 100% 16S rRNA gene sequence similarity to *Pediococcus pentosaceus* DSM 20336^T (Figure 6), and isolate LM5-1 showed 99.93% 16S rRNA gene sequence similarity to *Pediococcus acidilactici* DSM 20284^T (Figure 6). Their differential phenotypic characteristics are presented in Table 6.

Group VI included four coccal strains (LM4-1, LM4-2, LM1-2 and LM2-1). They did not produce gas from glucose. They grew at pH 3 and 9, 15°C and 45°C, and in 6% and 8% NaCl. The isolates did not have *meso*-DAP in the cell wall. They produced L-lactic acid. All strains did not produce acid from arabinose. Variable acid production was found in galactose, mannitol, melibiose, raffinose, rhamnose, salicin, sorbitol, sucrose, trehalose, xylose and aesculin. They hydrolyzed arginine. The representative strain LM4-1 and LM4-2 showed 100% 16S rRNA gene sequence similarity to *Enterococcus thailandicus* DSM 21767^T (Figure 6), strain LM1-2 showed 100% 16S rRNA gene sequence similarity to *Enterococcus thailandicus* 99.63% 16S rRNA gene sequence similarity (Table 6) to *Enterococcus durans* NBRC 100479^T (Figure 6).

Group VII included two coccal strains (LM2-2 and LM8-2). They did not produce gas from glucose. They grew at pH 3 and 9, 15°C, and in 6% but did not grow at 45°C, pH 9 and in 8% NaCl. They produced L-lactic acid. All strains did not produce acid from raffinose, rhamnose, sorbitol and aesculin. They hydrolyzed arginine. The representative strain LM2-2 showed 100% 16S rRNA gene sequence similarity to *Lc. lactis* subsp. *lactis* JCM 5805^{T} (Figure 6), and strain LM8-2 showed 99.93% 16S rRNA gene sequence similarity to *Lc. lactis* subsp. *hordniae* NBRC 100931^T (Figure 6) and they were identified as *Lc. lactis*.

Group VIII included one coccal strain (LMK9-2L). They produced gas from glucose. They grew at pH 9, 15°C and 45°C, and in 6% but did not grow at pH 3 and in 8% NaCl. The isolates did not have *meso*-DAP in the cell wall. They produced D-lactic acid. All strains did not produce acid from cellobiose, mannitol, rhamnose, sorbitol, trehalose and aesculin. They did not hydrolyze arginine. The representative strain LMK9-2L showed 99.71% 16S rRNA gene sequence similarity to *Leuconostoc lactis* JCM 6123^T (Figure 6) and was identified as *Leuconostoc lactis*.

Table 6 Phenotypic characteristics of strains

Characteristics	Ι	II	III	IV	V	VI	VII	VIII
No. of strain	10	8	/17	1	6	4	2	1
Cell shape	Rods	Rods	Rods	Rods	Tetracocci	Cocci	Cocci	Cocci
		////	AO			in	in	in
					16	chains	chain	chains
Gas from glucose	-	+///	(),0) - 2(\$1		/// · -	-	-	+
Growth in 6% NaCl	+	4 //	+	÷.	+	+	+	+
Growth in 8% NaCl	+	+10	(control)	o taaaa	+	+	-	-
Growth at pH 3	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	-
рН 9		+	+ (-5)			+	+	+
Growth at 15 °C	+ 🔇	+	+	+		+	+	+
45 °C	+ \	+	+(-1)	+	- (+1)	+	-	+
Arginine hydrolysis	+	+	+ (-4)	+	- (+1)	+	+	-
Acid from:								
L-Arabinose	-ลาง	กสงก	เรณ์ม	หาริท	ยาสัย	-	+	+
D-Cellobiose	_ 9	-(+1)	+	+	+	+	w1	-
Fructose	C+		icita p	M + M	VEDTITV	+	+	+
D-Galactose	+	Ŧ	+	Ŧ	Ŧ	+ (-1)	+	+
D-Glucose	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
D-Lactose	-	-	+	+	+ (-1)	+	+	+
D-Mannose	+	-	+	+	+	+	+	+
D-Maltose	w5	+	+	+	+ (-1)	+	+	+
D-Mannitol	-	-(+1)	+(-1)	+	- (+1)	+(-1)	+	-
D-Melibiose	-	+	+(-1)	+	w3	+(-1)	w1	+
D-Raffinose	-	w4	+(-1)	+	w3	+(-1)	-	+
L-Rhamnose	-	-	+(-1)	+	- (+2)	w2	-	-
D-Ribose	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Salicin	+	-	+	+	+	+(-1)	+	+
D-Sorbitol	-	- (+1)	+(-2)	+	- (+1)	+(-1)	-	-
D-Sucrose	+	+(-3)	+	+	+ (-1)	+(-1)	w1	+
D-Trehalose	+ (-4)	+	+	+	+	+(-1)	+	-
D-Xylose	+(-2)	+	+	+	+	+(-1)	+	+
Aesculin	+	+	+ (-2)	-	+	+ (-1)	-	-
meso-DAP	+	-	+	-	-	-	-	-
Isomer of lactic acid	D	DL	DL	L	DL	L	L	D

+, positive reaction; -, negative reaction; w, weakly positive. Numbers in parentheses indicate the number of strains showing the reaction

From these findings, *C. formosensis*, *L. buchneri*, *L. plantarum* subsp. plantarum, *L. rhamnosus*; *P. pentosaceus* and *P. acidilactici*; *En. thailandicus*, *En. hirae* and *En. durans*; *Lc. lactis* subsp. *lactis*, *Lc. lactis* subsp. *hordinae*, and *Len. lactis* strains were distributed in Thai fermented mussel (*Hoi-dong*).





Figure 6 Neighbor-joining tree based on 16S rRNA gene of the representative strains from *hoi-dong*

Twenty-five strains were isolated from Thai fermented fish (*pla-paeng-daeng*) samples from various Thai provinces (Table 5). All strains were Gram-positive, catalase-negative, and facultatively anaerobic. They did not reduce nitrate. They were belonged to the members of genera *Lactiplantibacillus*, *Limosilactobacillus*, *Companilactobacillus*, and *Enterococcus*, and they were divided into 7 Groups when the hierarchical cluster was analyzed based on their phenotypic characteristics, and the 16S rRNA gene sequence similarity of the representative isolates was determined (Figure 7 and Table 7).

Group I included six rod-shaped strains (PD3-1, PD6-2, PD11-1, PD8-1, PD9-2 and PD6-1). They did not produce gas from glucose. They grew at pH 3 and 9, in 6% and 8% NaCl, at 15°C but did not grow at 45°C. They did not hydrolyze arginine. The strains contained *meso*-DAP in the cell wall. They produced DL-lactic acid. Variable acid production was found in arabinose, galactose, melibiose, raffinose, and ribose. The representative strains in this group showed 99.71% to 100% 16S rRNA gene sequence similarity to *Lactiplantibacillus pentosus* DSM 20314^T (Figure 7). Therefore, they were identified as *Lactiplantibacillus pentosus*; their differential phenotypic characteristics are presented in Table 7.

Group II included one rod-shaped strain (PD9-1). It did not produce gas from glucose. It grew at pH 3 and 9, 15 °C and 45 °C, and in 6% and 8% NaCl. It contained *meso*-DAP in the cell wall. It produced DL-lactic acid. It did not produce acid from aesculin. It could not hydrolyze arginine. The representative strain in this group showed 99.85% 16S rRNA gene sequence similarity to *Lactiplantibacillus argentoratensis* DSM 16365^T (Figure 7) (Zheng et al., 2020). Therefore, it was identified as *Lactiplantibacillus argentoratensis*; its phenotypic characteristics are presented in Table 7.

Group III included two rod-shaped strains (PD10-1 and PD8-2). They produced gas from glucose. They grew at pH 3 and in 8% NaCl but did not grow at pH 9. The strains did not contain *meso*-DAP in the cell wall. They produced DL-lactic acid. They could hydrolyze arginine. All strains did not produce acid from cellobiose, galactose, lactose, mannose, mannitol, raffinose, rhamnose, salicin, sorbitol, trehalose, and aesculin. The representative strains in this group showed 99.49% 16S rRNA gene sequence similarity to *Limosilactobacillus fermentum* CECT 562^{T} (Figure 7) (Zheng et al., 2020). Therefore, they were identified as *Limosilactobacillus fermentum*; their differential phenotypic characteristics are presented in Table 7.

Group IV included four rod-shaped strains (PD12-2, PD7-1, PD6-3 and PD4-2). They did not produce gas from glucose. They grew at pH 3 and pH 9, 15°C and 45 °C and in 6% and 8% NaCl. The strains did not have *meso*-DAP in the cell wall. They produced DL-lactic acid. They did not produce acid from cellobiose, lactose, maltose, mannitol, melibiose, rhamnose, ribose, and trehalose. Variable acid production was found in xylose and aesculin. They hydrolyzed arginine. The representative strains in this group showed 99.63% to 99.71% 16S rRNA gene sequence to *Companilactobacillus pabuli* NFFJ11^T (Figure 7) (Zheng et al., 2020). Therefore, they were identified as *Companilactobacillus pabuli*; their differential phenotypic characteristics are presented in Table 7.

Group V included five rod-shaped strains (PD11-2, PD12-1, PD5-2, PD7-2, and PD10-2). They did not produce gas from glucose. They grew at pH 3 and pH 9, 15°C, and 45 °C and in 6% and 8% NaCl. They hydrolyzed arginine. The strains did not have meso-DAP in the cell wall. They produced L-lactic acid. They did not produce acid from arabinose, cellobiose, lactose, mannitol, melibiose, raffinose, rhamnose, ribose, sorbitol, trehalose, and xylose. Variable acid production was found in maltose, salicin, sucrose and aesculin. The representative strains in this group 99.77% 99.85% showed to 16S rRNA gene sequence similarity to Companilactobacillus farciminis KCTC 3681^T (Figure 7). Therefore, they were identified as Companilactobacillus farciminis; their differential phenotypic characteristics are presented in Table 7.

Group VI included six rod-shaped strains (PD5-1, PD4-1, PD1-1, PD1-2, PD2-2 and PD2-1). They did not produce gas from glucose. They grew at pH 3 and 9, 15°C and 45°C, and in 6% and 8% NaCl. They variably hydrolyzed arginine. The strains did not have *meso*-DAP in the cell wall. They produced L-lactic acid. All strains did not produce acid from cellobiose, maltose, mannitol, melibiose, raffinose, rhamnose, ribose, sorbitol, trehalose, and xylose. Variable acid production was found in arabinose, galactose, lactose and aesculin. The representative strains showed 100% 16S rRNA gene sequence similarity to *Companilactobacillus futsaii* JCM 17355^T

(Figure 7). Therefore, they were identified as *Companilactobacillus futsaii*; their differential phenotypic characteristics are presented in Table 7.

Group VII included one coccal strain (PD3-2). It did not produce gas from glucose. They grew at pH 3 and 9, 15°C and 45°C, and in 6% and 8% NaCl. It hydrolyzed arginine. The strain did not have *meso*-DAP in the cell wall. It produced L-lactic acid. The isolate did not produce acid from raffinose, rhamnose, sorbitol, sucrose, and xylose. The representative strain PD3-2 showed 99.54% 16S rRNA gene sequence similarity to *Enterococcus lactis* BT159^T (Figure 7). Therefore, it was identified as *Enterococcus lactis*; its differential phenotypic characteristics are presented in Table 7.

Characteristics	Ι	II	III	IV	V	VI	VII
No. of strain	6	116	2	4	5	6	1
Cell shape	Rods	Rods	Rods	Rods	Rods	Rods	Cocci in chains
Gas from glucose	- /	// /- "A	A +	()) (B	-	-	-
Growth in 6% NaCl	+	//	() ()	+	+	+	+
Growth in 8% NaCl	+ 🖉	+	+	+	+	+	+
Growth at pH 3	+	1 Stance	() reteach	+ 🕅	+	+	+
pH 9	+	+		+	+	+	+
Growth at 15 °C	± -	SA B	V C+C	s +	+	+	+
45 °C		+	+	\rightarrow	+	+	+
Arginine hydrolysis	2A	-	+	+	+	+(-1)	-
Acid from:							
L-Arabinose	+(-2)	+	+	+	-	-(+2)	+
D -Cellobiose	จนาล	งกรณ์	้แ หา วิเ	งยาลัย	-	-	+
Fructose	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
D-Galactose	+(-2)	outro	DN-IIN	IVE Dei	TV +	-(+2)	+
D-Glucose			+	+	+	+	+
D-Lactose	+	+	-	-	-	-(+1)	+
D-Mannose	+	+	-	+	+	+	+
D-Maltose	+	+	+	-	-(+2)	-	+
D-Mannitol	+	+	-	-	-	-	+
D-Melibiose	+(-2)	+	+	-	-	-	+
D-Raffinose	+(-3)	+	-	+	-	-	-
L-Rhamnose	+	+	-	-	-	-	-
D-Ribose	+(-1)	+	+	-	-	-	+
Salicin	+	+	-	+	+(-2)	+	+
D-Sorbitol	+	+	-	+	-	-	-
D-Sucrose	+	+	+	+	-(+1)	+	-
D-Trehalose	+	+	-	-	-	-	+
D-Xylose	+	+	+	+(-2)	-	-	-
Aesculin	+	-	-	+(-2)	-(+1)	-(+1)	+
meso-DAP	+	+	-	-	-	-	-
Isomer of lactic acid	DL	DL	DL	DL	L	L	L

 Table 7 Phenotypic characteristics of strains

+, positive reaction; -, negative reaction. Numbers in parentheses indicate the number of strains showing the reaction

In Thai fermented fish (*pla-paeng-daeng*), this result provided that the distribution of LAB mainly was belong to the *C. futsaii*, *C. farciminis*, *C. pabuli*, *L. pentosus*, *L. argentoratensis*, *L. fermentum*, and *En. lactis*.



Figure 7 Neighbor-joining tree based on 16S rRNA gene of the representative strains from *pla-paeng-daeng*

4.2.3 LAB from fermented pork (*nham*)

Fifteen strains were isolated from Thai fermented pork (*Nham*) samples from various Thai provinces (Table 5). All strains were Gram-positive, catalase-negative, and facultatively anaerobic. They did not reduce nitrate. They belonged to the members of genera *Lactiplantibacillus*, *Lacticaseibacillus*, *Pediococcus*, and *Lactococcus*, they were divided into 5 Groups when the hierarchical cluster was analyzed based on their phenotypic characteristics, and the 16S rRNA gene sequence similarity of the representative strains were determined (Figure 8, and Table 8).

Group I included four rod strains (NH1-2, NH1-5, NH2-1, and NH2-2). They did not produce gas from glucose. They grew at pH 3 and 9, 15°C, and in 6 % and 8% NaCl but did not grow at 45°C. They could not hydrolyze arginine, but variably produce acid from rhamnose and aesculin. The strains contained *meso*-DAP in the cell wall. They produced DL-lactic acid. The representative strains in this group included showed 99.71% to 100% 16S rRNA gene sequence similarity to *Lactiplantibacillus pentosus* DSM 20314^T (Zheng et al., 2020) (Figure 8). Their phenotypic characteristics are presented in Table 8. Thus, they were identified as *L. pentosus*.

Group II included two rod strains (NH1-1 and NH2-4). They did not produce gas from glucose. They grew at pH 3 and 9, 15°C and 45°C, and in 6 % and 8% NaCl. They could not hydrolyze arginine. The strains contained *meso*-DAP in the cell wall. They produced DL-lactic acid. The representative strains in this group included showed 99.93% to 100% 16S rRNA gene sequence similarity to *Lactiplantibacillus argentoratensis* DSM 16365^T (Zheng et al., 2020) (Figure 8). Their phenotypic characteristics are presented in Table 8. Thus, they were identified as *L. argentoratensis*.

Group III contained one rod strain (NH2-5A). They did not produce gas from glucose. They grew at pH 3 and 9, 15°C and 45°C, and in 6 % and 8% NaCl. It did not hydrolyze arginine and did not produce acid from aesculin. The strains did not have *meso*-DAP in the cell wall. They produced L-lactic acid. The representative strain in this group included showed 99.79% 16S rRNA gene sequence similarity to *Lacticaseibacillus paracasei* subsp. *tolerans* JCM 1171^T (Zheng et al., 2020) (Figure 8). Its phenotypic characteristics are presented in Table 8. Thus, it was identified as *L. paracasei* subsp. *tolerans*.

Group IV included seven tetracoccal strains (NH1-3, NH1-4, NH1-6, NH1-7, NH2-3, NH2-6 and NH2-6A). They did not produce gas from glucose. They grew at pH 3 and 9, 15°C, and in 6 % and 8% NaCl but did not grow at 45°C. They could variably hydrolyze arginine. The strains did not have *meso*-DAP in the cell wall. They produced DL-lactic acid. The representative strains in this group included showed 99.51% to 100% 16S rRNA gene sequence similarity to *Pediococcus pentosaceus* DSM 20336^T (Figure 8). Their differential phenotypic characteristics are presented in Table 8. Thus, they were identified as *P. pentosaceus*.

Characteristics	Ι	II	III	IV	V
No. of strain	4/1	2	1	7	1
Cell shape	Rods	Rods	Rods	Tetradcocci	cocci
Gas from glucose	////ke	34-11/1		-	-
Growth in 6% NaCl	//+ 🚍		+	+	+
Growth in 8% NaCl	A G		+	+	+
Growth at pH 3	+	+	+	+	+
pH 9	/		+	+	+
Growth at 15 °C	+	t t	+	+	+
45 °C	Record	Another ()	+	+	-
Arginine hydrolysis	200 Carrier	and the second s	-	+(-2)	+
Acid from:	Ed 32	ALLER	-		
L-Arabinose	+	+	+2)	+	+
D-Cellobiose	+	+	+	+	+
Fructose	+	+	+	+	+
D-Galactose	+	+	+	+	+
D-Glucose	งกรณ์เ	มหควิท	ายาลัย	. +	+
D-Lactose	+	+	+	+	+
D-Mannose	леко	RN + JN	IVFRS	TY +	+
D-Maltose	+	+	+	+	+
D-Mannitol	+	+	+	-	+
D-Melibiose	+	+	+	- (+1)	-
D-Raffinose	+	+	+	-(+1)	-
L-Rhamnose	+(-1)	+	+	+(-2)	-
D-Ribose	+	+	+	+	+
Salicin	+	+	+	+	+
D-Sorbitol	+	+	+	-(+1)	-
D-Sucrose	+	+	+	+(-1)	+
D-Trehalose	+	+	+	+	+
D-Xylose	+	+	+	+	+
Aesculin	+(-1)	+	-	-(+3)	+
meso-DAP	+	+	-	-	-
Isomer of lactic acid	DL	DL	L	DL	L

 Table 8 Phenotypic characteristics of strains

+, positive reaction; -, negative reaction.. Numbers in parentheses indicate the number of strains showing the reaction

Group V included one coccal strain (NH2-7C). They did not produce gas from glucose. They grew at pH 3, 15°C, and in 6% and 8% NaCl but did not grow at 45°C, and pH 9. They produced L-lactic acid. The strain did not produce acid from melibiose, raffinose, rhamnose, and sorbitol. They hydrolyzed arginine. The representative strain NH2-7C showed 99.93% 16S rRNA gene sequence similarity to *Lc. lactis* subsp. *lactis* JCM 5805^T (Figure 8). Thus, it was identified as *Lc. lactis* subsp. *lactis*.





Figure 8 Neighbor-joining tree based on 16S rRNA gene of the representative strains from *nham*

In Thai fermented pork (nham), LAB mainly was belonged to L. pentosus, L. argentoratensis, L. paracasei subsp. tolerans, P. pentosaceus, and Lc. lactis subsp. lactis.

4.2.4 LAB from tree bark of *Tamarindus indica* Description of *Terrilactibacillus tamarindi* sp. nov.

Terrilactibacillus tamarindi (ta.ma.rin'di., N.L. gen. n. tamarindi of *Tamarindus indica* which the type strain was isolated). Cells of strain BCM23- 1^{T} were Gram-stain-positive, catalase-positive, facultatively anaerobic, endosporeforming rods $(0.5-0.9\times4.3-5.8\mu\text{m})$ as shown in Figure 9 (A). Colonies on MRS agar plates were circular, convex and white (1.2-1.3 mm in diameter). D-Lactic acid was produced from glucose. Peritrichous flagella were observed as shown in Figure 9 (B). The strain showed negative results for oxidase activity, hydrolysis of arginine, casein, gelatin and starch, and nitrate reduction. Growth was observed at 20-45 °C (optimum, 30 °C), at pH from pH 3.5 to 9.0 (optimum, pH 7.0) and with 1–4% (w/v) NaCl, but no growth was observed at 10 °C. In API 50 CH tests, acid is positive for D-glucose, D-fructose, inulin, maltose, D-mannose, sucrose, trehalose, raffinose, turanose, potassium gluconate (weak), potassium 2-ketogluconate (weak) and potassium 5ketogluconate (weak), but negative for glycerol, erythritol, D-galactose, D-arabinose, L-arabinose, D-ribose, D-xylose, L-xylose, D-adonitol, methyl-\beta-D-xylopyranoside, L-sorbose, L-rhamnose, dulcitol, inositol, D-mannitol, D-sorbitol, methyl-a-Dmannopyranoside, methyl-α-D-glucopyranoside, N-acetylglucosamine, amygdalin, arbutin, aesculin, salicin, cellobiose, lactose, melibiose, melezitose, starch, glycogen, xylitol, gentiobiose, D-lyxose, D-tagatose, D-fucose, L-fucose, D-arabitol and Larabitol. Additionally, in API ZYM assays, positive for acid phosphatase and naphthol-AS-BI-phosphohydrolase but negative for alkaline phosphatase, βgalactosidase, β-glucosidase, N-acetyl-βglucosaminidase, esterase lipase (C8), lipase (C14), valine arylamidase, cystine arylamidase, trypsin, α -chymotrypsin, β glucuronidase, α -mannosidase and α -fucosidase. Weak enzymatic activities are found for esterase (C4), leucine arylamidase, α -galactosidase and α -glucosidase. The different phenotypic characteristics are described in Table 9.


Figure 9 Scanning electron micrograph of strain BCM23-1^T grown on GYP agar at 30°C for 7 days (A) and Photomicrograph of terminal endospores (A) and flagella of strain BCM23-1 (B)

Table 9 Differential characteristics of strain BCM23-1^T and its related type strain Strains: 1, BCM23-1^T; 2, *Terrilactibacillus laevilacticus* NK26-11^T. All data were obtained in this study. +, Positive; w, weakly positive; –, negative.

	10	
Characteristics	1	2
Maximum NaCl for growth (%)	14ลัย	3
pH range for growth	3.5-9.0	3.5-8.0
Acid production from:		
N-Acetylglucosamine	-	+
D-Galactose	-	W
Inulin	+	-
D-Lyxose	-	W
Melezitose	-	W
Melibiose	-	W
Methyl-α-D-glucopyranoside	-	+
Potassium-5-ketogluconate	W	-

Table 9 Differential characteristics of strain BCM23-1^T and its related type strain

Characteristics	1	2
Enzyme activity:		
Acid phosphatase	+	W
Esterase (C4)	W	-
α-Galactose	W	-
α-Glucosidase	W	-
Napthol-AS-BI-phosphohydrolase	+	W

Strains: 1, BCM23-1^T; 2, *Terrilactibacillus laevilacticus* NK26-11^T. All data were obtained in this study. +, Positive; w, weakly positive; –, negative.

The cell-wall peptidoglycan was the directly crosslinked *meso*-diaminopimelic acid type A1 γ as reported in the family *Bacillaceae* (Schleifer & Kandler, 1972) and *Sporolactobacillaceae* (Chang & Stackebrandt, 2014; Schumann, 2011). MK-7 was the major menaquinone (100%), which was in accordance with *T. laevilacticus* NK26-11^T (Prasirtsak et al., 2016). Strain BCM23-1^T contained major fatty acids (>10% of the total fatty acids) C_{18:1} ω 9*c* (25.6%), anteiso-C_{17:0} (23.6%) and anteiso-C_{15:0} (22.6%) when cultivated in MRS broth and anteiso-C_{17:0} (48.7%), anteiso-C_{15:0} (24.5%) and iso-C_{16:0} (13.2%) when cultivated on GYP agar plate. Nonetheless, there were some differences between strains BCM23-1^T and NK26-11^T in the amounts of C_{16:0}, iso-C_{16:0} and anteiso-C_{15:0}, as shown in Table 10. Predominant polar lipids were diphosphatidylglycerol and phosphatidylglycerol, with minor amounts of an unidentified aminophospholipid, an unidentified phospholipid and an unidentified lipid (Figure 10).



Figure 10 Polar lipid profile of strain BCM23-1^T on a two dimensional thin-layer chromatogram

Polar lipids were detected with ninhydrin (a), molybdenum blue (b), anisaldehyde (c) andphosphomolybdic acid (d).

Abbreviation: DPG, diphosphatidylglycerol; PG, phosphatidglycerol; AL1, unidentified aminophospholipid; PL1, unidentified phospholipid; L1, unidentified lipid.

CHULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY

Table 10 Cellular fatty acid composition of strain BCM23-1^T and its closely related type strain

Strains: 1, BCM23-1^T; 2, *Terrilactibacillus laevilacticus* NK26-11^T. Values are percentages of total cellular fatty acids. –, Not present. Fatty acids amounting to less than 0.5 % in all strains were omitted. Major components are indicated in bold type. All data were determined in this study.

Strain	111124	1 2		2
Growth medium	MRS	GYP	MRS	GYP
Straight-chain fatty acids:	8	>		
C _{12:0}		<u>_</u>	-	1.4
C _{14:0}	0.5	1.0	0.7	2.54
C _{16:0}	9.0	2.9	14.0	7.0
C _{18:0}	6 1.5	1.7	1.6	2.0
Unsaturated fatty acids:				
C _{15:1} <i>ω</i> 5 <i>c</i>		0.7	-	-
iso-C _{17:1} $\omega 5c$	(C)	0.7	-	-
C _{18:1} <i>w</i> 9 <i>c</i>	25.6	1.0	25.0	1.4
Branched fatty acids:		X		
iso-C _{14:0}	0.6	0.5	0.7	-
iso-C _{15:0}	1.5	1.4	1.5	0.8
iso-C _{16:0}	6.9	13.2	17.1	21.2
iso-C _{17:0} GHULALONGK	0RN 0.8	1.8	0.8	1.7
iso-C _{18:0}	-	-	-	0.8
iso-C _{19:0}	1.0	-	0.9	-
C _{17:0} 2OH	1.5	-	1.7	-
anteiso-C _{15:0}	22.6	24.5	10.7	9.7
anteiso-C _{17:0}	23.6	48.7	19.8	50.0
anteiso-C _{19:0}	-	0.5	-	-
Summed feature 3*	0.6	-	0.7	-
Summed feature 8 [†]	2.8	-	2.8	-

*Summed feature 3 consisted of $C_{16:1} \omega 7c$ and/or $C_{16:1} \omega 6c$

†Summed feature 8 consisted of $C_{18:1}\omega7c$ and/or $C_{18:1}\omega6c$.

Based on 16s rRNA gene sequence of strain BCM23-1^T (1,436 bp), the strain BCM23-1^T was closely related to *Terrilactibacillus laevilacticus* NK26-11^T (98.31%). The phylogenetic analysis based on the neighbour-joining (NJ) algorithm demonstrated that strain BCM23-1^T formed a cluster with the genus *Terrilactibacillus* (Figure 11) based on its 16S rRNA gene sequence (1,436 bp). In addition, the topologies of phylogenetic trees built using the ML and MP methods also supported and formed a stable clade. Strain BCM23-1^T was located in a phylogenetic clade together with recognized species and was most closely related to *T. laevilacticus* NK26-11^T with 98.31% similarity.



Figure 11 Neighbor-joining tree based on almost-complete 16S rRNA gene sequences showing relationships between strain BCM23-1^T and related species of the genus Terrilactibacillus. Asterisks and sharps (*,*) indicate that the corresponding nodes was also recovered in maximum-likelihood and maximum-parsimony trees, respectively.

The genome sequence of strain BCM23-1^T (WNHB00000000) obtained from this study was 3,249,523bp in size and a genome sequence of *T. laevilacticus* NK26-11^T (VDCY0000000) obtained from GenBank was 3,366,908 bp in size. The

average *in silico* DNA G+C contents of BCM23-1^T and *T. laevilacticus* NK26-11^T are 37.1 and 36.8 mol%, respectively. The genomic features of strain BCM23-1^T and *T. laevilacticus* NK26-11^T are presented in Table 11. The ANIb and ANIm values of the draft genomes between strain BCM23-1^T and the closest type strain as *T. laevilacticus* NK26-11^T were 89.9 and 90.8%, respectively which are clearly lower than the thresholds of 95–96% for species delineation. The dDDH value of the draft genome between strain BCM23-1^T and the closest type strain, *T. laevilacticus* NK26-11^T, was 40.4% (C.I. 37.9–42.9%), which is lower than the cut-off value of 70% for species delineation, therefore supporting the proposal of strain BCM23-1^T representing a new species within the genus *Terrilactibacillus* (Chun et al., 2018; Goris et al., 2007;

Richter & Rosselló-Móra, 2009; Stackebrandt, 2006). A total of 3088 coding genes from the draft genome of strain BCM23-1^T were predicted by RAST. Circular genomic and the subsystem were constructed and shown in Figure 12.

 Table 11 Genomic statistics of strain BCM23-1^T and Terrilactibacillus laevilacticus

 NK26-11^T

Strains: 1, BCM23-1^T; 2, *Terrilactibacillus laevilacticus* NK26-11^T. In this study, genomic statistics of strain BCM23-1^T and *T. laevilacticus* NK26-11^T were analyzed by using RAST (www.rast.theseed.org).

	C		
Attribute	GHULALUNGKUKN	UNIVERSITY	2^*
Accession no.	WNHBO)0000000	VDCY0000000
Genome size (bp)	3,249,54	3	3,366,908
G+C content (mol	%) 37.1		36.8
Genome coverage	180x		80.2x
N50	112,416		294,859
Number of contigs	70		38
No. of coding seque	ences 3,088		3,183
No. of RNAs	68		69

^{*}Data obtained from GenBank.





The information is indicated as follows: open reading frames (ORFs) (blue), GC skew (+) (green), GC skew (-) (yellow), and GC content (pink) On the basis of phenotypic, chemotaxonomic and genotypic characteristics, as

well as draft genomic data, it is proposed that strain BCM23-1^T should be classified as a novel species in the genus *Terrilactibacillus*, for which the name *Terrilactibacillus tamarindi* sp. nov. is proposed. The type strain is BCM23-1^T (=LMG 31662^T=JCM 33748^T=TISTR 2841^T). The accession numbers for the 16S rRNA gene and draft genome sequences of the type strain are LC494102 and WNHB00000000, respectively.

4.3 Bile salt hydrolase activity

Bile salt hydrolase activity (BSH) activity has been considered a key associated with cholesterol-lowering activity and is also recognized as an additional criterion for the selecting probiotics (Miremadi et al., 2014). By deconjugating bile salts, BSH activity enhances bacterial growth and colonization in the gut (Máire Begley et al., 2006). Only 12 strains, eight strains of *L. plantarum* (LM6-1, LM6-2, LM7-2-2B, LM12-1, LM14-1, LM14-2, LM15-1P, and LM15-2), two strains of *L. pentosus* (PD3-1 and PD9-2), and one strain of *Lc. lactis* subsp. *lactis* NH2-7C demonstrated bile salt hydrolase activity by the formation of opaque white colonies. In addition, one strain of *En. lactis* PD3-2 demonstrated bile salt hydrolase activity by forming halos around colonies. The bile salt hydrolase activity is shown in Figure 13. Based on these findings, the formation of opaque white colonies or bile acid precipitates around the colonies were considered BSH activity (Dashkevicz & Feighner, 1989; Jayashree et al., 2014).



Figure 13 Bile salt hydrolase activity of selected strains on MRS agar supplemented with 0.5% taurodeoxycholic acid sodium salt (TDCA)

Based on RAST annotation database, the *bsh* gene encoding choloylglycine hydrolase was found in the LM14-2 and NH2-7C genome. The presence of BSH activity of strain and *Lc. lactis* subsp. *lactis* NH2-7C and *L. plantarum* LM14-2 was also supported by the *bsh* gene in the genomic annotation analysis (Table 19 and 25, and Figure 14). The BSH activity in LAB probiotic lowers serum cholesterol levels and makes them more resistant to bile salts (Noriega et al., 2006). Based on the screening, this research is consistent with several previous studies (Abushelaibi et al., 2017; Y. F. Liu et al., 2017). Furthermore, these findings might demonstrate that BSH-producing strains can also be found in non-human sources.



Figure 14 Determination BSH gene of strain NH2-7C and LM14-2 from RAST sever web-based tool

In the Guidelines for the Evaluation of Probiotics in Food issued by FAO/WHO, bile salt hydrolase activity relates to several desirable properties of probiotics, such as enhancing the gastrointestinal tolerance and adherence (Máire Begley et al., 2006; Joint, 2002). Furthermore, BSH activity has been recognized as an essential factor related to cholesterol-lowering effects (lower total and low-density lipoprotein (LDL cholesterol) (Jones et al., 2013), and it is also recognized as an additional criterion for the selection of probiotics and safety assurance (Miremadi et al., 2014). Conversely, the report of Máire Begley et al. (2006) reported that a high level of deconjugated bile may impair lipid digestion, disrupt normal intestinal conditions, induce gallstone formation, and may be further modified to carcinogenic secondary bile salts. After considering all the advantages and risks using the scientific evidence revealed above, this study suggested that the bile salt deconjugation property could be seen as desirable when the isolate could not modify the deconjugated bile into the harmful secondary bile products. Aside from the choloylglycine hydrolase, no genes associated with the secondary bile salts biosynthesis were discovered in strain LM14-2 and NH2-7C. This concludes the strain's bile salt deconjugation ability,

which could play vital role in the host digestive system. With regards to its inability to produce the harmful secondary bile products, this study considers LM14-2 and NH2-7C poses no safety issues from this property.

4.4 Cholesterol assimilation

Hypercholesterolemia is a risk factor for cardiovascular disease (CVD) that is the primary cause of mortality (Darwin R. Labarthe & Sandra B. Dunbar, 2012). Hence, reducing serum cholesterol levels is vital to preventing the disease. In this study, the selected strains exhibited that the percentage of cholesterol assimilation varied from 27.40% to 86.07% (Figure 15).



Figure 15 The cholesterol assimilation ability of selected strains

Data represent the mean \pm SD. The different alphabets mean significant difference (P \leq 0.05)

L. plantarum LM14-2 (86.07 \pm 5.03%) showed the highest cholesterol assimilation rate, followed by *L. plantarum* LM7-2-2B (67.40 \pm 2.00%), *L. plantarum* LM6-1 (67.40 \pm 3.46%), *L. plantarum* LM15-2 (67.40 \pm 6.93%), and *L. plantarum* LM15-1P (67.40 \pm 8.72%), *L. plantarum* LM6-2 (54.07 \pm 11.31%), *Lc. lactis* subsp. *lactis* NH2-7C (49.40 \pm 3.46%), *L. plantarum* LM14-1 (46.73 \pm 4.16%), *L. plantarum* LM12-1 (40.07 \pm 8.08%), *En. lactis* PD3-2 (37.40 \pm 9.17%), *L. pentosus* PD3-1 (28.07 \pm 5.03%), and *L. pentosus* PD9-2 (27.40 \pm 2.00%). Remarkably, *L. plantarum* LM14-2 showed the potential cholesterol ability similar as *L. rhamnosus* GG (81.40 \pm 4.00%). Hence, it could be concluded that the amount of cholesterol assimilated revealed a wide variation among strains. The capacity of cholesterol

assimilation observed in this study is consistent with the findings of various investigations (Miremadi et al., 2014; Shehata et al., 2016; Tomaro-Duchesneau et al., 2014). BSH and cholesterol assimilation activities are the cholesterol removal mechanisms and desirable characteristics of probiotics (Ishimwe et al., 2015). Probiotics can consume cholesterol for their metabolism (Bordoni et al., 2013). As a result, luminal cholesterol levels available for absorption are reduced.

4.5 Gastrointestinal transit tolerance

When probiotics are administered, they transit into the gastrointestinal tract (Han et al., 2021). To function as probiotics in the gastrointestinal system and perform their beneficial effect on the host, the microorganisms must be able to withstand the gastrointestinal condition. Therefore, the selected strains were determined the viability during gastrointestinal transit. The survival of selected strains after exposure to the simulated gastric condition and simulated small intestinal condition is shown in Table 12. The reduction of viable cells was observed through the incubation period in simulated gastric condition. The survival of selected strains was decreased by about 0.5-3.2 log cycle after incubation in simulated gastric condition at pH 3.0 for 3 h. In simulated gastric condition, the viability of *Lc. lactis* subsp. *lactis* NH2-7C was slightly decreased from 8.56 ± 0.07 to 8.05 ± 0.14 (log₁₀CFU/ml); while, the viability of *L. rhamnosus* GG was reduced from 9.38 ± 0.04 to 7.78 ± 0.18 (log₁₀CFU/ml) (Table 12).

CHULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY

Selected strains	Simulated gastric condition (log ₁₀ CFU/ml) ^a		Simulated intestinal condition (log ₁₀ CFU/ml) ^a			
	0 h	3 h	0 h	5 h		
L. plantarum LM6-1	8.93 ± 0.08	$6.52\pm 0.07^{*,**}$	5.95 ± 0.23	$4.60 \pm 0.21^{*}$		
L. plantarum LM6-2	9.12 ± 0.10	$7.66 \pm 0.22^{*}$	5.93 ± 0.29	$4.08\pm 0.04^{*,**}$		
L. plantarum LM7-2-2B	9.41 ± 0.05	$8.18\pm0.13^*$	6.79 ± 0.10	$4.55 \pm 0.13^{*}$		
L. plantarum LM12-1	9.16 ± 0.09	$7.52\pm0.07^*$	7.17 ± 0.07	$4.17 \pm 0.07^{*,**}$		
L. plantarum LM14-1	9.42 ± 0.02	$8.12\pm0.15^*$	6.59 ± 0.11	$4.22 \pm 0.65^{*}$		
L. plantarum LM14-2	9.44 ± 0.03	$7.93\pm0.08^*$	6.87 ± 0.11	$5.08 \pm 0.04^{*,**}$		
L. plantarum LM15-1P	9.39 ± 0.05	$7.89 \pm 0.26^{*}$	6.53 ± 0.54	$4.74 \pm 0.23^{*}$		
L. plantarum LM15-2	9.38 ± 0.06	$7.83\pm0.13^*$	5.98 ± 0.70	$3.76 \pm 0.14^{*,**}$		
L. pentosus PD3-1	9.40 ± 0.03	$7.85\pm0.33^*$	6.67 ± 0.19	$5.03 \pm 0.02^{*}$		
En. lactis PD3-2	9.29 ± 0.03	$6.01\pm 0.63^{*,**}$	5.31 ± 0.73	$3.33 \pm 0.54^{*,**}$		
L. pentosus PD9-2	9.06 ± 0.06	$7.76 \pm 0.15^{*}$	5.91 ± 0.75	$4.47 \pm 0.31^{*}$		
Lc. lactis subsp. lactis NH2-	8.56 ± 0.07	$8.05 \pm 0.14^{*}$	7.00 ± 0.15	$4.76 \pm 0.25^{*}$		
7C	Com					
L. rhamnosus GG	9.38 ± 0.04	$7.78\pm0.18^*$	6.68 ± 4.83	$4.83\pm0.13^{\ast}$		
a Dogulta indicata maan (C	D of these ind	lamon dont owno	minaant			

 Table 12 The viability during gastrointestinal transit of selected strains

^aResults indicate mean \pm SD of three independent experiment.

*, showed the significant difference of the comparison between initial time and gastric/small intestinal-emptying time (P \leq 0.05). **, showed the significant difference of the comparison between selected strains and *L. rhamnosus* GG (P \leq 0.05).

Subsequently, all selected strains were transited and incubated in small intestinal condition at pH 7 for 5 h. The viability of all selected strains showed a reduction of the log from 1.35 to 3 compared with the log CFU in intestinal condition at 0 h. Notably, the excellent viability of *L. plantarum* LM14-2 was potentially higher than the probiotic *L. rhamnosus* GG in this study. Furthermore, the viability of *L. pentosus* PD3-1 was similar to the probiotic *L. rhamnosus* GG.

This finding revealed that *L. plantarum* LM14-2 and *L. pentosus* PD3-1could retain viability when exposed to the gastrointestinal condition. Furthermore, the attractive viability of strain LM14-2 was supported by the *in silico* analysis of strain LM14-2 that demonstrated the essential genes involved in the stress responses, such as acid and bile salt (Table 25). These genes are vital in maintaining pH between intra- and extra-bacterial cytoplasm. Consequently, they could be the potential probiotic candidate.

4.6 Adhesion assay

Adhesion ability is essential for probiotics to colonize and provide beneficial effects (i.e., cholesterol assimilation and immunomodulation activity) (Guan et al., 2020; Krausova et al., 2019). Caco-2 cell line *in vitro* models for probiotic adherence

studies have been widely used to screen putative probiotic cultures (Bernet et al., 1994; Chauviere et al., 1992; Elo et al., 1991; Tuomola et al., 1999; Wang et al., 2008). The adhesion ability of selected strains is shown in Figure 16. *L. plantarum* LM14-2 (82.46%) showed the greatest adherence rate, followed by *L. plantarum* LM6-2 (76.49%), Adherence ability to Caco-2 cells of *L. plantarum* LM14-2 was significantly higher than those of *L. pentosus* PD3-1 (72.54%), *L. plantarum* LM15-2 (69.01%), *L. plantarum* LM6-1 (66.96%), *Lc. lactis* subsp. *lactis* NH2-7C (63.03%), *L. plantarum* LM7-2-2B (62.09%), *L. pentosus* PD9-2 (58.63%), *L. plantarum* LM14-1 (50.14%), *L. plantarum* LM15-1P (49.19%), *L. plantarum* LM12-1 (44.92%), and *En. lactis* PD3-2 (31.16%).

Remarkably, *L. plantarum* LM14-2 showed the adhesion ability with no statistically significant difference compared to *L. rhamnosus* GG (81.71%). From the *in silico* analysis of strain LM14-2 (Table 25), the great adhesion ability was also supported by the presence of potential genes encoding responsible for adhesion adhesive ability. The adhesion ability of selected strains in this study is consistent with earlier studies (Duary et al., 2011; García-Cayuela et al., 2014; Thamacharoensuk et al., 2017).



Figure 16 The adhesion ability of selected strains to Caco-2 cells

Furthermore, this research could indicate that the adhesion ability of selected strains to Caco-2 cells was strain-specific and varied within the same species (Duary et al., 2011). The adhesion of selected strains varies among strains, depending on the

Data represent the mean \pm SD. The different alphabets mean significant difference (P \leq 0.05)

cell surface properties such as hydrophobicity and extracellular protein profiles. These selected strains exhibited excellent capability and might be potential candidate probiotics for further *in vivo* studies to assess their extra health-promoting benefits because they could colonize in the gut.

4.7 Immunomodulation effects

The immunomodulatory effects of the selected strains are shown in Table 13 and Figure 17. For IL-12 induction in simulated intestinal condition (Caco-2 and RAW264.7 cells), *En. lactis* PD3-2 had the greatest ability to induce IL-12 production $(57.45 \pm 7.22 \text{ ng/mL})$, and followed by *L. plantarum* LM12-1 $(53.12 \pm 6.43 \text{ ng/mL})$ and *L. plantarum* LM15-1P $(51.78 \pm 4.72 \text{ ng/mL})$. Conversely, *L. plantarum* LM6-1 and *L. pentosus* PD3-1 showed the lowest inducibility of IL-12 at 7.15 ± 1.22 and $7.72 \pm 2.85 \text{ ng/mL}$, respectively. The IL-12 induction ability of LAB in this study is in accordance with other studies (Chen et al., 2013; Noriyuki Iwabuchi et al., 2012; Thamacharoensuk et al., 2017).

Species/ strain no.	IL-12 (ng/ml)	IFN-γ (ng/ml)	hBD2 (relative	NO (µM)
	1 Contraction of the second se		value)		
L. plantarum LM6-1	$7.15 \pm 1.22^{*}$	21.84 ± 6.64	$2.26 \pm 0.20^{*}$		$17.89 \pm 0.05^{**}$
L. plantarum LM6-2	20.62 ± 4.82	49.25 ± 18.21	$1.91 \pm 0.23^{*}$		$13.52\pm 0.28^{**}$
L. plantarum LM7-2-2B	$9.97 \pm 3.92^{*}$	35.42 ± 11.44	0.98 ± 0.11		$16.65 \pm 0.08^{**}$
L. plantarum LM12-1	$53.12 \pm 6.43^*$	59.93 ± 16.02	1.67 ± 0.25		$16.64 \pm 0.05^{**}$
L. plantarum LM14-1	9.21 ± 3.15*	31.01 ± 8.57	$1.50\pm0.10^*$		$17.76 \pm 0.17^{**}$
L. plantarum LM14-2	35.49 ± 6.85	44.89 ± 14.61	$2.15\pm0.07^*$		$19.98 \pm 0.28^{**}$
L. plantarum LM15-1P	$51.78 \pm 4.72^{*}$	27.40 ± 4.63	$1.58\pm0.04^*$		$15.75 \pm 0.14^{**}$
L. plantarum LM15-2	24.77 ± 3.42	35.91 ± 8.79	$1.61\pm0.06^*$		$16.03 \pm 0.39^{**}$
L. pentosus PD3-1	$7.72\pm2.85^*$	$32.91 \pm 5.79^{*}$	$2.06\pm0.27^*$		$18.07 \pm 0.25^{**}$
En. lactis PD3-2	$57.45 \pm 7.22^{*}$	$53.88 \pm 13.80^{\ast}$	$1.96\pm0.10^{\ast}$		$8.30 \pm 0.09^{**}$
L. pentosus PD9-2	$15.38 \pm 4.93^{*}$	$33.95 \pm 7.93^{*}$	$2.45\pm0.25^*$		$19.13 \pm 0.20^{**}$
No stimulation	29.52 ± 5.87	43.23 ± 12.72	1.00 ± 0.00		Not detected
LPS (positive control)		Not determine	ed		32.47 ± 0.14

Table 13 Immunomodulatory effects of the selected strains

Results are expressed as means \pm SD.

 $^{*}P < 0.05$, compared to no stimulation within each column; $^{**}P < 0.05$, compared to LPS (positive control).

For IFN- γ induction in simulated intestinal condition (Caco-2 and RAW264.7 cells), *L. plantarum* LM12-1 had the highest ability to stimulate IFN- γ production (59.93 ± 16.02 ng/mL) and followed by *En. lactis* PD3-2 (53.88 ± 13.80 ng/mL),

while *L. plantarum* LM6-1 had the lowest stimulated ability (21.84 \pm 6.64 ng/mL). The IFN- γ induction in this study is consistent with similar the previous studies (Ou et al., 2011; Yamane et al., 2018). Besides, the beneficial effect of IFN- γ and IL-12 are important cytokines for antitumor effect (Kato et al., 1999).

For hBD2 production in simulated intestinal condition (Caco-2 and RAW 264.7 cells), almost selected strains could enhance hBD2 production, but *L. plantarum* LM7-2-2B suppressed it. The result of hBD2 stimulation in this study is in accordance with the previous studies (Kobatake & Kabuki, 2019; Schlee et al., 2008; Wehkamp et al., 2004) Therefore, this study suggests that numerous non-pathogenic probiotic bacteria, including lactobacilli and others, stimulate innate immunity via defensin induction. Additionally, the stimulation of defensins by probiotics such as lactobacilli might be an attractive new therapeutic approach for enhancing innate defense systems (Schlee et al., 2008).

For nitric oxide (NO) production in RAW264.7 cells, NO is a multifunctional mediator that plays an important role in the inflammation. The physiologically NO production in phagocytic cells is advantageous to the host's defense against pathogens and tumor cells. According to the NO production results, all the selected strain could variably stimulate NO production at a wide range of rates. The maximum NO production was found in *L. plantarum* LM14-2 (19.98 \pm 0.28 μ M) followed by *L. pentosus* PD9-2 (19.13 \pm 0.20 μ M), *L. pentosus* PD3-1 (18.07 \pm 0.25 μ M), *L. plantarum* LM6-1 (17.89 \pm 0.05 μ M) and *Lb. plantarum* subsp. *plantarum* LM14-1 (17.76 \pm 0.17 μ M). The NO induced production of LAB in this study is consistent with previous studies (Kmonickova et al., 2012; Korhonen et al., 2001; Surayot et al., 2014; Tejada-Simon & Pestka, 1999).

For the *Lc. lactis* subsp. *lactis* NH2-7C *Heat-killed cells*

Lc. lactis subsp. *lactis* NH2-7C reduced the TNF- α (2,777.31 ± 45.29 pg/ml) and slightly suppressed IL-6 (86.30 ± 4.86 pg/ml) production as compared to the level of TNF- α (3,345.51 ± 93.91 pg/ml) and IL-6 (90.65 ± 0.78 pg/ml) in cell (no stimulation) experiment. However, the combination of heat-killed NH2-7C cells and LPS synergistically induced the TNF- α (4773.97 ± 221.42 pg/ml) and IL-6 (488.59 ± 11.57 pg/ml) production as compared to the level of TNF- α (4,158.97 ± 204.11 pg/ml) and IL-6 (270.65 ± 29.17 pg/ml) in cell (stimulation) experiment.

From these findings, it could be concluded that the stimulation of LPS primarily influenced the raising of both pro-inflammatory cytokines. The immunomodulatory effects of strains NH2-7C are shown in Figure 17.





 $^{*}P < 0.05$, compared to no stimulation within each column; $^{**}P < 0.05$, compared to LPS

Supernatant

The cell-free supernatant of strain NH2-7C showed remarkably antiinflammatory activity by suppressing TNF- α and IL-6 production. The CFS suppressed the production of the TNF- α (1039.74 ± 14.22 pg/ml) and IL-6 (-46.52 ± 4.86 pg/ml) as compared to the level of TNF- α (3,345.51 ± 93.91 pg/ml) and IL-6 (90.65 ± 0.78 pg/ml) in the cells (no stimulation). In addition, the combination of cellfree supernatant and LPS showed the reduction of TNF- α (1556.03 ± 11.58 pg/ml) and IL-6 (2.50 ± 18.96 pg/ml) production as compared to the level of TNF- α (4,158.97 ± 204.11 pg/ml) and IL-6 (270.65 ± 29.17 pg/ml) in the cells (stimulation) experiment. These findings could be summarized as the cell-free supernatant of strain NH2-7C significantly lowered the production of both pro-inflammatory cytokines.

Consequently, these selected strains contained immunomodulatory effects (Kang, Kim, Park, et al., 2021; Kato et al., 1999). Remarkably, the non-viable cells of selected strains still contained immunomodulatory effects; hence, the benefits of dead/inactive cells of probiotics include a lower risk of probiotic sepsis and antibiotic resistance, as well as a longer shelf-life because there is no need to maintain the cold chain to preserve the viability of the probiotics (Shripada et al., 2020; Zendeboodi et al., 2020). Furthermore, this study revealed that bacterial strains, even though they belonged to the same species, could have various functional properties (Kang, Kim, Kim, et al., 2021). Some selected strains greatly stimulated the production of proinflammatory cytokines; consequently, these selected strains should be carefully monitored and applied appropriately. Cardiovascular diseases represent a complex group of clinical syndromes caused by various of interacting pathological factors. They include the most extensive disease population and rank first in all-cause mortality worldwide. Accumulating evidence demonstrates that cytokines play critical roles in the presence and development of cardiovascular diseases. Coronary heart disease (CHD), atherosclerotic heart disease (AHD), and congestive heart failure (CHF) are correlated to elevated levels of proinflammatory cytokines (i.e., IFN- γ , IL-6, and TNF- α). These cytokines play an important role in the developing of atherosclerotic plaque (Amin et al., 2020). In addition, IL-12 is a cytokine that regulates various of biological effects; it is closely related to the progression of various cardiovascular diseases, including atherosclerosis, hypertension, aortic

dissection, cardiac hypertrophy, myocardial infarction, and acute cardiac injury (Ye et al., 2020).

To our knowledge, this is the first *in vitro* investigation demonstrating selected strains isolated from Thai fermented foods used were more efficient in modulating the immune system.

4.8 The antimicrobial activity of selected strains

From all the selected strains, only *Lc. lactis* subsp. *lactis* NH2-7C showed antimicrobial activity using *L. sakei* JCM 1157^T (sensitive strain). Thus, this strain was selected to investigate antimicrobial compounds, such as growth and antimicrobial peptide production dynamics, partial purification, antimicrobial spectra, characterization, and bacteriocin synthesis cluster gene. In addition, some probiogenomic characteristics were analyzed.

The characteristics of Lc. lactis subsp. lactis NH2-7C

The strain NH2-7C was Gram-stain-positive, facultatively anaerobic, nonmotile, cocci shape (Figure 18).



Figure 18 Scanning electron micrograph of strain NH2-7C grown on MRS agar at 30°C for 3 days

Growth occurred at 15–37 °C, pH 3.0-8.0 and in the presence of 1–8% (w/v) NaCl. It did not produce gas from glucose. NH2-7C produced L-lactic acid from glucose. Negative for catalase, and nitrate reduction; while positive for arginine

hydrolysis. The strain NH2-7C contained no *meso*-DAP in the cell wall. In API 50 CH is described in Table 14.

Based on full 16S rRNA gene sequence, the strain NH2-7C (1,551 bp) was closely related to *Lc. lactis* subsp. *lactis* JCM 5805^{T} with 99.80% similarity.

Characteristics of strain NH2-7C	
Cell shape	Cocci
Catalase	-
Gas from glucose	-
Growth in 6%	+
Growth in 8%	+
Growth at pH 3	+
pH 9	-
Growth at 15 C°	+
45 C°	-
Arginine hydrolysis	+
Nitrate reduction	-
Acid from:	
Glycerol (GLY)	-
Erythritol (ERY)	-
D-Arabinose (D-ARA)	-
L-Arabinose (L-ARA)	+
D-Ribose (RIB)	+
D-Xylose (DXYL)	+
L-Xylose (LXYL)	-
D-Xylose (ADO)	-
Methyl-beta-D-xylopyranoside (MDX)	-
D-Galactose (GAL)	+
D-Glucose (GLU)	+
D-Fructose (FRU)	+
D-Mannose (MNE)	+
L-Sorbose (SBE)	+
L-Rhamnose (RHA)	-
Dulcitol (DUL)	-
Inositol (INO)	-
D-Mannitol (MAN)	+
D-Sorbitol (SOR)	-
Methyl-alpha-D-mannopyranoside (MDM)	-
Methyl-alpha-D-glucopyranoside (MDG)	-
N-Acetylglucosamine (NAG)	+
Amygdalin (AMY)	+
Arbutin (ARB)	+
Esculin ferric citrate (ESC)	+

 Table 14 The characteristics of strain NH2-7C

Characteristics of strain NH2-7C	
Salicin (SAL)	+
D-Cellobiose (CEL)	+
D-Maltose (MAL)	+
D-Lactose (bovine origin; LAC)	+
D-Melibiose (MEL)	-
D-Saccharose (sucrose; SAC)	+
D-Trehalose (TRE)	+
Inulin (INU)	-
D-Melezitose (MLZ)	-
D-Raffinose (RAF)	-
Amidon (starch; AMD)	W
Glycogen (GLYG)	-
Xylitol (XLT)	-
Gentiobiose (GEN)	W
D-Turanose (TUR)	-
D-Lyxose (LYX)	-
D-Tagatose (TAG)	-
D-Fucose (DFUC)	-
L-Fucose (LFUC)	-
D-Arabitol (DARL)	-
L-Arabitol (LARL)	-
Potassium gluconate (GNT)	W
Potassium 2-ketogluconate (2KG)	-
Potassium 5-ketogluconate (5KG)	-
Isomer of lactic acid	L
meso-DAP	-

+, positive reaction; w, weakly positive reaction; -, negative reaction

Whole-Genome sequence of Lc. lactis subsp. lactis

The genomic features of *Lc. lactis subsp. lactis* NH2-7C (accession no. JAIWQY00000000) were characterized using whole-genome sequencing and comprehensive bioinformatic analysis (Table 15), leading to a circular genome map construction (Figure 19). The draft genome sequence of strain NH2-7C was 2,576,236 bp, with a genomic DNA G + C content of 34.9%, N₅₀ of 177,851, L₅₀ of 5, and genome coverage of $178\times$. CheckM showed 98.98% genome completeness and 0.55% contamination. The Prokaryotic Genome Annotation Pipeline annotation identified 2,606 of total genes, of which 2,512 are protein-coding genes, 38 of total pseudo genes, 3 (2 (5s), 2 (16s), 2 (23S)) rRNAs, 46 tRNA genes, and 4 non-coding RNA (ncRNA) genes; while, the Rapid Annotation of microbial genomes using Subsystems Technology (RAST) identified 2,665 (No. of CDSs) and 49 RNA genes. Furthermore,

DDBJ Fast Annotation and Submission Tool (DFAST) did not detect CRISPRS in strain NH2-7C, and circular genomic and the subsystem were constructed and shown in Figure 19.

Attribute	Strain NH2-7C
Isolation source	Nham (a Thai traditional fermented
	pork)
Accession no.	JAIWQY00000000
Genome quality:	19 11
Genome quality	Good
Coarse consistency	99.8
Fine consistency	99.1
Genome size (bp)	2,576,236
G+C content (%)	34.9%
Genome coverage	178x
N50	177,851
L50	5
No. of contigs	73
No. of subsystems	242
No. of coding sequences	2,665
No. of RNAs	49
No. of CRISPR	0
- Contraction of the Contraction	

Table 15 Genomic features of Lc. lactis subsp. lactis NH2-7C

จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University



Figure 19 Circular genomic map of Lc. lactis subsp. lactis NH2-7C

The information is indicated as follows: open reading frames (ORFs) (blue), GC skew (+) (green), GC skew (-) (yellow), and GC content (pink)



Figure 20 An overview of the subsystem categories assigned to the genome of *Lc. lactis* subsp. *lactis* NH2-7C. The genomic sequence of the strain NH2-7C was annotated using the Rapid Annotation System Technology (RAST) server. The pie chart demonstrates the count of each subsystem feature and the subsystem coverage

4.9 The confirmation proteinaceous characteristic of antimicrobial compound produced from *Lc. lactis* subsp. *lactis* NH2-7C

The CFS (pH 4.32) of strain NH2-7C showed an inhibitory effect on *L. sakei* JCM 1157^T (indicator strain). Thus, the CFS NH2-7C was selected and treated with several proteolytic enzymes such as trypsin, α -chymotrypsin, proteinase K, and pepsin. The effect of proteolytic enzymes on the antimicrobial activity of CFS is shown in Figure 21. The result showed that the antimicrobial activity of CFS NH2-7C was partially and mostly inactivated by proteolytic enzymes, indicating that it contained a proteinaceous structure as a bacteriocin (Alvarez-Cisneros et al., 2010), and this finding is in the accordance with the study of Lash et al. (2005).



Figure 21 Effects of proteolytic enzymes on antimicrobial activity of CFS NH2-7C

จุหาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย

4.10 Time course bacteriocin production of strain NH2-7C

In MRS broth at 30°C, the growth, bacteriocin production, and pH dynamics of *Lc. lactis* subsp. *lactis* NH2-7C were investigated (Figure 22). During growth, the NH2-7C strain initiated an exponential growth phase at 4 h, maintained a stationary phase from 8 to 20 h, and began the death phase 24 h later. Bacteriocin activity against the indicator strain (*L. sakei* JCM 1157^{T}) was evaluated. Therefore, bacteriocin was produced at 4 h during the initial exponential growth phase and reached its highest activity at 20 h during the late stationary phase with an activity of 51,200 AU/ml. The results indicated that the bacteriocin production was more evident and raised during the exponential growth phase, followed by a reduction during the end of the stationary phase (Gaspar et al., 2018). The reduction of antimicrobial activity found after a prolonged incubation period could be due to the degradation of

the bacteriocin by proteolytic enzymes, changes in the environmental conditions (Elayaraja et al., 2014; Huang et al., 2009), adsorption on producing strain (Xie et al., 2009) or bacteriocin aggregation (Collins et al., 1993). A reducing trend in the pH was observed while the growth proceeded and dropped to pH 4.32 from the initial pH 6.10 of the culture medium.



Figure 22 Time course bacteriocin production of strain NH2-7C

4.11 Partial purification of antimicrobial peptide

The antimicrobial peptide of NH2-7C was partially purified by AmberiteXAD-16 and Sp-sepharose. Since the maximum amount of bacteriocin was produced at 20 h, the culture supernatant was harvested at 20 h of incubation and then was used for bacteriocin purification. A two-step purification procedure was carried out, including hydrophobic interaction and cation-exchange chromatography. Fifty percent of the activity in the culture supernatant was recovered by hydrophobic interaction chromatography (Amberlite XAD-16). After being subjected to cationexchange chromatography (SP-sepharose), the bacteriocin activity was recovered in a 0.25 M NaCl fraction. Finally, approximately 10% of the total activity of the culture supernatant was obtained after these purification steps. The total antimicrobial activity, yield and the purification fold of the bacteriocin, and the purification procedure are summarized in Table 16.

Fraction	Volume (ml)	Activity (AU/ml)	Total activity (AU)	Yield (%)	Total protein (mg)	Specific activity (AU/mg)
Culture	1,000	51,200	5.12×10^{7}	100	1.51×10^{4}	3.4×10^{3}
supernatant						
Amberlite	500	51,200	2.56×10^{7}	50	2.67×10^{3}	9.6×10 ³
Sp-sepharose	50	102,400	5.12×10^{6}	10	1.98×10^{2}	2.6×10^4

Table 16 Partial purification of bacteriocin produced by *Lc. lactis* subsp. *lactis* NH2-7C

^aAntimicrobial activity [in arbitary units (AU)] was assayed by spot-on-lawn method using *L. sakei* JCM 1157^T.

^bThe protein concentration (in mg/ml) was determined by the Lowry method.

4.12 Antimicrobial spectra

The antimicrobial spectra of bacteriocin NH2-7C are shown in Table 17. Among indicator strains used in this study, bacteria belonging to the LAB group were sensitive to bacteriocin NH2-7C. These findings is consistent with the fundamental characteristic of bacteriocin, which inhibits or generally kills closely related bacterial strains (Tiwari, 2022). Furthermore, bacteriocin NH2-7C demonstrated broad antimicrobial spectra against not only Gram-positive but also Gram-negative bacteria. Remarkably, several pathogens were inhibited including L. innocua ATCC 33090^T, L. monocytogenes ATCC 19115^T, S. aureus ATCC 6535^T, St. mutans DMST 18777^T, St. suis NaH, Aeromonas hydrophila B1 AhB1, Helicobacter pylori ATCC 43504^T, H. pylori 3875 (isolated from a patient suffering from gastritis), H. pylori BK 364 (isolated from a patient who has gastric cancer), Vibrio harveyi AQVH 01, V. parahaemolyticus AHPND 1691 (strain containing toxin plasmid), and V. parahaemolyticus AHPND 1681 (strain no containing toxin plasmid). However, Candida albican ATCC 10231^T and C. albican ATCC 90028^T were resistant to the inhibitory effects of bacteriocin NH2-7C. From the results, bacteriocin NH2-7C was effective against various clinical pathogens and the Lc. lactis subsp. lactis NH2-7C showed desirable characteristics. Furthermore, the anti-H. pylori activity of partially purified bacteriocin NH2-7C was supported by the study of Kim et al. (2003), which reported the nisin A contained anti-H. pylori activity. Consequently, it may have a potential probiotic application.

Indicator strain	Antimicrobial activity (AU/ml)
Gram-positive bacteria:	
<i>B. circulans</i> JCM 2504^{T}	N.A.
B. subtilis JCM 1465^{T}	200
B. cereus ATCC 6633^{T}	100
En. faecalis JCM 5803 ^T	400
En. faecium JCM 5804^{T}	2,400
<i>Lb. plantarum</i> ATCC 14917 ^T	400
Lb. sakei JCM 1157 ^T	3,200
Lc. lactis ATCC 19435 ^T	400
Ln. mescenteroides JCM 6124 ^T	2,400
Li. inocua ATCC 33090 ^T	100
Li. monocytogenes ATCC 19115 ^T	200
M. luteus MIII	100
M. luteus NBRC 12708 ^T (Kocuria rhizophila)	150
P. dextrinicus JCM 5887 ^T	6,400
P. pentosaceus JCM 5885 ^T	400
<i>S. aureus</i> ATCC 23235 ^T	N.A.
Methilcillin-resistant S. aureus DMST 20635	N.A.
S. aureus ATCC 25923 ^T	N.A.
S. aureus ATCC 6538	200
S. aureus Cowan I	400
<i>S. aureus</i> DMST 6512 ^T	N.A.
Streptococcus agalactiae 1611	200
<i>St. gordonii</i> DMST 35778 ^T	N.A.
St. iniae SI 1810	N.A.
St. mutans DMST 18777 ^T	400
<i>St. pyogenes</i> DMST 17020 ^T	N.A.
St. suis NaH	400
St. suis P1/7	400

 Table 17 Antimicrobial spectra of strain NH2-7C

N.A. = no antimicrobial activity

Antimicrobial activity (AU/ml)
400
N.A.

Table 17 Antimicrobial spectra of strain NH2-7C

Indicator strain

Gram-negative bacteria: A. hydrophila B1 AhB1

$C. \ coli \ NCTC \ 11353^{T}$	N.A.
E. coli ATCC 25922	N.A.
<i>E. coli</i> O157:H7	N.A.
E. coli F18	N.A.
<i>E. coli</i> ATCC 35401	N.A.
<i>E. coli</i> JCM 1093	N.A.
<i>H. pylori</i> ATCC 43504 ^T	6,400
H. pylori 3875	3,200
H. pylori BK 364	3,200
Ps. aeroginosa ATCC 27853 ^T	N.A.
<i>Sa. T</i> yphimurium ATCC 13311 ^T	N.A.
Vibrio algenolyticus Va	N.A.
V. harveyi AQVH 01	200
V. parahaemolyticus DMST 26792 ^T	N.A.
V. parahaemolyticus with AHPND toxin plasmid 1691	800
V. parahaemolyticus without AHPND toxin plasmid 1681	800
V. vulnificus 1809	N.A.
Yeast & Mold:	7
Candida albicans ATCC 10231 ^T	N.A.
Candida albicans ATCC 90028 ^T	N.A.
N A = no antimicrobial activity	

A. = no antimicrobial activity GKORN UNIVERSITY

4.13 Characterization of bacteriocin NH2-7C

The effect of various enzymes, pH, temperature, and chemicals on antimicrobial activity

The antimicrobial activity of partially purified bacteriocin NH2-7C was affected by hydrolytic enzymes, chemicals, pH and temperature (Table 18). The partially purified bacteriocin NH2-7C was mostly inactivated by protease-K, achymotrypsin, lipase, amylase, trypsin, and partially inactivated by pepsin. This suggested the proteinaceous nature of the inhibitory compound (Gupta & Tiwari, 2015). The effects of pH and heat treatment on antimicrobial activity of partially purified bacteriocin NH2-7C was investigated. The partially purified bacteriocin NH2-7C was stable under the temperature treatment at 100°C for 10, 20, 30 min; conversely, the activity decreased by 50% on applying sterilization temperature (121 °C for 15 min). Thus, the partially purified bacteriocin NH2-7C was found to be thermostable. For the effects of pH, the partially purified bacteriocin NH2-7C was found to be active over a wide pH range between 2 and 13. At the pH between 2 and 7 the activity was stable; while the activity decreases were obtained from pH 9 to 13. As a common feature of bacteriocins, partially purified bacteriocin NH2-7C was stable in the wide range of pH and temperature (Papagianni, 2003; Papagianni & Papamichael, 2011). However, partially purified bacteriocin NH2-7C seemed to be more stable in acidic condition. These finding are consistent with the previous studies of (Moreno et al., 2000; ŞAnlibaba et al., 2009). The inactivation of bacteriocin activity by proteases also provided safety since this bacteriocins could be degraded by enzymes in the human gastrointestinal tract, making them ineffective against beneficial microorganisms. For the effects of chemicals, the partially purified bacteriocin NH2-7C with organic solvents including ethanol, isopropanol, and acetonitrile did not cause any loss of antimicrobial activity. The antimicrobial activity of partially purified bacteriocin NH2-7C was not affected by 1% (v/v) Tween 20, Tween 80, Triton X-100 EDTA; while, the exposition of this compound to 1% urea and resulted in the reduction of the bacteriocin activity. The enhanced activity of partially purified bacteriocin NH2-7C with SDS was observed. Because SDS acts as a destabilizer that alters the permeability of the cell membrane of sensitive bacteria, it consequently increases the susceptibility to bacteriocin (Alakomi et al., 2000; Shafa & Salton, 1960). The sensitivity of partially purified bacteriocin NH2-7C to chemicals were similar to the other bacteriocins (Wang et al., 2018; Woraprayote et al., 2015). Nonetheless, it appears that the sensitivity to surfactants and urea is reliant on bacteriocin (Todorov et al., 2010; Woraprayote et al., 2015).

Tuestanont		Relative activity (%) after treatment ^a
Ireatment	_	Partially purified bacteriocin NH2-7C
Untreated		100.00
Enzymes:		
Trypsin		6.25
α-Chymotrypsin		3.13
Pepsin		50.00
Protease-K		1.56
Lipase		3.13
Amylase		3.13
Organic solvents:	Sec. 11	1 _{.3}
Ethanol		100.00
Isopropanol		100.00
Acetonitrile		100.00
Chemicals:		
Tween 20		100.00
Tween 80		100.00
SDS	// BOA	200.00
EDTA		100.00
Triton-X-100		100.00
Urea	OMC(6)CMC)	50.00
pH:	- Contraction	
2	E Shark	100.00
3		100.00
5		100.00
7		100.00
9		12.50
11		6.25
13		1.56 ERSITY
Temperatures:		
100 °C, 10 min		100.00
100 °C, 20 min		100.00
100 °C, 30 min		100.00
121 °C, 15 min		50.00

 Table 18 Effects of enzymes, chemicals, pH and temperatures on antimicrobial of partially purified bacteriocin NH2-7C

^aThe activity of an untreated sample was defined as 100%

4.14 The bacteriocin synthesis cluster gene

Bacteriocin mining, through BAGEL v.4.0., identified bacteriocinogenic genetic cluster in the genome of strain NH2-7C and it is shown in Figure 23. The result showed the presence of a gene cluster encoding the production of nisin A (*nisABTCIPRKFEG*). This cluster includes 11 genes (*nisA*, organized into four

operons: nisA (nisin structural gene), nisBTCIP (nisin maturation, immunity, and transport), nisRK (nisin regulation), and nisFEG (nisin immunity). The nisin A cluster genes are shown in Figure 23. Of these genes, the *nisA* gene encodes nisin A precursor peptide composing of 57-amino acid residues, containing 23-amino acid residues, N-terminal leader peptide that is associated with directing the alteration and targeting process of nisin precursor nisB and nisC encode membrane-associated proteins involved in the intracellular post-translational modification reaction. *nisT* encodes a putative transporter protein of the ABC translocator family involved in the translocation of the fully modified nisin precursor across the cytoplasmic membrane. nisP encodes a subtilisin-like protease involved in extracellular proteolytic activation. Two systems involved in immunity to nisin of the producing cell are derived from nisI and nisFEG. nisI encodes a lipoprotein involved in the self-protection of the producing bacterium against nisin, and nisFEG encodes a putative ABC exporter involved in nisin extrusion. *nisR* and *nisK* encode a response regulator and a sensor kinase of the histidine protein kinase family, respectively, that belong to a class of two-component regulatory systems (Cheigh & Pyun, 2005). Based on the in silico analysis, it could be possibly concluded that the antimicrobial peptide of strain NH2-7C was identified as nisin A with a Bit-score of 115.16 and 100% identity. The presence of nisin cluster genes in Lactococcus sp. is consistent with the previous studies (Nguyen & Kim, 2018; Zhao et al., 2015). าลงกรณมหาวิทยาลัย



Figure 23 The gene cluster encoding the production of nisin A in strain NH2-7C using
the online BAGEL v.4.0. web-based tool
(http://bagel4.molgenrug.nl/index.php, accessed on 18 June 2022).
Terminators are shown as maroon line circle ends

4.15 Probiotic genetic markers of Lc. lactis subsp. lactis NH2-7C

The essential characteristics of microorganisms that meet the criteria as probiotic strains are their survival mechanisms and adaption ability in harsh environments. (Nguyen & Kim, 2018). Probiotics contain genes that promote tolerance to undesirable conditions (Nguyen & Kim, 2018). The genomic data of Lc. lactis subsp. lactis NH2-7C discovered genes coding for stress response, adhesion, metabolic rearrangement, lactate synthesis and transcriptional regulators, all of which contribute to survival in acidic pH and prevention of pathogen colonization in a gut environment (Table 19). The presence of adhesins in the probiotic cell wall is essential to the ability to adhere to the gut (Monteagudo-Mera et al., 2019). The adhesive genes were detected. Muñoz-Provencio et al. (2012) proposed that sortasedependent surface proteins have a role in mucosal adhesion processes and in certain aspects of intestinal homeostatic maintenance. Sortase class A (srtA) is involved for the LPXTG proteins covalently to the cell wall. Some LPXTG proteins, especially those with mucus-binding domains, contribute to adherence to host surfaces (Marraffini et al., 2006). Mucus-binding proteins contribute to the adherence of bacteria to the intestinal mucosa (Hymes et al., 2016; Lehri et al., 2015). A total of 31 genes responsible for acid and bile salt stress were identified (Table 19). The F1F0-ATPase is encoded by the atp operon, which comprises the following genes: atpC, atpD, atpG, atpH, atpF, atpB, atpE, and atpA (Ventura et al., 2004). The atp genes are vital for the survival or tolerance of acidic environments. The "atp" operon is primarily related to the pumping of protons, consequently contributing to maintaining neutral pH (Duary et al., 2010). S-Ribosylhomocysteinase (luxS) play an important role in the autoinducer-2 synthesis. It has been observed that the Autoinducer-2 promotes stress resistance (Liu et al., 2018). The luxS gene is also associated to the to intestinal epidermal cells (Jia et 2018). capacity to adhere al., Additionally, moonlighting protein genes, or multifunctional protein genes, such as elongation factor Tu and chaperonin GroEL, have been associated with adhesion to epithelial cells and immunomodulation (Abriouel et al., 2017). Furthermore, probiotics perform an essential function in the host gut by synthesizing micronutrients and factors such as amino acids, fatty acids, oligosaccharides, vitamins, and enzymes. Overall, the draft genome information of *Lc. lactis* subsp. *lactis* NH2-7C will help us

to comprehend the molecular basis of for its probiotic effects properly. They may assist its future applications.

Table 19 The potential	genes associated to	various probiotic	characteristics	from	Lc.
lactis subsp. la	ctis NH2-7C genom	ne			

Putative function	Genes	Gene product
Modulation of immune system / Acid	clpB	Potential immunogenic proteins
stress		
	lspA	Lipoprotein signal peptidase
	tuf	Elongation factor Tu
Nutritional synthesis and several essential	ccpA	Catabolite control protein A
processes	NJJ <u>J</u> //////////////////////////////////	-
Cholesterol-lowering effect / Bile	bsh	Choloylglycine hydrolase
resistance	8	
Adhesion or interaction with the host	ylcC	Class A sortase
	dltD	D-alanyl-lipoteichoic acid
		biosynthesis protein DltD
	dltA	D-alanylation of LTA
	lspA	Lipoprotein signal peptidase
	tuf	Elongation factor Tu
	mtsA	Manganese ABC transporter
		substrate-binding protein
111.13	eno2	Enolase 2
N Canad	gapB	Type I glyceraldehyde-3-
	VICE SAL	phosphate dehydrogenase
	groS	Co-chaperonin GroES
	groL	Chaperonin GroEL
	pgi	Glucose-6-isomerase
Acid stress	atpC	ATP synthase subunit epsilon
	atpD	ATP synthase subunit beta
	atpA	ATP synthase subunit alpha
	atpG	ATP synthase subunit gamma
	atpH	ATP synthase subunit delta
	atpF	ATP synthase subunit B
	atpB	ATP synthase subunit A
	atpE	ATP synthase subunit C
	recA	Protein RecA (recombinase A)
	relA	GTP pyrophosphokinase
	groS	Co-chaperonin GroES
	groL	Chaperonin GroEL
	aspS	Aspartate-tRNA ligase
Acid stress/Bile resistance	dnaK	Chaperone protein DnaK
	dnaJ	Chaperone protein DnaJ
	glmU	Bifunctional UDP-N
		acetylglucosamine
		diphosphorylase/glucosamine
		phosphate
	luxS	S-ribosylhomocysteine lyase
	gadB	Glutamate decarboxylase; GABA
	~	transporter
Bile resistance	nagB	Glucosamine-6-phosphate
	0	1 1

Putative function	Genes	Gene product
		deaminase
	pyrG	CTP synthase
	argS	Arginine-tRNA ligase
	rpsC	30S ribosomal protein S3
	rpsE	30S ribosomal protein S5
	rplD	50S ribosomal protein L4
	rplE	50S ribosomal protein L5
	rplF	50S ribosomal protein L6
DNA and protein protection and repair	msrB	Peptide methionine sulfoxide
		reductase MsrB
Fatty acid synthesis	fabD	Malonyl CoA-acyl carrier protein
		transacylase
	fabF	3-oxoacyl-[acyl-carrier-protein]
		synthase II
6.00	fabI	Enoyl-[acyl-carrier-protein]
	555/1122	reductase [NADH]
	accC	acetyl-CoA carboxylase biotin
	Q ===>	carboxylase subunit
Transcriptional regulator	ctsR	Transcriptional regulator CtsR
	hrcA	Meat-inducible transcriptional
		repressor HrcA
Matabolic rearrangement	aldB	Alpha-acetolactate decarboxylase

4.16 Safety assessment of strain NH2-7C

For strain proposed for probiotic application, genomic sequences are necessary for comprehensive safety assessments (Wassenaar et al., 2015). In addition to evaluating the genome for probiotic ability, strains should also be analyzed for genes associated with virulence, pathogenicity, and toxicity (Wassenaar et al., 2015). These genomic findings demonstrate the probiotic potential of strain NH2-7C. The PathogenFinder result (Table 20) demonstrated that Lc. lactis subsp. lactis NH2-7C was predicted as non-human pathogen. From the genome annotation, genes related to virulence factors were detected. Two genes are associated with defense, such as exopolysaccharides biosynthesis protein $(tagL_l \text{ and } tagL_2)$ and capsular polysaccharide biosynthesis protein. Exopolysaccharides are involved in cell adhesion on abiotic and biotic surfaces (Caro-Astorga et al., 2020). It assists bacteria withstand osmotic, desiccation, and oxidative stress environments (Y. Liu et al., 2017). Polysaccharides contribute to identifying isolate-specific characteristics vital for probiotic function, including stress resistance, adhesion, and the host's defense system (Lebeer et al., 2009). Capsular polysaccharides have been observed in the colonization of the gastrointestinal tract, and they regulate the immune system (Porter et al., 2017). In addition, the hemolysin III gene (*hlyIII*) was found in the genome of the strain NH2-7C. Remarkably, the gene was also observed in various commercial probiotics, including an accepted Generally Recognized as Safe (GRAS) probiotic strain L. plantarum 299V, and a widely used commercial probiotic in China, L. rhamnosus GG. Hemolysis test using sheep-blood agar demonstrated a nonhemolysis. Generally, the hemolysin III gene is prevalent in *Lactobacillus* spp., and the strains containing the gene have been proven safe and are commercially available worldwide. The bacterium containing this gene should not pose a safety risk, provided that no other pathogenesis genes are observable in the genome. Nevertheless, the absence of other pathogenesis mechanisms, these virulence genes could be deemed as advantageous to the bacterium because they enhance bacterial endurance, may be beneficial in conditions where viable bacteria are required (e.g., starters and probiotics), and are also observed in the genomes of several commensal bacteria (Ho Sui et al., 2009). The primary issue concerning AMR genes in beneficial nonpathogenic bacteria is their transfer possibility to other pathogens, which may cause serious problems, lowering the efficiency of antibiotic treatment. To determine this risk, this study focused on two kinds of mobile elements: plasmids and bacteriophages because they are the most plausible vehicles for inter-cellular genetic exchange by transformation/conjugation and transduction, respectively. The strain NH2-7C contained one plasmid, indicating that NH2-7C is capable of self-transmission through conjugative transfer. Plasmid-associated antibiotic resistance is not very common among LAB, but it does occur, and safety implications should be taken into consideration. Checking the ability of a proposed probiotic strain to act as a donor for conjugative antibiotic resistance genes may be a sensible precaution in some instances (Salminen et al., 1998). For the presence of bacteriophage, the PHASTER tool (Arndt et al., 2016; Zhou et al., 2011) identified nine prophage regions (6 incomplete and 3 questionable) and the none of the ARGs (antibiotic resistance genes) were located in the prophage regions. The presence of phage regions may contribute to the acquirement of antibiotic resistance, the ability to survive in a new environment, the improvement of adhesion ability, or even to turning the bacteria pathogenic (Casjens, 2003). However, the prophage regions in the NH2-7C genome were six incomplete (10 - 60 of score) and questionable (75 - 80 of score). In addition, *Lc. lactis* subsp. *lactis* NH2-7C contained tetracycline-resistance gene (*tet*(S)). The presence of tetracycline-resistance characteristic was usually observed in several probiotic *Lactococcus* strains and other probiotics in previous studies (Ma et al., 2021; Ramalho et al., 2019). In this study, the presence of *tetS* gene is consistent with the *in vitro* antibiotic resistance to tetracycline ($30 \mu g$). Thus, these issues could be unconcerned (Oliveira et al., 2017). In conclusion, the analyses of the safety, survival and probiotic aspects of *Lc. lactis* subsp. *lactis* NH2-7C emphasized the potential use of this strain as a target for the future development of LAB probiotics.

Table 20 Pathogenicity prediction, prophage detection and antibiotic resistance genes(ARGs) analysis from PathogenFinder of CGE and PHASTER (Default
program settings applied)

Attribute/Strain	Lc. lactis subsp. lactis	L. plantarum 299v	L. rhamnosus GG		
	NH2-7C	1			
Probability of being a human	0.209	0.185	0.198		
pathogen					
Input proteome coverage (%)	1.74	0.48	40.5		
Matched pathogenic families	0	0	0		
Matched not pathogenic families	44	15	1147		
Conclusion	Non-human pathogen	Non-human	Non-human		
2 of the	V O Karan Same	pathogen	pathogen		
No. of plasmid	1 (rep32, 99.7%	2 (rep28, 98.17%	0		
A	identity)	identity; rep38,			
	0	99.0% identity)	~		
No. of phage	9	4	5		
Antibiotic resistance genes (ARGs)					
CARD:					
- No. of perfect hits	\mathbf{r}^0 an line let	0	0		
- No. of strict hits	1 (<i>tet</i> (s))	0	0		
- No. of loose hits	155 UNIVERSITY	194	207		
ResFinder	<i>tet</i> (S)	No resistance	No resistance		

4.17 The candidate probiotic strain LM14-2

Based on the presence of BSH activity and the great cholesterol assimilation,

the strain LM14-2 was also selected for the probiogenomic analysis.

(I) The characteristics and phylogenomic analysis of L. plantarum LM14-2

The strain LM14-2 was Gram-stain-positive, facultatively anaerobic, nonmotile, straight rods. Growth occurred at 15–45 °C, pH 3.0-8.0 and in the presence of 1-8% (w/v) NaCl. It did not produce gas from glucose. LM14-2 produced DL-lactic acid from glucose. Catalase are negative. Arginine hydrolysis and nitrate reduction are negative. The strain LM14-2 contained *meso*-DAP in the cell wall. In API 50 CH is described in Table 21.

Characteristics of strain LM14-2	
Cell shape	Rod
Catalase	-
Gas from glucose	-
Growth in 6%	+
Growth in 8%	+
Growth at pH 3	+
pH 9	-
Growth at 15 C°	+
45 C°	+
Arginine hydrolysis	-
Nitrate reduction	-
Acid from:	
Glycerol (GLY)	W
Erythritol (ERY)	W
D-Arabinose (D-ARA)	W
L-Arabinose (L-ARA)	+
D-Ribose (RIB)	+
D-Xylose (DXYL)	W
L-Xylose (LXYL)	W
D-Xylose (ADO)	W
Methyl-beta-D-xylopyranoside (MDX)	W
D-Galactose (GAL)	+
D-Glucose (GLU)	+
D-Fructose (FRU)	+
D-Mannose (MNE)	+
L-Sorbose (SBE)	W
L-Rhamnose (RHA)	+
Dulcitol (DUL)	W
Inositol (INO)	W
D-Mannitol (MAN)	+
D-Sorbitol (SOR)	+
Methyl-alpha-D-mannopyranoside (MDM)	-
Methyl-alpha-D-glucopyranoside (MDG)	-
N-acetylglucosamine (NAG)	+
Amygdalin (AMY)	+
Arbutin (ARB)	+
Esculin ferric citrate (ESC)	+
Salicin (SAL)	+
D-Cellobiose (CEL)	+
D-Maltose (MAL)	+

Table 21 The characteristics of strain LM14-2
Characteristics of strain LM14-2	
D-Lactose (bovine origin; LAC)	+
D-Melibiose (MEL)	+
D-Saccharose (sucrose; SAC)	+
D-Trehalose (TRE)	+
Inulin (INU)	-
D-Melezitose (MLZ)	+
D-Raffinose (RAF)	+
Amidon (starch; AMD)	-
Glycogen (GLYG)	-
Xylitol (XLT)	+
Gentiobiose (GEN)	W
D-Turanose (TUR)	-
D-Lyxose (LYX)	-
D-Tagatose (TAG)	-
D-Fucose (DFUC)	-
L-Fucose (LFUC)	-
D-Arabitol (DARL)	-
L-Arabitol (LARL)	-
Potassium gluconate (GNT)	+
Potassium 2-ketogluconate (2KG)	-
Potassium 5-ketogluconate (5KG)	-
Isomer of lactic acid	DL
meso-DAP	+

Ī

+, positive reaction; w, weakly positive reaction; -, negative reaction

Based on full 16S rRNA gene sequence, the strain LM14-2 (1,567 bp) was closely related to *L. plantarum* ATCC 14917^T, *L. argentoratensis* DSM 16365^T, *L. pentosus* DSM 20314^T, and *L. paraplantarum* DSM 10667^T with 100%, 100%, 99.93% and 99.73% similarity, respectively. The study found that analysis based only on the 16 S rRNA gene could not be used to accurately identify bacterial species in this group, especially *L. plantarum* and *L. argentoratensis*.

A phylogenomic tree analysis (Figure 24), LM14-2 was formed the same cluster within several *L. plantarum* strains (Meier-Kolthoff & Göker, 2019). Strain LM14-2 was closely related to *L. plantarum* DSM 20174^T or ATCC 14917^T with a digital DNA–DNA hybridization (dDDH) value of 93.7%, which was the highest dDDH value observed with closely related species (Table 22). The dDDH value was greater than the recommended cut-off points of 70% for species delineation (Auch et al., 2010). The values of ANIb, ANIm between strain LM14-2 and *L. plantarum* DSM

 20174^{T} or ATCC 14917^{T} were 98.2 % and 99.27 %, respectively. The mentioned ANI values were above the species boundary value (ANI > 95–96%) (Lee et al., 2016). For these reasons, the results of characteristics and whole genome analysis supported strain LM14-2 as representing a member of *Lactiplantibacillus plantarum*.





Figure 24	4 Phylogenon on the Type	nic tree b (Strain) (ased on wj Jenome Se	hole genor erver (TYC	ne sequence dat: 3S)	a result of strain LM	114-2 and cl	losely related type stra	ns reconstructed
Table 22	ANIb and A L. plantarun DSM 10667	NIm (%) 1 DSM 20 T	and the di 0174 ^T (=A	igital DNA ATCC 1491	ι-DNA hybridizε (7 ^T); L. plantaru	ttion (dDDH) value m DSM 13273 ^T ; L.	s between tl argentoren.	ne draft genomes of th sis DSM 16365 ^T and <i>I</i>	e strain LM14-2; . paraplantarum
Genomic	data: 1, <i>L. p</i> <i>plantarum</i> 1 DSM 10667	lantarum JSM 132 ^T (AZEO0	t LM14-2 (73 ^T (JQA) 0000000)	(JALPQH(.W000000(00000000); 2, I 00); 4, L. argen	plantarum DSM 2 toraensis DSM 16	20174 ^T (=A ^T 365 ^T (AZFI	rcc 14917 ^T) (ACGZ0 80000000); and 5, <i>L</i>	0000000); 3, L. . paraplantarum
Query	Reference	ANIb	ANIm	% dDDH	(Formular 2*)	Model C.I. (%)	Distance	Prob. DDH >= 70%	G+C difference
1	2	98.92	99.27	93.7		91.9-95.1	0.0081	96.88	0.22
-	ю	98.77	99.16	92.3		90.3-94.0	0.0096	96.52	0.02
1	4	94.78	95.66	62.6		59.7-65.4	0.0472	60.6	0.75
1	5	85.31	88.33	31.3		28.9-33.8	0.1354	0.18	0.57
*Recom	umended forn	nula (iden	tities/HSP	length), w	/hich is liberated	l of genome length a	and is thus p	rosperous against the u	ise of draft
genome.									

(II) Whole-Genome sequence of L. plantarum LM14-2

The genomic features of *L. plantarum* LM14-2 (accession no. JALPQH00000000) and other probiotics (*L. plantarum* 299V, and *Lacticaseibacillus rhamnosus* GG (ATCC 53103)) were characterized using whole-genome sequencing and comprehensive bioinformatic analysis (Table 23), leading to a circular genome map construction (Figure 25).

Table 2	3 Genomic	features	of L	actiplan	tibacillus	s plantarum	LM14-2,	L.	plantarum
	299V, and	1 Lacticas	seiba	cillus rh	amnosus	GG (ATCC	53103)		

San 112.

		1	
Attribute	LM14-2	299V	GG (ATCC 53103)
Source	Thai fermented mussel (Hoi-dong)	Healthy human intestinal mucosa	Fecal samples of a healthy human
Accession no.	JALPQH00000000	LEAV00000000	FM179322
Genome size (bp)	3,311,812	3,302,055	3,010,111
Plasmids	0	2 (rep28, 98.17% identity; rep38, 99.0% identity)	0
Genome qualities:			
- Genome quality	Good	Good	Poor
- Completeness (%)	99.35	99.35	99.49
- Coarse consistency	97.9	98	99.4
- Fine consistency	96.1	96.2	98.3
G+C content (%)	44.3	44.4	46.7
Genome coverage	250x	48x	No data
N50	331,723	173,004	-
L50	4	8	1
No. of contig	40	67	1
No. of subsystem	จา230ลงกรณมหาว	232	231
No. of coding sequences	3,254	3,264	3,009
No. of RNA		60 - D C T V	72
No. of CRISPRS	OIIO0ALONGKONN O	0	1

The draft genome sequence of strain LM14-2 was 3,311,812 bp, with a genomic DNA G + C content of 44.3%, N₅₀ of 331,723, L₅₀ of 4, and genome coverage of $250\times$. CheckM showed 99.35% genome completeness and 2.35% contamination. The Prokaryotic Genome Annotation Pipeline annotation identified 3,115 predicted genes, of which 2,999 are protein-coding genes, 41 pseudo genes, 76 RNA genes, 70 tRNA genes, and 4 non-coding RNA (ncRNA) genes; while, the Rapid Annotation of microbial genomes using Subsystems Technology (RAST) identified 3,254 (No. of CDSs) and 67 RNA genes. Furthermore, DDBJ Fast Annotation and Submission Tool (DFAST) did not detect CRISPRS in strain LM14-2

and circular genomic and subsystem were constructed and shown in Figure 25 and Figure 26.



Figure 25 Circular genomic map of L. plantarum LM14-2

The information is indicated as follows: open reading frames (ORFs) (blue), GC skew (+) (green), GC skew (-) (yellow) and GC content (pink)



Figure 26 An overview of the subsystem categories assigned to the genome of *L. plantarum* LM14-2. The genomic sequence of the strain LM14-2 was annotated using the Rapid Annotation System Technology (RAST) server. The pie chart demonstrates the count of each subsystem feature and the subsystem coverage

4.18 Safety assessment

For strain proposed for probiotic application, genomic sequences are necessary for comprehensive safety assessments (Wassenaar et al., 2015). In addition to evaluating the genome for probiotic ability, strains should also be analyzed for genes associated with virulence, pathogenicity, and toxicity (Wassenaar et al., 2015). These genomic findings demonstrate the probiotic potential of strain LM14-2. The PathogenFinder result (Table 24) demonstrated that Lb. plantarum LM14-2 was predicted as non-human pathogen. From the genome annotation, genes related to virulence factors were detected. Two genes are associated with stress defense, such as exopolysaccharides biosynthesis protein (cps2B and cps4B) and capsular polysaccharide biosynthesis protein (cpsE). Exopolysaccharides are involved in cell adhesion on abiotic and biotic surfaces (Caro-Astorga et al., 2020). It assists bacteria withstand osmotic, desiccation, and oxidative stress environments (Y. Liu et al., 2017). Polysaccharides contribute to identifying isolate-specific characteristics vital for probiotic function, including stress resistance, adhesion, and the host's defense system (Lebeer et al., 2009). Capsular polysaccharides have been observed in the colonization of the gastrointestinal tract, and they regulate the immune system (Porter et al., 2017). In addition, the hemolysin III gene (hlyIII) was found in the genome of the strain LM14-2. Remarkably, the gene was also observed in various commercial probiotics, including an accepted Generally Recognized as Safe (GRAS) probiotic strain L. plantarum 299V, a widely used commercial probiotic in China, L. rhamnosus GG, (marketed and researched probiotic isolates) (Stage et al., 2020), and numerous other Lactobacillus strains in the GenBank. Hemolysis test using sheep-blood agar demonstrated a hazy zone of hemolysis around the growth of bacteria, similar to the zone surrounding the probiotic L. rhamnosus GG, indicating that the two strains had comparable hemolysis activity. This finding is consistent with previous research (Chokesajjawatee et al., 2020). Generally, the hemolysin III gene is prevalent in Lactobacillus spp., and the strains containing the gene have been proven safe and are commercially available worldwide. The bacterium containing this gene should not pose a safety risk, provided that no other pathogenesis genes are observable in the genome. Nevertheless, the absence of other pathogenesis mechanisms, these virulence genes could be deemed as advantageous to the bacterium because they enhance

bacterial endurance, may be beneficial in conditions where viable bacteria are required (e.g., starters and probiotics), and are also observed in the genomes of several commensal bacteria (Ho Sui et al., 2009). The primary issue concerning AMR genes in beneficial non-pathogenic bacteria is their transfer possibility to other pathogens, which may cause serious problems, lowering the efficiency of antibiotic treatment. To determine this risk, this study focused on two kinds of mobile elements: plasmids and bacteriophages because they are the most plausible vehicles for intergenetic exchange by transformation/conjugation and cellular transduction, respectively. The strain LM14-2 did not contain any plasmid; consequently, no oriT was found in any of the plasmid, indicating that LM14-2 is incapable of selftransmission through conjugative transfer. For the presence of bacteriophage, the PHASTER tool (Arndt et al., 2016; Zhou et al., 2011) identified three prophage regions and none of the ARGs (antibiotic resistance genes) were located in the prophage regions. As a result of these findings, it was established that the absence of AGR genes in LM14-2 does not present a risk of transfer to other bacteria; therefore, the strain does not provide a safety issue for the functional and transferrable ARGs characteristic.

 Table 24 Pathogenicity prediction, prophage detection and antibiotic resistance genes (ARGs) analysis from PathogenFinder of CGE and PHASTER (Default program settings applied)

Attribute/Strain GHULALO	L. plantarum LM14-2	L. plantarum 299v	L. rhamnosu s GG
Probability of being a human pathogen	0.187	0.185	0.198
Input proteome coverage (%)	0.49	0.48	40.5
Matched pathogenic families	0	0	0
Matched not pathogenic families	15	15	1147
Conclusion	Non-human pathogen	Non-human pathogen	Non- human pathogen
No. of phage Antibiotic resistance genes (ARGs) CARD:	3	4	5
- No. of perfect hits	0	0	0
- No. of strict hits	0	0	0
- No. of loose hits	192	194	207
ResFinder	No resistance	No resistance	No resistance



Chulalongkorn University

4.19 Identification of genes associated stress response, microbe-host interactions and bacteriocin biosynthesis

The vital characteristics of microorganisms that meet the criteria as probiotic strain are their survival mechanisms and ability to adapt and survive in harsh environments. (Nguyen & Kim, 2018). Probiotics contain genes that promote tolerance to undesirable conditions (Nguyen & Kim, 2018). The genomic data of L. plantarum LM14-2 discovered genes coding for stress response, adhesion, metabolic rearrangement, lactate synthesis and transcriptional regulators, all of which contribute to survival in acidic pH and prevention of pathogen colonization in a gut environment (Table 25). The presence of adhesins in the probiotic cell wall is essential for adherent ability to the gut (Monteagudo-Mera et al., 2019). The adhesive genes were detected. Muñoz-Provencio et al. (2012) proposed that sortase-dependent surface proteins have a role in mucosal adhesion processes and in certain aspects of intestinal homeostatic maintenance. Sortase class A (srtA) is involved for the LPXTG proteins covalently to the cell wall. Some LPXTG proteins, especially those with mucus-binding domains, contribute to adherence to host surfaces (Marraffini et al., 2006). Mucus-binding proteins contribute to the adherence of probiotic to the intestinal mucosa (Hymes et al., 2016; Lehri et al., 2015) and L. plantarum LM14-2 harbored gene coding for mucus-binding protein mub. A total of 47 genes responsible for acid and bile salt stress were identified (Table 25). The F₁F₀-ATPase is encoded by the atp operon, which comprises the following genes: *atpC*, *atpD*, *atpG*, *atpH*, *atpF*, *atpB*, *atpE*, *and* atpA (Ventura et al., 2004). The atp genes are vital for the survival or tolerance of acidic environments. The "atp" operon is primarily related to the pumping of protons, consequently contributing to maintaining neutral pH (Duary et al., 2010). S-Ribosylhomocysteinase (luxS) play an important role in the Autoinducer-2 synthesis. It has been observed that the Autoinducer-2 promotes stress resistance (Liu et al., 2018). In addition, the *luxS* gene is also associated to the capacity to adhere to intestinal epidermal cells (Jia et al., 2018). Additionally, moonlighting protein genes, or multifunctional protein genes, such as elongation factor Tu and chaperonin GroEL, have been associated with adhesion to epithelial cells and immunomodulation (Abriouel et al., 2017). The draft genome information of L. plantarum LM14-2 will help us to comprehend the molecular basis of for its probiotic effects properly.

Putative function	Genes	Gene product
Modulation of immune system / Acid	clpB	Potential immunogenic proteins
stress	1	
	lspA	Lipoprotein signal peptidase
	tuf	Elongation factor Tu
Nutritional synthesis and several essential	ссрА	Catabolite control protein A
processes	1	1
Cholesterol-lowering effect / Bile	bsh	Choloylglycine hydrolase
resistance		
Adhesion or interaction with the host	srtA	Class A sortase
	dltD	D-alanyl-lipoteichoic acid
	1122 -	biosynthesis protein DltD
	dltA	D-alanylation of LTA
	mub	Mucus-binding protein
Intraca	glnH1	Glutamine ABC transporter
		substrate-binding protein
	lspA	Lipoprotein signal peptidase
	tuf	Elongation factor Tu
1///28	mtsA	Manganese ABC transporter
	3 (1) (1)	substrate-binding protein
	eno2	Enolase 2
	gapB	Type I glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate
		dehydrogenase
1 Streeter	groS	Co-chaperonin GroES
	groL	Chaperonin GroEL
E 12	glnA	Glutamine synthase
	pgi	Glucose-6-isomerase
Acid stress	atpC	ATP synthase subunit epsilon
	atpD	ATP synthase subunit beta
Party.	atpA	ATP synthase subunit alpha
	atpG	ATP synthase subunit gamma
	atpH	ATP synthase subunit delta
	atpF	ATP synthase subunit B
	atpB	ATP synthase subunit A
	atpE	ATP synthase subunit C
	recA	Protein RecA (recombinase A)
	relA	GTP pyrophosphokinase
	groS	Co-chaperonin GroES
	groL	Chaperonin GroEL
	aspS	Aspartate-tRNA ligase
Acid stress/Bile resistance	gpmA1	2,3-bisphosphoglycerate dependent
		phosphoglycerate mutase 1
	gpmA2	2,3-bisphosphoglycerate-dependent
		phosphoglycerate mutase 2
	dnaK	Chaperone protein DnaK
	dnaJ	Chaperone protein DnaJ
	glmU	Bifunctional UDP-N
		acetylglucosamine
		diphosphorylase/glucosamine
		phosphate
	luxS	S-ribosylhomocysteine lyase
	gadB	Glutamate decarboxylase; GABA

 Table 25 Potential genes associated to various probiotic characteristics from L.

 plantarum LM14-2 genome

Putative function	Genes	Gene product
		transporter
Bile resistance	nagB	Glucosamine-6-phosphate
		deaminase
	pyrG	CTP synthase
	argS	Arginine-tRNA ligase
	rpsC	30S ribosomal protein S3
	rpsE	30S ribosomal protein S5
	rplD	50S ribosomal protein L4
	rplE	50S ribosomal protein L5
	rplF	50S ribosomal protein L6
DNA and protein protection and repair	dps1	DNA starvation/stationary phase
		protection protein
	dps2	DNA starvation/stationary phase
		protection protein
	msrB	Peptide methionine sulfoxide
	11/122	reductase MsrB
Fatty acid synthesis	fabD	Malonyl CoA-acyl carrier protein
	8	transacylase
	fabH1	3-oxoacyl-[acyl-carrier-protein]
		synthase III protein 1
	fabH2	3-oxoacyl-[acyl-carrier-protein]
		synthase III protein 2
	fabF	3-oxoacyl-[acyl-carrier-protein]
- / / / 33		synthase II
	fabl	Enoyl-[acyl-carrier-protein]
		reductase [NADH]
	accCl	acetyl-CoA carboxylase biotin
STrees		carboxylase subunit
III.	accC2	acetyl-CoA carboxylase biotin
Par son	Van	carboxylase subunit
Lactate synthesis	mdh	Malate dehydrogenase
Transcriptional regulator	ctsR	Transcriptional regulator CtsR
	hrcA	Heat-inducible transcriptional
011001000	Terra Baser	repressor HrcA
Matabolic rearrangement	aldB	Alpha-acetolactate decarboxylase

119

Furthermore, genomic analysis of several *L. plantarum* strains have recently discovered the genetic loci responsible for bacteriocin production (Todorov, 2009). This study discovered that strain LM14-2 contained six genes that are crucial for the production of the bacteriocin: plantaricin NC8-a, F, E, J, NC8-B and, K with 98.60, 107.07, 112.46, 112.46, 112.85, 114.01 bit-score, respectively (Figure 27). However, L. plantarum LM14-2 lacked several genes, including plnA, plnB, plnC, plnL, plnN, plnO, plnQ, plnR, plnT, plnU, plnV, plnW, and plnX gene, which are also essential for bacteriocin production (Diep et al., 2009). Thus, it could be summarized that this strain could not produce antimicrobial compound. These findings demonstrated that LM14-2 contains probiotic properties. Genomic analysis of several L. plantarum

strains have recently discovered the genetic loci responsible for bacteriocin production (Todorov, 2009).



Figure 27 Genetic map of the bacteriocin synthetic genes of *L. plantarum* LM14-2. using the online BAGEL v.4.0. web-based tool (http://bagel4.molgenrug.nl/index.php, accessed on 18 June 2022). Terminators are shown as maroon line circle ends

4.20 Carbohydrate-active enzyme analysis

The presence of genes involved in carbohydrate metabolism in *L*. plantarum LM14-2 and *Lc. lactis* subsp. *lactis* NH2-7C is essential for its potential adaptability to the environment of the gut environment and its interaction with the human host, hence enhancing its survival, competitiveness, and longevity.

For strain LM14-2, the genome of strain LM14-2 comprised 101 carbohydrate-active enzyme genes, including 39 glycosyltransferase (GT) genes, 51 glycoside hydrolase (GH) genes, five carbohydrates esterase (CE) genes, and three carbohydrate-binding molecules (CBMs), and three auxiliary activities (AA).

For strain NH2-7C, the genome of strain NH2-7C comprised 85 carbohydrateactive enzyme genes, including 28 glycosyltransferase (GT) genes, 44 glycoside hydrolase (GH) genes, six carbohydrates esterase (CE) genes, and six carbohydratebinding molecules (CBMs), and one auxiliary activity (AA).

Consequently, LM14-2 and NH2-7C could use several mono- and polysaccharides as energy sources and produce complex compounds. The results may support the nomadic nature of the strain, which is generally characteristic of *L*. *plantarum* strains (Martino et al., 2016). The study of the GH enzyme families in strain LM14-2 and NH2-7C showed the presence of GH13 and GH32, which have been described as key oligosaccharide-degrading enzymes. Oligosaccharides are

source of prebiotics, which are related to human gut health (Pokusaeva et al., 2011; Tarrah et al., 2020). Furthermore, GH families play essential roles in carbohydrate hydrolysis and their action as retaining enzymes involved in synthesizing oligosaccharides that may be preferentially utilized as prebiotics by *L. plantarum* LM14-2, *Lc. lactis* subsp. *lactis* NH2-7C, and other gastrointestinal probiotic bacteria (Abriouel et al., 2017). In addition, glycosyltransferases catalyze the transfer of sugars from activated donor molecules to specified acceptors, which is necessary for constructing surface structures recognized by host immune systems (Chung et al., 2018). Thus, the *L. plantarum* LM14-2 and *Lc. lactis* subsp. *lactis* NH2-7C containing the numerous GT genes could be a potential probiotic, especially for immunomodulation and pathogen prevention.



CHAPTER V CONCLUSION

Ninety strains of lactic acid bacteria (LAB) isolated from fermented foods and bark of Tamarindus indica and identified using the phenotypic characteristics and 16S rRNA gene sequence analysis. For the fermented mussel (Hoi-dong) samples, they were identified as Companilactobacillus formosensis (10 strains), Lentilactobacillus buchneri (8 strains), Lactiplantibacillus plantarum subsp. plantarum (17 strains), Lacticaseibacillus rhamnosus (1 strain), Pediococcus pentosaceus (5 strains) and acidilactici (1 strain), Enterococcus thailandicus (2 strains), Pediococcus Enterococcu hirae (1 strain), Enterococcu durans (1 strain), Lactococcus lactis subsp. lactis (1 strain), Lactococcus lactis subsp. hordinae (1 strain), and Leuconostoc lactis (1 strain). For the fermented fish (Pla-paeng-daeng) samples, they were identified as Lactiplantibacillus pentosus (6 strains), Lactiplantibacillus argentoratensis (1 strain), Limosilactobacillus fermentum (2 strains), Companilactobacillus pabuli (4 strains), Companilactobacillus farciminis (5 strains), Companilactobacillus futsaii (6 strains), and Enterococcus lactis (1 strain). For the fermented pork (Nham) samples, they were identified as Lactiplantibacillus pentosus (4 strains), Lactiplantibacillus argentoratensis (2 strains), Lacticaseibacillus paracasei subsp. tolerans (1 strain), Pediococcus pentosaceus (7 strains), Lactococcus lactis subsp. lactis (1 strain).

Furthermore, strain BCM23-1^T was isolated from bark of *Tamarindus indica* collected from Chiang Mai province. This strain produced D-lactic acid from glucose. It grew at 20-45 °C (optimum, 30 °C), pH 3.5-9 (optimum, pH 7.0) and in the presence of 1-4 % (w/v) NaCl. The cell-wall peptidoglycan contained mesodiaminopimelic acid (A1 γ). The major isoprenoid quinone was menaquinone 7 (MK-7). Polar lipids analysis revealed the presence of diphosphatidylglycerol, phosphatidylglycerol, an unidentified aminophospholipid, an unidentified phospholipid and an unidentified lipid. The predominant cellular fatty acids were anteiso-C_{17:0}, anteiso-C_{15:0}, and iso-C_{16:0} when cultivated on GYP agar plates. The 16S rRNA gene sequence similarity between strain BCM23-1^T and Terrilactibacillus laevilacticus NK26-11^T was 98.3 %. The draft genome of BCM23-1^T was 3.24 Mb in

size and contained 3088 coding sequences with an *in silico* DNA G+C content of 37.1 mol%. The values of ANIb, ANIm and digital DNA-DNA hybridization between strain BCM23-1^T and *T. laevilacticus* NK26-11^T were 89.9, 90.8 and 40.4 %, respectively. The results of phenotypic and chemotaxonomic, 16S rRNA gene sequence similarity, and whole genome analyses support strain BCM23-1^T as representing a novel species of *Terrilactibacillus* for which the name *Terrilactibacillus tamarindi* sp. nov. is proposed. The type strain is BCM23-1^T (=LMG 31662^T=JCM 33748^T=TISTR 2841^T).

Only 12 strains, eight strains of *L. plantarum* (LM6-1, LM6-2, LM7-2-2B, LM12-1, LM14-1, LM14-2, LM15-1P, and LM15-2), two strains of *L. pentosus* (PD3-1 and PD9-2), and one strain of *Lc. lactis* subsp. *lactis* NH2-7C demonstrated bile salt hydrolase activity by forming opaque white colonies. In addition, one strain of *En. lactis* (PD3-2) demonstrated bile salt hydrolase activity by forming halos around colonies. The selected strains exhibited that the percentage of cholesterol assimilation varied from 27.40 % to 86.07 %. *L. plantarum* LM14-2 (86.07 \pm 5.03%) showed the highest cholesterol assimilation rate, while *L. pentosus* PD9-2 (27.40 \pm 2.00%).

Twelve selected strains were determined the viability during gastrointestinal transit. The reduction of viable cells was observed through the incubation period in simulated gastric condition. The survival of selected strains was decreased by about 0.5-3.2 log cycle after incubation in simulated gastric condition at pH 3.0 for 3 h. In simulated gastric condition, the viability of *Lc. lactis* subsp. *lactis* NH2-7C was slightly decreased from 8.56 ± 0.07 to 8.05 ± 0.14 (log₁₀CFU/ml). Subsequently, all selected strains were transited and incubated in small intestinal condition at pH 7 for 5 h. The viability of all selected strains showed a reduction of the log from 1.35 to 3 compared with the log CFU in intestinal condition at 0 h. Notably, *L. plantarum* LM14-2 and *L. pentosus* PD3-1 showed excellent viability. This finding revealed that *L. plantarum* LM14-2 and *L. pentosus* PD3-1 could retain viability when exposed to the gastrointestinal condition. Furthermore, all selected strains showed varied adhesion ability to Caco-2 cells from 82.46 to 31.16%

The heat-killed cells of *L. plantarum* (LM6-1, LM6-2, LM7-2-2B, LM12-1, LM14-1, LM14-2, LM15-1P, LM15-2), *L. pentosus* (PD3-1 and PD9-2), and *En.*

lactis (PD3-2) still contained the variably immunomodulation effects on the level of IL-12, IFN- γ , hbD2, and NO. *En. lactis* PD3-2 potentially induced the production of IL-12 at 57.45 ± 7.22 ng/ml, while *L. plantarum* LM6-1 decreased the production of

IL-12 at 57.45 ± 7.22 ng/ml, while *L. plantarum* LM6-1 decreased the production of IL-12 at 7.15 ± 1.22 ng/ml. For IFN-γ induction, *L. plantarum* LM12-1 had the highest ability to stimulate IFN-γ production at 59.93 ± 16.02 ng/ml. Conversely, *L. plantarum* LM6-1 had the lowest stimulated ability at 21.84 ± 6.64 ng/ml. For hBD2 production, almost selected strains could enhance hBD2 production, but *L. plantarum* LM7-2-2B suppressed it. For nitric oxide (NO) production, the maximum NO production was found in *L. plantarum* LM14-2 at 19.98 ± 0.28 µM; however, *En. lactis* PD3-2 showed the minimum NO production at 8.30 ± 0.09 µM. Furthermore, the heat-killed cells and cell-free supernatant of *Lc. lactis* subsp. *lactis* NH2-7C showed immunomodulatory effects. The combination of heat-killed cells of NH2-7C and LPS synergistically induced the TNF- α (4773.97 ± 221.42 pg/ml) and IL-6 (488.59 ± 11.57 pg/ml) production. On the contrary, the cell-free supernatant of strain NH2-7C showed remarkably anti-inflammatory activity by suppressing TNF- α and IL-6 production.

Only Lc. lactis subsp. lactis NH2-7C showed antimicrobial activity. The cellfree supernatant of strain NH2-7C was pH 4.32 and sensitive to protease enzymes. The result revealed that the antimicrobial compounds in the CFS contained proteinaceous structure as a bacteriocin. The bacteriocin showed the highest antimicrobial activity at 20 h with an activity of 51,200 AU/ml with L. sakei JCM 1157^T (sensitive indicator). The antimicrobial peptide of NH2-7C was partially purified by AmberiteXAD-16 and Sp-sepharose. Fifty percent of the activity in the culture supernatant was recovered by hydrophobic interaction chromatography (Amberlite XAD-16). After being subjected to cation-exchange chromatography (SPsepharose), the bacteriocin activity was recovered in a 0.25 M NaCl fraction. Finally, approximately 10% of the total activity of the culture supernatant was obtained after these purification steps. The antimicrobial spectra of bacteriocin NH2-7C were shown the inhibition activity with closely related bacterial strains and almost Gram-positive bacteria. Some Gram-negative pathogens, such as A. hydrophila, H. pylori, V. harveyi, and V. parahaemolyticus, were inhibited. However, Candida albicans strains could not be inhibited. The characteristic of partially purified bacteriocin NH2-7C was stable under the temperature treatment at 100°C for 10, 20, and 30 min; conversely, the activity decreased by 50% on applying sterilization temperature (121 °C for 15 min). For the effects of pH, the partially purified bacteriocin NH2-7C was active over a wide pH range between 2 and 13. The activity was stable at the pH between 2 and 7, while a decrease in activity was obtained from pH 9 to 13. However, partially purified bacteriocin NH2-7C seemed more stable in acidic conditions. For the effects of chemicals, the bacteriocin NH2-7C with organic solvents, including ethanol, isopropanol, and acetonitrile, did not cause any loss of antimicrobial activity. The antimicrobial activity of bacteriocin NH2-7C was not affected by 1% (v/v) Tween 20, Tween 80, Triton X-100 EDTA; while the exposition of this compound to 1% urea resulted in the reduction of the bacteriocin activity. The enhanced activity of bacteriocin NH2-7C was observed. The bacteriocin of strain NH2-7C was identified as nisin A based on the genomic analysis.

The probiogenomic characteristics of *L. plantarum* LM14-2 and *Lc. lactis* subsp. *lactis* NH2-7C showed that these strains were considered safe, and they did not contain virulence elements. In addition, they composed of various genes that play roles in acid and bile salt tolerance, adhesion, and other positive benefits. Therefore, the combination of *in vitro* and *in silico* analysis suggested that *L. plantarum* LM14-2 and *Lc. lactis* subsp. *lactis* NH2-7C is considered a potential probiotic because it exhibits health-promoting effects and probiotic characteristics.

The results from this study provided the distribution of LAB in Thai fermented foods and the bark of *Tamarindus indica*, which are attractive isolation sources of probiotic lactic acid bacteria. According to the results of screening cholesterol-lowering effects, and probiotic properties. Also, the probiogenomic data of strain NH2-7C and LM14-2 supported the desirable features. Thus, these strains can be considered excellent candidates for use as probiotics. However, further investigations in an *in vivo* model are required.

APPENDIX A Culture media

All media were suspended with distilled water and sterilized by autoclaving at 121 °C for 15 min. For determination of acid production from carbon sources, the media were sterilized at 110 °C for 10 min.

1. MRS agar

医前侧间 建力		
Proteose peptone No.3	10.0	g
Beef Extract	10.0	g
Yeast Extract	5.0	g
Dextrose	20.0	g
Polysorbate 80	1.0	g
Ammonium Citrate	2.0	g
Sodium Acetate	5.0	g
Magnesium Sulfate	0.1	g
Manganese Sulfate GKORN	UN 0.05 SITY	g
Dipotassium Phosphate	2.0	g
Agar	15.0	g
Distilled water	1.0	L

For MRS broth, prepared with the same ingredients without the agar.

2. Columbia blood agar base supplemented with 5% sheep blood

Pancreatic Digest of Casein	10.0	g
Proteose Peptone No. 3	5.0	g
Yeast Extract	5.0	g
Beef Heart, Infusion from 500 g.	3.0	g
Corn starch	1.0	g
Sodium Chloride	5.0	g
Agar	15.0	g
Distilled water	1.0	L

After autoclaving, placed the media in water bath with temperature of 55 °C, then added with 50 ml of sheep blood and gentle mixed before pouring to the plates.

3. Brain heart infusion agar

Calf Brains, Infusion from 200 g	7.7 g
Beef Heart, Infusion from 250 g	9.8 g
Proteose Peptone	10.0 g
Dextrose	2.0 g
Sodium Chloride	5.0 g
Disodium phosphate	2.5 g
Agar	15.0 g
Distilled water	1.0 L

For brain heart infusion soft agar, prepared with the same ingredients but reduced agar from 15.0 g to 7 g per 1 L of distilled water. After cooling BHI soft agar to 55 °C, added horse serum at 5% final concentration before use

4. Salt solution

MgSO ₄ .7H ₂ O	400	mg
MnSO ₄ .5H ₂ O	20	mg
FeSO ₄ .7H ₂ O 2	0	mg
NaCl	20	mg
Distilled water	10	ml

6. L (+)-Arginine agar medium

	Peptone	1.0	g
	K ₂ HPO ₄	0.3	g
	NaCl	5.0	g
	L-(+) Arginine hydrochloride	10	g
	Phenol red	0.01	g
	Agar	3.0	g
	Distilled water	1.0	L
	Adjust to pH 6.8		
7. Nit	rate broth		
	Yeast extract	5.0	g
	Peptone	10.0	g
	KNO ₃	1.0	g
	NaCl	10	g
	Distilled water	1.0	L
	Adjust to pH 6.8	Ŭ.	
	จุหาลงกรณ์มหาวิทย		

HULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY

APPENDIX B Reagents and buffers

- 1. 0.85% NaCl

 NaCl
 0.85
 g

 Distilled water
 100
 ml
- 2. 1X Phosphate buffer saline (PBS buffer)

NaCl	8	g
KCI	0.2	g
Na ₂ HPO ₄	1.44	g
KH2PO4	0.24	g
Distilled water	1	L
pH 7.4		
3. Nitrate reduction test reagents		
Sulphanilic acid solution		
Sulphanilic acid การณ์มหาวิทยาลัย	0.8	g
5N Acetic acid_ONGKORN_UNIVERSITY	100	ml
N,N-dimethyl-1-naphthylamine solution		
N,N-dimethyl-1-naphthylamine	0.5	g
5N Acetic acid	100	ml
4. Mixed indicator		
Bromthymol blue	0.2	g
Neutral red	0.1	g
Ethanol	300	ml

5. PCR reaction mixture

		Stock	1	Volum	e (100 µl)	
	Forward Primer : 20F	10 pmol/µl	Z	1		
	Reward Primer : 1530R	10 pmol/µl	Z	ļ		
	10 x <i>Taq</i> buffer (NH ₄ SO ₄ -MgCl ₂)	10 x	1	0		
	dNTP	2.0 mM	2	2		
	MgCl ₂	25 mM	8	3		
	Taq DNA polymerase	5 Unit/µl	().5		
	Milli-Q water		6	56.5		
	Template	Undilute	4	5		
6.	1X Tris-acetate (TAE) buffer					
	50X Tris-acetate (TAE) buffer			20	ml	
	Distilled water			980	ml	
		65				
7.	Ethidium bromide solution (10 mg/	ml)				
	Ethidium bromide			1	g	
	Distilled water	UNIVERSITY	100	ml		
8.	0.8% Agarose gel					
	Agarose			0.8	g	
	Distilled water			100	ml	
	Melt the mixture with the microwave	2.				

APPENDIX C Reagents and buffers for partial purification

1.20% Ethanol

Absolute Ethano	ol	20	ml				
Milli-Q water		80	ml				
2. 70% iso-propanol + 0.1% Trifluoroacetic acid							
Iso-propanol		70	ml				
TFA	ST 1123	0.1	ml				
Milli-Q water		30	ml				
3. 50 mM Sodium phosphate buffer (pH 7.2)							
Monosodium ph	hosphate (Na ₂ HPO ₄)	5.64	g				
Disodium phosp	bhate (NaH ₂ PO ₄)	2.21	g				
Milli-Q water	AQA	1	L				
Dissolve two chemicals in 1 L of Milli-Q and adjust pH to 7.2							
4. 50 mM Sodium phosphate buffer (pH 7.2) + 0.25, 0.5, 0.75 and 1.0 M NaCl							
Prepare with the same ingredients with 50 mM sodium phosphate							
buffer and NaCl of 14.62 g, 29.25 g, 43.88 g and 58.5 g of NaCl to get the							
buffers containing 0.25	, 0.50, 0.75, 1.0 M of	NaCl,	respective				
จุหาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย							



Chulalongkorn University

REFERENCES



- Abriouel, H., Pérez Montoro, B., Casimiro-Soriguer, C. S., Pérez Pulido, A. J., Knapp, C. W., Caballero Gómez, N., Castillo-Gutiérrez, S., Estudillo-Martínez, M. D., Gálvez, A., & Benomar, N. (2017). Insight into potential probiotic markers predicted in Lactobacillus pentosus MP-10 genome sequence. *Frontiers in microbiology*, 8, 891.
- Abushelaibi, A., Al-Mahadin, S., El-Tarabily, K., Shah, N. P., & Ayyash, M. (2017). Characterization of potential probiotic lactic acid bacteria isolated from camel milk. LWT-food Science and Technology, 79, 316-325. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lwt.2017.01.041
- Aggarwal, B. B., Gupta, S. C., & Kim, J. H. (2012). Historical perspectives on tumor necrosis factor and its superfamily: 25 years later, a golden journey. *Blood, The Journal of the American Society of Hematology*, 119(3), 651-665.
- Ahn, H., Kim, J., & Kim, W. J. (2017). Isolation and characterization of bacteriocinproducing *Pediococcus acidilactici* HW01 from malt and its potential to control beer spoilage lactic acid bacteria. *Food Control*, 80, 59-66. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodcont.2017.04.022</u>
- Ahn, Y. T., Kim, G. B., Lim, K. S., Baek, Y. J., & Kim, H. U. (2003). Deconjugation of bile salts by *Lactobacillus acidophilus* isolates. *International Dairy Journal*, 13(4), 303-311. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0958-6946(02)00174-7</u>
- Alakomi, H. L., Skytta, E., Saarela, M., Mattila-Sandholm, T., Latva-Kala, K., & Helander, I. M. (2000). Lactic acid permeabilizes gram-negative bacteria by disrupting the outer membrane. *Applied and environmental microbiology*, 66(5), 2001-2005.
- Albano, C., Morandi, S., Silvetti, T., Casiraghi, M. C., Manini, F., & Brasca, M. (2018). Lactic acid bacteria with cholesterol-lowering properties for dairy applications: *In vitro* and *in situ* activity. *Journal of dairy science*, 101(12), 10807-10818. <u>https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.2018-15096</u>
- Alcock, B. P., Raphenya, A. R., Lau, T. T. Y., Tsang, K. K., Bouchard, M., Edalatmand, A., Huynh, W., Nguyen, A.-L. V., Cheng, A. A., & Liu, S. (2020). CARD 2020: antibiotic resistome surveillance with the comprehensive antibiotic resistance database. *Nucleic acids research*, 48(D1), D517-D525.
- Alp, D., & KuleaŞan, H. (2020). Determination of competition and adhesion abilities of lactic acid bacteria against gut pathogens in a whole-tissue model. *Bioscience of Microbiota, Food and Health.*
- Alvarez-Cisneros, Y. M., Fernández, F. J., Wacher-Rodarte, C., Aguilar, M. B., Sainz Espunes, T. d. R., & Ponce-Alquicira, E. (2010). Biochemical characterization of a bacteriocin-like inhibitory substance produced by Enterococcus faecium MXVK29, isolated from Mexican traditional sausage. *Journal of the Science* of Food and Agriculture, 90(14), 2475-2481.
- Amin, M. N., Siddiqui, S. A., Ibrahim, M., Hakim, M. L., Ahammed, M. S., Kabir, A., & Sultana, F. (2020). Inflammatory cytokines in the pathogenesis of cardiovascular disease and cancer. SAGE Open Medicine, 8, 2050312120965752.
- Argyri, A. A., Zoumpopoulou, G., Karatzas, K. A. G., Tsakalidou, E., Nychas, G. J. E., Panagou, E. Z., & Tassou, C. C. (2013). Selection of potential probiotic lactic acid bacteria from fermented olives by *in vitro* tests. *Food Microbiology*, 33(2), 282-291. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fm.2012.10.005</u>

- Arndt, D., Grant, J. R., Marcu, A., Sajed, T., Pon, A., Liang, Y., & Wishart, D. S. (2016). PHASTER: a better, faster version of the PHAST phage search tool. *Nucleic acids research*, 44(W1), W16-W21.
- Arnold, D. R., & Kwiterovich, P. O. (2003). CHOLESTEROL | Absorption, Function, and Metabolism. In B. Caballero (Ed.), *Encyclopedia of Food Sciences and Nutrition* (Second Edition) (pp. 1226-1237). Academic Press. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/B0-12-227055-X/00225-X</u>
- Aronow, W. S. (2017). Treatment of Hypercholesterolemia in 2015. American Journal of Therapeutics, 24(2), E121-E129. <u>https://doi.org/Doi</u> 10.1097/Mjt.00000000000358
- Ashraf, R., Vasiljevic, T., Day, S. L., Smith, S. C., & Donkor, O. N. (2014). Lactic acid bacteria and probiotic organisms induce different cytokine profile and regulatory T cells mechanisms. *Journal of Functional Foods*, *6*, 395-409.
- Auch, A. F., von Jan, M., Klenk, H.-P., & Göker, M. (2010). Digital DNA-DNA hybridization for microbial species delineation by means of genome-togenome sequence comparison. *Standards in genomic sciences*, 2(1), 117-134.
- Axelsson, L., Chung, T., Dobrogosz, W., & Lindgren, S. (1989). Production of a broad spectrum antimicrobial substance by *Lactobacillus reuteri*. *Microbial* ecology in health and disease, 2(2), 131-136.
- Azad, M. A., Sarker, M., & Wan, D. (2018). Immunomodulatory Effects of Probiotics on Cytokine Profiles. *Biomed Research International*. <u>https://doi.org/Artn</u> 8063647
- 10.1155/2018/8063647
- Aziz, R. K., Bartels, D., Best, A. A., DeJongh, M., Disz, T., Edwards, R. A., Formsma, K., Gerdes, S., Glass, E. M., & Kubal, M. (2008). The RAST Server: rapid annotations using subsystems technology. *BMC genomics*, 9(1), 1-15.
- Baek, K.-S., Hong, Y. D., Kim, Y., Sung, N. Y., Yang, S., Lee, K. M., Park, J. Y., Park, J. S., Rho, H. S., & Shin, S. S. (2015). Anti-inflammatory activity of AP-SF, a ginsenoside-enriched fraction, from Korean ginseng. *Journal of Ginseng Research*, 39(2), 155-161.
- Research, 39(2), 155-161.
 Bartley, G. E., Yokoyama, W., Young, S. A., Anderson, W. H. K., Hung, S. C., Albers, D. R., Langhorst, M. L., & Kim, H. (2010). Hypocholesterolemic Effects of Hydroxypropyl Methylcellulose Are Mediated by Altered Gene Expression in Hepatic Bile and Cholesterol Pathways of Male Hamsters. *Journal of Nutrition*, 140(7), 1255-1260. https://doi.org/10.3945/jn.109.118349
- Basso, T. O., Gomes, F. S., Lopes, M. L., de Amorim, H. V., Eggleston, G., & Basso, L. C. (2014). Homo- and heterofermentative lactobacilli differently affect sugarcane-based fuel ethanol fermentation. *Antonie Van Leeuwenhoek International Journal of General and Molecular Microbiology*, 105(1), 169-177. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10482-013-0063-6</u>
- Batta, A. K., Salen, G., Arora, R., Shefer, S., Batta, M., & Person, A. (1990). Side-Chain Conjugation Prevents Bacterial 7-Dehydroxylation of Bile-Acids. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 265(19), 10925-10928. <Go to ISI>://WOS:A1990DL65500023

- Begley, M., Hill, C., & Gahan, C. G. (2006). Bile salt hydrolase activity in probiotics. *Applied and environmental microbiology*, 72(3), 1729-1738.
- Begley, M., Hill, C., & Gahan, C. G. M. (2006). Bile salt hydrolase activity in probiotics. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 72(3), 1729-1738. https://doi.org/10.1128/Aem.72.3.1729-1738.2006
- Bernet, M.-F., Brassart, D., Neeser, J.-R., & Servin, A. L. (1994). Lactobacillus acidophilus LA 1 binds to cultured human intestinal cell lines and inhibits cell attachment and cell invasion by enterovirulent bacteria. *Gut*, *35*(4), 483-489.
- Bi, J., Fang, F., Lu, S. Y., Du, G. C., & Chen, J. (2013). New insight into the catalytic properties of bile salt hydrolase. *Journal of Molecular Catalysis B-Enzymatic*, 96, 46-51. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcatb.2013.06.010</u>
- Bintsis, T. (2018). Lactic acid bacteria as starter cultures: An update in their metabolism and genetics. *Aims Microbiology*, 4(4), 665-684. <u>https://doi.org/10.3934/microbiol.2018.4.665</u>
- Bordoni, A., Amaretti, A., Leonardi, A., Boschetti, E., Danesi, F., Matteuzzi, D., Roncaglia, L., Raimondi, S., & Rossi, M. (2013). Cholesterol-lowering probiotics: *in vitro* selection and *in vivo* testing of bifidobacteria. *Applied Microbiology* and *Biotechnology*, 97(18), 8273-8281. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00253-013-5088-2
- Bortolaia, V., Kaas, R. S., Ruppe, E., Roberts, M. C., Schwarz, S., Cattoir, V., Philippon, A., Allesoe, R. L., Rebelo, A. R., & Florensa, A. F. (2020). ResFinder 4.0 for predictions of phenotypes from genotypes. *Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy*, 75(12), 3491-3500.
- Bortolini, O., Medici, A., & Poli, S. (1997). Biotransformations on steroid nucleus of bile acids. *Steroids*, 62(8-9), 564-577. <u>https://doi.org/Doi</u> 10.1016/S0039-128x(97)00043-3
- Cantarel, B. L., Coutinho, P. M., Rancurel, C., Bernard, T., Lombard, V., & Henrissat, B. (2009). The Carbohydrate-Active EnZymes database (CAZy): an expert resource for Glycogenomics. *Nucleic Acids Res*, 37(Database issue), D233-238. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkn663</u>
- Cao-Hoang, L., Marechal, P. A., Le-Thanh, M., & Gervais, P. (2008). Synergistic action of rapid chilling and nisin on the inactivation of *Escherichia coli*. *Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology*, 79(1), 105-109. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00253-008-1402-9
- Capela, P., Hay, T. K. C., & Shah, N. P. (2006). Effect of cryoprotectants, prebiotics and microencapsulation on survival of probiotic organisms in yoghurt and freeze-dried yoghurt. *Food Research International*, 39(2), 203-211. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodres.2005.07.007
- Carattoli, A., Zankari, E., Garcia-Fernandez, A., Larsen, M. V., Lund, O., Villa, L., Aarestrup, F. M., & Hasman, H. (2014). PlasmidFinder and pMLST: in silico detection and typing of plasmids. *Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy*.
- Caro-Astorga, J., Álvarez-Mena, A., Hierrezuelo, J., Guadix, J. A., Heredia-Ponce, Z., Arboleda-Estudillo, Y., González-Munoz, E., de Vicente, A., & Romero, D. (2020). Two genomic regions encoding exopolysaccharide production systems have complementary functions in B. cereus multicellularity and host interaction. *Scientific reports*, 10(1), 1-15.

- Casey, P. G., Casey, G. D., Gardiner, G. E., Tangney, M., Stanton, C., Ross, R. P., Hill, C., & Fitzgerald, G. F. (2004). Isolation and characterization of anti-*Salmonella* lactic acid bacteria from the porcine gastrointestinal tract. *Letters in Applied Microbiology*, 39(5), 431-438. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1472-765X.2004.01603.x</u>
- Casjens, S. (2003). Prophages and bacterial genomics: what have we learned so far? *Molecular microbiology*, 49(2), 277-300.
- Chae, J., Valeriano, V., Kim, G. B., & Kang, D. K. (2013). Molecular cloning, characterization and comparison of bile salt hydrolases from *Lactobacillus johnsonii* PF 01. *Journal of Applied Microbiology*, *114*(1), 121-133.
- Chang, Y. H., & Stackebrandt, E. (2014). The Family Sporolactobacillaceae. *The Prokaryotes*, 353-362.
- Chauviere, G., Coconnier, M.-H., Kernéis, S., Fourniat, J., & Servin, A. L. (1992). Adhesion of human Lactobacillus acidophilus strain LB to human enterocytelike Caco-2 cells. *Microbiology*, 138(8), 1689-1696.
- Cheigh, C.-I., & Pyun, Y.-R. (2005). Nisin biosynthesis and its properties. *Biotechnology letters*, 27(21), 1641-1648.
- Chen, C. Y., Tsen, H. Y., Lin, C. L., Lin, C. K., Chuang, L. T., Chen, C. S., & Chiang, Y. C. (2013). Enhancement of the immune response against *Salmonella* infection of mice by heat-killed multispecies combinations of lactic acid bacteria. *Journal of Medical Microbiology*, 62, 1657-1664. <u>https://doi.org/10.1099/jmm.0.061010-0</u>
- Chokesajjawatee, N., Santiyanont, P., Chantarasakha, K., Kocharin, K., Thammarongtham, C., Lertampaiporn, S., Vorapreeda, T., Srisuk, T., Wongsurawat, T., & Jenjaroenpun, P. (2020). Safety assessment of a nham starter culture Lactobacillus plantarum BCC9546 via whole-genome analysis. *Scientific reports*, 10(1), 1-12.
- Christensen, H. R., Frokiaer, H., & Pestka, J. J. (2002). Lactobacilli differentially modulate expression of cytokines and maturation surface markers in murine dendritic cells. Journal of Immunology, 168(1), 171-178. <u>https://doi.org/DOI</u> 10.4049/jimmunol.168.1.171
- Chun, J., Oren, A., Ventosa, A., Christensen, H., Arahal, D. R., da Costa, M. S., Rooney, A. P., Yi, H., Xu, X.-W., & De Meyer, S. (2018). Proposed minimal standards for the use of genome data for the taxonomy of prokaryotes. *International journal of systematic and evolutionary microbiology*, 68(1), 461-466.
- Chung, W.-H., Kang, J., Lim, M. Y., Lim, T.-j., Lim, S., Roh, S. W., & Nam, Y.-D. (2018). Complete genome sequence and genomic characterization of Lactobacillus acidophilus LA1 (11869BP). *Frontiers in pharmacology*, 9, 83.
- Collins, M. D., Samelis, J., Metaxopoulos, J., & Wallbanks, S. (1993). Taxonomic studies on some Leuconostoc-like organisms from fermented sausages: description of a new genus Weissella for the Leuconostoc paramesenteroides group of species. *Journal of applied Bacteriology*, 75(6), 595-603.
- Cosentino, S., Voldby Larsen, M., Møller Aarestrup, F., & Lund, O. (2013). PathogenFinder-distinguishing friend from foe using bacterial whole genome sequence data. *PloS one*, 8(10), e77302.

- Cotter, P. D., Hill, C., & Ross, R. P. (2005). Bacteriocins: Developing innate immunity for food. *Nature Reviews Microbiology*, *3*(10), 777-788. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nrmicro1273</u>
- Crockett, E. L. (1998). Cholesterol function in plasma membranes from ectotherms: Membrane-specific roles in adaptation to temperature. *American Zoologist*, *38*(2), 291-304. <Go to ISI>://WOS:000073440100004
- Cross, M. L. (2002). Microbes versus microbes: immune signals generated by probiotic lactobacilli and their role in protection against microbial pathogens. *Fems Immunology and Medical Microbiology*, 34(4), 245-253. <u>https://doi.org/Pii</u> S0928-8244(02)00377-2

Doi 10.1016/S0928-8244(02)00377-2

- Cunningham-Rundles, S., Ahrne, S., Bengmark, S., Johann-Liang, R., Marshall, F., Metakis, L., Califano, C., Dunn, A. M., Grassey, C., Hinds, G., & Cervia, J. (2000). Probiotics and immune response. *American Journal of Gastroenterology*, 95(1), S22-S25. <u>https://doi.org/Doi</u> 10.1016/S0002-9270(99)00813-8
- da Costa, R. J., Voloski, F. L. S., Mondadori, R. G., Duval, E. H., & Fiorentini, A. M. (2019). Preservation of Meat Products with Bacteriocins Produced by Lactic Acid Bacteria Isolated from Meat. *Journal of Food Quality*. <u>https://doi.org/Artn</u> 4726510
- 10.1155/2019/4726510
- Dale, B. A., & Fredericks, L. P. (2005). Antimicrobial peptides in the oral environment: expression and function in health and disease. *Current issues in* molecular biology, 7(2), 119-134.
- Dashkevicz, M. P., & Feighner, S. D. (1989). Development of a differential medium for bile salt hydrolase-active Lactobacillus spp. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 55(1), 11-16.
- Davis, J. J., Wattam, A. R., Aziz, R. K., Brettin, T., Butler, R., Butler, R. M., Chlenski, P., Conrad, N., Dickerman, A., & Dietrich, E. M. (2020). The PATRIC Bioinformatics Resource Center: expanding data and analysis capabilities. *Nucleic acids research*, 48(D1), D606-D612.
- De Man, J., Rogosa, d., & Sharpe, M. E. (1960). A medium for the cultivation of lactobacilli. *Journal of applied Bacteriology*, 23(1), 130-135.
- de Melo Pereira, G. V., de Oliveira Coelho, B., Júnior, A. I. M., Thomaz-Soccol, V., & Soccol, C. R. (2018). How to select a probiotic? A review and update of methods and criteria. *Biotechnology advances*, 36(8), 2060-2076.
- Diamond, G., Beckloff, N., & Ryan, L. K. (2008). Host defense peptides in the oral cavity and the lung: similarities and differences. *Journal of Dental Research*, 87(10), 915-927.
- Diep, D. B., Straume, D., Kjos, M., Torres, C., & Nes, I. F. (2009). An overview of the mosaic bacteriocin pln loci from Lactobacillus plantarum. *Peptides*, 30(8), 1562-1574.
- du Toit, M., Franz, C. M. A. P., Dicks, L. M. T., Schillinger, U., Haberer, P., Warlies, B., Ahrens, F., & Holzapfel, W. H. (1998). Characterisation and selection of probiotic lactobacilli for a preliminary minipig feeding trial and their effect on serum cholesterol levels, faeces pH and faeces moisture content. *International*

Journal of Food Microbiology, 40(1-2), 93-104. <u>https://doi.org/Doi</u> 10.1016/S0168-1605(98)00024-5

- Duary, R. K., Batish, V. K., & Grover, S. (2010). Expression of the atpD gene in probiotic Lactobacillus plantarum strains under in vitro acidic conditions using RT-qPCR. *Research in microbiology*, *161*(5), 399-405.
- Duary, R. K., Rajput, Y. S., Batish, V. K., & Grover, S. (2011). Assessing the adhesion of putative indigenous probiotic lactobacilli to human colonic epithelial cells. *The Indian journal of medical research*, 134(5), 664.
- Elayaraja, S., Annamalai, N., Mayavu, P., & Balasubramanian, T. (2014). Production, purification and characterization of bacteriocin from Lactobacillus murinus AU06 and its broad antibacterial spectrum. Asian Pacific journal of tropical biomedicine, 4, S305-S311.
- Elegado, F. B., Kim, W. J., & Kwon, D. Y. (1997). Rapid purification, partial characterization, and antimicrobial spectrum of the bacteriocin, Pediocin AcM, from *Pediococcus acidilactici* M. *International Journal of Food Microbiology*, 37(1), 1-11. <u>https://doi.org/Doi</u> 10.1016/S0168-1605(97)00037-8
- Elkins, C. A., Moser, S. A., & Savage, D. C. (2001). Genes encoding bile salt hydrolases and conjugated bile salt transporters in *Lactobacillus johnsonii* 100-100 and other *Lactobacillus* species. *Microbiology-Sgm*, 147, 3403-3412. <u>https://doi.org/Doi</u> 10.1099/00221287-147-12-3403
- Elo, S., Saxelin, M., & Salminen, S. (1991). Attachment of Lactobacillus casei strain GG to human colon carcinoma cell line Caco-2: comparison with other dairy strains. *Letters in applied microbiology*, *13*(3), 154-156.
- Ennahar, S., Asou, Y., Zendo, T., Sonomoto, K., & Ishizaki, A. (2001). Biochemical and genetic evidence for production of enterocins A and B by *Enterococcus* faecium WHE 81. International Journal of Food Microbiology, 70(3), 291-301. <u>https://doi.org/Doi</u> 10.1016/S0168-1605(01)00565-7
- Ennahar, S., Sashihara, T., Sonomoto, K., & Ishizaki, A. (2000). Class IIa bacteriocins: biosynthesis, structure and activity. *Fems Microbiology Reviews*, 24(1), 85-106. <u>https://doi.org/DOI</u> 10.1111/j.1574-6976.2000.tb00534.x
- Feleke, A. (2006). Determination of Cholesterol in Foods by Flow Injection Analysis with Perroxyoxalate Chemiluminescence.
- Felsenstein, J. (1985). Confidence limits on phylogenies: an approach using the bootstrap. *Evolution*, *39*(4), 783-791.
- Ferrari, I. D., de Souza, J. V., Ramos, C. L., da Costa, M. M., Schwan, R. F., & Dias, F. S. (2016). Selection of autochthonous lactic acid bacteria from goat dairies and their addition to evaluate the inhibition of *Salmonella typhi* in artisanal cheese. *Food Microbiology*, 60, 29-38. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fm.2016.06.014</u>
- Florou-Paneri, P., Christaki, E., & Bonos, E. (2013). Lactic acid bacteria as source of functional ingredients. In *Lactic Acid Bacteria-R & D for Food, Health and Livestock Purposes*. IntechOpen.
- Franz, C. M. A. P., Specht, I., Haberer, P., & Holzapfel, W. H. (2001). Bile salt hydrolase activity of enterococci isolated from food: Screening and quantitative determination. *Journal of Food Protection*, 64(5), 725-729. <u>https://doi.org/Doi</u> 10.4315/0362-028x-64.5.725

- Galeone, A., Paparella, D., Colucci, S., Grano, M., & Brunetti, G. (2013). The role of TNF-α and TNF superfamily members in the pathogenesis of calcific aortic valvular disease. *The Scientific World Journal*, 2013.
- Ganz, T. (2003). Defensins: antimicrobial peptides of innate immunity. *Nature reviews immunology*, 3(9), 710-720.
- García-Cayuela, T., Korany, A. M., Bustos, I., de Cadiñanos, L. P. G., Requena, T., Peláez, C., & Martínez-Cuesta, M. C. (2014). Adhesion abilities of dairy Lactobacillus plantarum strains showing an aggregation phenotype. *Food Research International*, 57, 44-50.
- Gaspar, C., Donders, G. G., Palmeira-de-Oliveira, R., Queiroz, J. A., Tomaz, C., Martinez-de-Oliveira, J., & Palmeira-de-Oliveira, A. (2018). Bacteriocin production of the probiotic Lactobacillus acidophilus KS400. Amb Express, 8(1), 1-8.
- Gill, H. S., Rutherfurd, K. J., Cross, M. L., & Gopal, P. K. (2001). Enhancement of immunity in the elderly by dietary supplementation with the probiotic *Bifidobacterium lactis* HN019. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 74(6), 833-839. <Go to ISI>://WOS:000172328600020
- Gill, H. S., Rutherfurd, K. J., Prasad, J., & Gopal, P. K. (2000). Enhancement of natural and acquired immunity by *Lactobacillus rhamnosus* (HN001), *Lactobacillus acidophilus* (HN017) and *Bifidobacterium lactis* (HN019). *British Journal of Nutrition*, 83(2), 167-176.
- Golomb, B. A., & Evans, M. A. (2008). Statin adverse effects. American Journal of Cardiovascular Drugs, 8(6), 373-418.
- Goris, J., Konstantinidis, K. T., Klappenbach, J. A., Coenye, T., Vandamme, P., & Tiedje, J. M. (2007). DNA–DNA hybridization values and their relationship to whole-genome sequence similarities. *International journal of systematic and* evolutionary microbiology, 57(1), 81-91.
- Grant, J. R., & Stothard, P. (2008). The CGView Server: a comparative genomics tool for circular genomes. *Nucleic acids research*, *36*(suppl_2), W181-W184.
- Guan, C., Chen, X., Jiang, X., Zhao, R., Yuan, Y., Chen, D., Zhang, C., Lu, M., Lu, Z., & Gu, R. (2020). In vitro studies of adhesion properties of six lactic acid bacteria isolated from the longevous population of China. *RSC Advances*, 10(41), 24234-24240.
- Gupta, A., & Tiwari, S. K. (2015). Probiotic potential of bacteriocin-producing Enterococcus hirae strain LD3 isolated from dosa batter. *Annals of Microbiology*, 65(4), 2333-2342.
- Gyawali, R., & Ibrahim, S. A. (2014). Natural products as antimicrobial agents. *Food Control*, 46, 412-429. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodcont.2014.05.047</u>
- Han, Q., Kong, B. H., Chen, Q., Sun, F. D., & Zhang, H. (2017). In vitro comparison of probiotic properties of lactic acid bacteria isolated from Harbin dry sausages and selected probiotics. *Journal of Functional Foods*, 32, 391-400. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jff.2017.03.020
- Han, S., Lu, Y., Xie, J., Fei, Y., Zheng, G., Wang, Z., Liu, J., Lv, L., Ling, Z., & Berglund, B. (2021). Probiotic gastrointestinal transit and colonization after oral administration: A long journey. *Frontiers in Cellular and Infection Microbiology*, 11, 102.

- Harder, J. r., Bartels, J., Christophers, E., & Schröder, J.-M. (2001). Isolation and Characterization of Human µ-Defensin-3, a Novel Human Inducible Peptide Antibiotic. Journal of Biological Chemistry, 276(8), 5707-5713.
- Hasegawa, T., Takizawa, M., & Tanida, S. (1983). A rapid analysis for chemical grouping of aerobic actinomycetes. The Journal of General and Applied Microbiology, 29(4), 319-322.
- Heufler, C., Koch, F., Stanzl, U., Topar, G., Wysocka, M., Trinchieri, G., Enk, A., Steinman, R. M., Romani, N., & Schuler, G. (1996). Interleukin-12 is produced by dendritic cells and mediates T helper 1 development as well as interferon-gamma production by T helper 1 cells. European Journal of Immunology, 26(3), 659-668. https://doi.org/DOI 10.1002/eji.1830260323
- Higashikawa, F., Noda, M., Awaya, T., Nomura, K., Oku, H., & Sugiyama, M. (2010). Improvement of constipation and liver function by plant-derived lactic acid bacteria: A double-blind, randomized trial. Nutrition, 26(4), 367-374. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nut.2009.05.008
- Hill, C., Guarner, F., Reid, G., Gibson, G. R., Merenstein, D. J., Pot, B., Morelli, L., Canani, R. B., Flint, H. J., & Salminen, S. (2014). The International Scientific Association for Probiotics and Prebiotics consensus statement on the scope and appropriate use of the term probiotic. Nature reviews Gastroenterology & hepatology, 11(8), 506-514.
- Ho Sui, S. J., Fedynak, A., Hsiao, W. W. L., Langille, M. G. I., & Brinkman, F. S. L. (2009). The association of virulence factors with genomic islands. PloS one, 4(12), e8094.
- Hosaka, Y., Itoh, K., Matsutani, S., Kawate, S., Miura, A., Mizoura, Y., Yamada, S., Konno, H., Grave, E., & Nagata, K. (2021). Fermented food Tempeh induces interleukin 12 and enhances macrophage phagocytosis. Journal of Food *Biochemistry*, 45(11), e13958.
- Hou, C. L., Zeng, X. F., Yang, F. J., Liu, H., & Qiao, S. Y. (2015). Study and use of the probiotic Lactobacillus reuteri in pigs: a review. Journal of Animal Science and Biotechnology, 6. https://doi.org/ARTN 14

- 10.1186/s40104-015-0014-3 Hu, Y. X., Liu, X. L., Shan, C. J., Xia, X. D., Wang, Y., Dong, M. S., & Zhou, J. Z. (2017). Novel bacteriocin produced by Lactobacillus alimentarius FM-MM4 from a traditional Chinese fermented meat Nanx Wudl: Purification, identification and antimicrobial characteristics. Food Control, 77, 290-297. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodcont.2017.02.007
- Huang, Y., Luo, Y., Zhai, Z., Zhang, H., Yang, C., Tian, H., Li, Z., Feng, J., Liu, H., & Hao, Y. (2009). Characterization and application of an anti-Listeria bacteriocin produced by Pediococcus pentosaceus 05-10 isolated from Sichuan Pickle, a traditionally fermented vegetable product from China. Food Control, 20(11), 1030-1035.
- Hymes, J. P., Johnson, B. R., Barrangou, R., & Klaenhammer, T. R. (2016). Functional analysis of an S-layer-associated fibronectin-binding protein in Lactobacillus acidophilus NCFM. Applied and environmental microbiology, 82(9), 2676-2685.

- Ishimwe, N., Daliri, E. B., Lee, B. H., Fang, F., & Du, G. (2015). The perspective on cholesterol-lowering mechanisms of probiotics. *Molecular nutrition & food research*, 59(1), 94-105.
- Islam, S. U. (2016). Clinical uses of probiotics. *Medicine*, 95(5).
- Iwabuchi, N., Yonezawa, S., Odamaki, T., Yaeshima, T., Iwatsuki, K., & Xiao, J.-Z. (2012). Immunomodulating and anti-infective effects of a novel strain of Lactobacillus paracasei that strongly induces interleukin-12. FEMS Immunology & Medical Microbiology, 66(2), 230-239.
- Iwabuchi, N., Yonezawa, S., Odamaki, T., Yaeshima, T., Iwatsuki, K., & Xiao, J. Z. (2012). Immunomodulating and anti-infective effects of a novel strain of *Lactobacillus paracasei* that strongly induces interleukin-12. *Fems Immunology and Medical Microbiology*, 66(2), 230-239. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1574-695X.2012.01003.x</u>
- Jang, D.-i., Lee, A. H., Shin, H.-Y., Song, H.-R., Park, J.-H., Kang, T.-B., Lee, S.-R., & Yang, S.-H. (2021). The role of tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF-α) in autoimmune disease and current TNF-α inhibitors in therapeutics. *International journal of molecular sciences*, 22(5), 2719.
- Jarocki, P., Podlesny, M., Glibowski, P., & Targonski, Z. (2014). A New Insight into the Physiological Role of Bile Salt Hydrolase among Intestinal Bacteria from the Genus *Bifidobacterium*. *Plos One*, *9*(12). <u>https://doi.org/ARTN</u> e114379
- 10.1371/journal.pone.0114379
- Jayashree, S., Pooja, S., Pushpanathan, M., Rajendhran, J., & Gunasekaran, P. (2014). Identification and characterization of bile salt hydrolase genes from the genome of Lactobacillus fermentum MTCC 8711. Applied biochemistry and biotechnology, 174(2), 855-866.
- Jensen, H., Dromtorp, S. M., Axelsson, L., & Grimmer, S. (2015). Immunomodulation of Monocytes by Probiotic and Selected Lactic Acid Bacteria. *Probiotics and Antimicrobial Proteins*, 7(1), 14-23. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s12602-014-9174-2</u>
- Joint, F. (2001). WHO Expert consultation on evaluation of health and nutritional properties of probiotics in food including powder milk with live lactic acid bacteria. *Córdoba, Argentina. October*, 1-4.
- Joint, F. A. O. (2002). WHO working group report on drafting guidelines for the evaluation of probiotics in food. *London, Ontario, Canada, 30*.
- Jones, M. L., Tomaro-Duchesneau, C., Martoni, C. J., & Prakash, S. (2013). Cholesterol lowering with bile salt hydrolase-active probiotic bacteria, mechanism of action, clinical evidence, and future direction for heart health applications. *Expert Opinion on Biological Therapy*, *13*(5), 631-642. https://doi.org/10.1517/14712598.2013.758706
- Kämpfer, P., & Kroppenstedt, R. M. (1996). Numerical analysis of fatty acid patterns of coryneform bacteria and related taxa. *Canadian Journal of Microbiology*, 42(10), 989-1005.
- Kanehisa, M., Sato, Y., & Morishima, K. (2016). BlastKOALA and GhostKOALA: KEGG tools for functional characterization of genome and metagenome sequences. *Journal of molecular biology*, 428(4), 726-731.
- Kang, C.-H., Kim, J.-S., Kim, H., Park, H. M., & Paek, N.-S. (2021). Heat-Killed Lactic Acid Bacteria Inhibit Nitric Oxide Production via Inducible Nitric

12

Oxide Synthase and Cyclooxygenase-2 in RAW 264.7 Cells. *Probiotics and Antimicrobial Proteins*, 13(6), 1530-1538.

- Kang, C.-H., Kim, J.-S., Park, H. M., Kim, S., & Paek, N.-S. (2021). Antioxidant activity and short-chain fatty acid production of lactic acid bacteria isolated from Korean individuals and fermented foods. *3 Biotech*, *11*(5), 217-217. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s13205-021-02767-y</u>
- KaraoĞLu, Ş. A., Aydin, F., Kilic, S. S., & Kilic, A. O. (2003). Antimicrobial activity and characteristics of bacteriocins produced by vaginal lactobacilli. *Turkish Journal of Medical Sciences*, 33(1), 7-13.
- Kareem, K. Y., Ling, F. H., Chwen, L. T., Foong, O. M., & Asmara, S. A. (2014). Inhibitory activity of postbiotic produced by strains of *Lactobacillus plantarum* using reconstituted media supplemented with inulin. Gut *Pathogens*, 6. <u>https://doi.org/Artn</u> 23
- 10.1186/1757-4749-6-23
- Kato, I., Tanaka, K., & Yokokura, T. (1999). Lactic acid bacterium potently induces the production of interleukin-12 and interferon-γ by mouse splenocytes. *International journal of immunopharmacology*, 21(2), 121-131.
- Kaya, H. I., & Simsek, O. (2019). Characterization of pathogen-specific bacteriocins from lactic acid bacteria and their application within cocktail against pathogens in milk. Lwt-Food Science and Technology, 115. <u>https://doi.org/ARTN</u> 108464
- 10.1016/j.lwt.2019.108464
- Kechagia, M., Basoulis, D., Konstantopoulou, S., Dimitriadi, D., Gyftopoulou, K., Skarmoutsou, N., & Fakiri, E. M. (2013). Health benefits of probiotics: a review. ISRN nutrition, 2013, 481651-481651. <u>https://doi.org/10.5402/2013/481651</u>
- Kim, H. J., Lee, I. S., & Kang, S. S. (2006). Cholesterol Biosynthesis Inhibitors of Microbial Origin. *Bioactive Natural Products (Pt M)*, Vol 33, 33, 751-784. <Go to ISI>://WOS:000311799900016
- Kim, M., Oh, H.-S., Park, S.-C., & Chun, J. (2014). Towards a taxonomic coherence between average nucleotide identity and 16S rRNA gene sequence similarity for species demarcation of prokaryotes. *International Journal of Systematic* and Evolutionary Microbiology, 64(Pt_2), 346-351.
- Kim, T.-S., Hur, J.-W., Yu, M.-A., Cheigh, C.-I., Kim, K.-N., Hwang, J.-K., & Pyun, Y.-R. (2003). Antagonism of Helicobacter pylori by bacteriocins of lactic acid bacteria. *Journal of food protection*, 66(1), 3-12.
- Kim, Y., Whang, I. Y., Whang, K. Y., Oh, S., & Kim, S. H. (2008). Characterization of the cholesterol-reducing activity in a cell-free supernatant of *Lactobacillus* acidophilus ATCC 43121. Bioscience Biotechnology and Biochemistry, 72(6), 1483-1490. <u>https://doi.org/10.1271/bbb.70802</u>
- Kirjavainen, P. V., El-Nezami, H. S., Salminen, S. J., Ahokas, J. T., & Wright, P. F. A. (1999). The effect of orally administered viable probiotic and dairy lactobacilli on mouse lymphocyte proliferation. *Fems Immunology and Medical Microbiology*, 26(2), 131-135. <u>https://doi.org/Doi</u> 10.1016/S0928-8244(99)00130-3
- Kmonickova, E., Kverka, M., Tlaskalová-Hogenová, H., Kostecka, P., & Zídek, Z. (2012). Stimulation of nitric oxide, cytokine and prostaglandin production by low-molecular weight fractions of probiotic Lactobacillus casei lysate. *Neuro Endocrinol Lett*, 33(3), 166-172.
- Kobatake, E., & Kabuki, T. (2019). S-Layer Protein of Lactobacillus helveticus SBT2171 Promotes Human β-Defensin 2 Expression via TLR2–JNK Signaling. *Frontiers in microbiology*, 2414.
- Korhonen, R., Korpela, R., Saxelin, M., Mäki, M., Kankaanranta, H., & Moilanen, E. (2001). Induction of nitric oxide synthesis by probiotic Lactobacillus rhamnosus GG in J774 macrophages and human T84 intestinal epithelial cells. *Inflammation*, 25(4), 223-232.
- Korpela, J. T., Adlercreutz, H., & Turunen, M. J. (1988). Fecal Free and Conjugated Bile-Acids and Neutral Sterols in Vegetarians, Omnivores, and Patients with Colorectal-Cancer. *Scandinavian Journal of Gastroenterology*, 23(3), 277-283. <u>https://doi.org/Doi</u> 10.3109/00365528809093865
- Krausova, G., Hyrslova, I., & Hynstova, I. (2019). In vitro evaluation of adhesion capacity, hydrophobicity, and auto-aggregation of newly isolated potential probiotic strains. *Fermentation*, 5(4), 100.
- Kumar, M., Ghosh, M., & Ganguli, A. (2012). Mitogenic response and probiotic characteristics of lactic acid bacteria isolated from indigenously pickled vegetables and fermented beverages. World Journal of Microbiology & Biotechnology, 28(2), 703-711. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11274-011-0866-4</u>
- Kumar, M., Nagpal, R., Kumar, R., Hemalatha, R., Verma, V., Kumar, A., Chakraborty, C., Singh, B., Marotta, F., Jain, S., & Yadav, H. (2012). Cholesterol-Lowering Probiotics as Potential Biotherapeutics for Metabolic Diseases. *Experimental Diabetes Research*. <u>https://doi.org/Artn</u> 902917

10.1155/2012/902917

- Kumar, S., Stecher, G., & Tamura, K. (2016). MEGA7: molecular evolutionary genetics analysis version 7.0 for bigger datasets. *Molecular biology and evolution*, 33(7), 1870-1874.
- Kumariya, R., Garsa, A. K., Rajput, Y. S., Sood, S. K., Akhtar, N., & Patel, S. (2019). Bacteriocins: Classification, synthesis, mechanism of action and resistance development in food spoilage causing bacteria. *Microbial Pathogenesis*, 128, 171-177. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.micpath.2019.01.002</u>
- Kurdi, P., Tanaka, H., van Veen, H. W., Asano, K., Tomita, F., & Yokota, A. (2003). Cholic acid accumulation and its diminution by short-chain fatty acids in bifidobacteria. *Microbiology-Sgm*, 149, 2031-2037. https://doi.org/10.1099/mic.0.26376-0
- Labarthe, D. R., & Dunbar, S. B. (2012). Global Cardiovascular Health Promotion and Disease Prevention 2011 and Beyond. *Circulation*, 125(21), 2667-2676. <u>https://doi.org/10.1161/Circulationaha.111.087726</u>
- Labarthe, D. R., & Dunbar, S. B. (2012). Global cardiovascular health promotion and disease prevention: 2011 and beyond. *Circulation*, *125*(21), 2667-2676.
- Laemmli, U. K. (1970). Cleavage of structural proteins during the assembly of the head of bacteriophage T4. *nature*, 227(5259), 680-685.
- Lane, D. J. (1991). 16S/23S rRNA sequencing. *Nucleic acid techniques in bacterial systematics*, 115-175.

- Lash, B. W., Mysliwiec, T. H., & Gourama, H. (2005). Detection and partial characterization of a broad-range bacteriocin produced by Lactobacillus plantarum (ATCC 8014). *Food Microbiology*, 22(2-3), 199-204.
- Lebeer, S., Verhoeven, T. L. A., Francius, G., Schoofs, G., Lambrichts, I., Dufrêne, Y., Vanderleyden, J., & De Keersmaecker, S. C. J. (2009). Identification of a gene cluster for the biosynthesis of a long, galactose-rich exopolysaccharide in Lactobacillus rhamnosus GG and functional analysis of the priming glycosyltransferase. *Applied and environmental microbiology*, 75(11), 3554-3563.
- Lee, I., Kim, Y. O., Park, S.-C., & Chun, J. (2016). OrthoANI: an improved algorithm and software for calculating average nucleotide identity. *International Journal* of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology, 66(2), 1100-1103.
- Lee, Y. K., & Salminen, S. (2009). *Handbook of probiotics and prebiotics*. John Wiley & Sons.
- Lehri, B., Seddon, A. M., & Karlyshev, A. V. (2015). Lactobacillus fermentum 3872 genome sequencing reveals plasmid and chromosomal genes potentially involved in a probiotic activity. *FEMS microbiology letters*, 362(11), fnv068.
- Lichtenstein, A., & Goldin, B. (2004). Lactic Acid Bacteria and Intestinal Drug and Cholesterol Metabolism. In. <u>https://doi.org/10.1201/9780824752033.ch17</u>
- Lim, E.-S. (2015). Purification and characterization of two bacteriocins from Lactobacillus brevis BK11 and Enterococcus faecalis BK61 showing anti-Helicobacter pylori activity. *Journal of the Korean Society for Applied Biological Chemistry*, 58(5), 703-714.
- Lima, E. T., Andreatti Filho, R. L., Okamoto, A. S., Noujaim, J. C., Barros, M. R., & Crocci, A. J. (2007). Evaluation in vitro of the antagonistic substances produced by Lactobacillus spp. isolated from chickens. *Canadian Journal of Veterinary Research*, 71(2), 103.
- Lin, M. Y., & Chen, T. W. (2000). Reduction of cholesterol by Lactobacillus acidophilus in culture broth. Journal of Food and Drug Analysis, 8(2), 97-102. <Go to ISI>://WOS:000088015100003
- Liong, M. T., & Shah, N. P. (2005). Acid and bile tolerance and the cholesterol removal ability of bifidobacteria strains. *Bioscience and microflora*, 24(1), 1-10.
- Liu, L., Wu, R., Zhang, J., & Li, P. (2018). Overexpression of luxS promotes stress resistance and biofilm formation of Lactobacillus paraplantarum L-ZS9 by regulating the expression of multiple genes. *Frontiers in microbiology*, 2628.
- Liu, Y., Lai, Q., Du, J., & Shao, Z. (2017). Genetic diversity and population structure of the Bacillus cereus group bacteria from diverse marine environments. *Scientific reports*, 7(1), 1-11.
- Liu, Y. F., Zhao, F. C., Liu, J. Y., Wang, H. M., Han, X., Zhang, Y. X., & Yang, Z. Y. (2017). Selection of Cholesterol-Lowering Lactic Acid Bacteria and its Effects on Rats Fed with High-Cholesterol Diet. *Current microbiology*, 74(5), 623-631. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00284-017-1230-1</u>
- Lowry, O. H. (1951). Protein measurement with the Folin phenol reagent. J biol Chem, 193, 265-275.
- Lv, X. R., Ma, H. H., Sun, M. T., Lin, Y., Bai, F. L., Li, J. R., & Zhang, B. L. (2018). A novel bacteriocin DY4-2 produced by *Lactobacillus plantarum* from

cutlassfish and its application as bio-preservative for the control of *Pseudomonas fluorescens* in fresh turbot (*Scophthalmus maximus*) fillets. *Food Control*, 89, 22-31. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodcont.2018.02.002</u>

- Lye, H. S., Rahmat-Ali, G. R., & Liong, M. T. (2010). Mechanisms of cholesterol removal by lactobacilli under conditions that mimic the human gastrointestinal tract. *International Dairy Journal*, 20(3), 169-175. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.idairyj.2009.10.003</u>
- Ma, C., Zhang, S., Lu, J., Zhang, C., Pang, X., & Lv, J. (2019). Screening for Cholesterol-Lowering Probiotics from Lactic Acid Bacteria Isolated from Corn Silage Based on Three Hypothesized Pathways. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 20(9). <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms20092073</u>
- Ma, Q., Pei, Z., Fang, Z., Wang, H., Zhu, J., Lee, Y.-k., Zhang, H., Zhao, J., Lu, W., & Chen, W. (2021). Evaluation of Tetracycline Resistance and Determination of the Tentative Microbiological Cutoff Values in Lactic Acid Bacterial Species. *Microorganisms*, 9(10), 2128.
- Marcus, J. B. (2013). Chapter 6 Lipids Basics: Fats and Oils in Foods and Health: Healthy Lipid Choices, Roles and Applications in Nutrition, Food Science and the Culinary Arts. In J. B. Marcus (Ed.), *Culinary Nutrition* (pp. 231-277). Academic Press. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-391882-6.00006-6</u>
- Marraffini, L. A., DeDent, A. C., & Schneewind, O. (2006). Sortases and the art of anchoring proteins to the envelopes of gram-positive bacteria. *Microbiology* and Molecular Biology Reviews, 70(1), 192-221.
- Martino, M. E., Bayjanov, J. R., Caffrey, B. E., Wels, M., Joncour, P., Hughes, S., Gillet, B., Kleerebezem, M., van Hijum, S. A. F. T., & Leulier, F. (2016). Nomadic lifestyle of Lactobacillus plantarum revealed by comparative genomics of 54 strains isolated from different habitats. *Environmental microbiology*, 18(12), 4974-4989.
- Mayo, B., van Sinderen, D., & Ventura, M. (2008). Genome analysis of food grade lactic acid-producing bacteria: From basics to applications. *Current Genomics*, 9(3), 169-183. <u>https://doi.org/Doi</u> 10.2174/138920208784340731
- Meier-Kolthoff, J. P., Auch, A. F., Klenk, H.-P., & Göker, M. (2013). Genome sequence-based species delimitation with confidence intervals and improved distance functions. *BMC bioinformatics*, 14(1), 1-14.
- Meier-Kolthoff, J. P., & Göker, M. (2019). TYGS is an automated high-throughput platform for state-of-the-art genome-based taxonomy. *Nature communications*, *10*(1), 1-10.
- Michael, D. R., Moss, J. W. E., Calvente, D. L., Garaiova, I., Plummer, S. F., & Ramji, D. P. (2016). *Lactobacillus plantarum* CUL66 can impact cholesterol homeostasis in Caco-2 enterocytes. *Beneficial Microbes*, 7(3), 443-451. <u>https://doi.org/10.3920/Bm2015.0146</u>
- Minekus, M., Alminger, M., Alvito, P., Ballance, S., Bohn, T., Bourlieu, C., Carrière, F., Boutrou, R., Corredig, M., & Dupont, D. (2014). A standardised static in vitro digestion method suitable for food–an international consensus. *Food & function*, 5(6), 1113-1124.
- Miremadi, F., Ayyash, M., Sherkat, F., & Stojanovska, L. (2014). Cholesterol reduction mechanisms and fatty acid composition of cellular membranes of

probiotic Lactobacilli and Bifidobacteria. *Journal of Functional Foods*, 9, 295-305. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jff.2014.05.002</u>

- Monteagudo-Mera, A., Rastall, R. A., Gibson, G. R., Charalampopoulos, D., & Chatzifragkou, A. (2019). Adhesion mechanisms mediated by probiotics and prebiotics and their potential impact on human health. *Applied Microbiology* and Biotechnology, 103(16), 6463-6472.
- Moreno, I., Lerayer, A. L. S., Baldini, V. L. S., & Leitão, M. F. d. F. (2000). Characterization of bacteriocins produced by Lactococcus lactis strains. *Brazilian Journal of Microbiology*, *31*, 183-191.
- Moser, S. A., & Savage, D. C. (2001). Bile salt hydrolase activity and resistance to toxicity of conjugated bile salts are unrelated properties in lactobacilli. *Applied* and Environmental Microbiology, 67(8), 3476-3480. <u>https://doi.org/Doi</u> 10.1128/Aem.67.8.3476-3480.2001
- Mulaw, G., Tessema, T. S., Muleta, D., & Tesfaye, A. (2019). In Vitro Evaluation of Probiotic Properties of Lactic Acid Bacteria Isolated from Some Traditionally Fermented Ethiopian Food Products. *International Journal of Microbiology*, 2019. <u>https://doi.org/Unsp</u> 7179514
- 10.1155/2019/7179514
- Muñoz-Provencio, D., Rodríguez-Díaz, J., Collado, M. C., Langella, P., Bermúdez-Humarán, L. G., & Monedero, V. (2012). Functional analysis of the Lactobacillus casei BL23 sortases. *Applied and environmental microbiology*, 78(24), 8684-8693.
- Nagafuchi, S., Takahashi, T., Yajima, T., Kuwata, T., Hirayama, K., & Itoh, K. (1999). Strain dependency of the immunopotentiating activity of *Lactobacillus delbrueckii* subsp. *bulgaricus*. *Bioscience Biotechnology and Biochemistry*, 63(3), 474-479. <u>https://doi.org/DOI</u> 10.1271/bbb.63.474
- Nguyen, T. L., & Kim, D.-H. (2018). Genome-wide comparison reveals a probiotic strain Lactococcus lactis WFLU12 isolated from the gastrointestinal tract of olive flounder (Paralichthys olivaceus) harboring genes supporting probiotic action. *Marine drugs*, *16*(5), 140.
- Noriega, L., Cuevas, I., Margolles, A., & Los Reyes-Gavilan, C. G. D. (2006). Deconjugation and bile salts hydrolase activity by Bifidobacterium strains with acquired resistance to bile. *International Dairy Journal*, 16(8), 850-855. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.idairyj.2005.09.008</u>
- Ohashi, Y., & Ushida, K. (2009). Health-beneficial effects of probiotics: Its mode of action. *Animal Science Journal*, 80(4), 361-371. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1740-0929.2009.00645.x
- Okada, S., Toyoda, T., & Kozaki, M. (1978). An easy method for the determination of the optical types of lactic acid produced by lactic acid bacteria. *Agricultural and Biological Chemistry*, 42(9), 1781-1783.
- Oliveira, L. C., Saraiva, T. D. L., Silva, W. M., Pereira, U. P., Campos, B. C., Benevides, L. J., Rocha, F. S., Figueiredo, H. C. P., Azevedo, V., & Soares, S. C. (2017). Analyses of the probiotic property and stress resistance-related genes of Lactococcus lactis subsp. lactis NCDO 2118 through comparative genomics and in vitro assays. *PLoS One*, 12(4), e0175116.
- Ooi, L. G., & Liong, M. T. (2010). Cholesterol-Lowering Effects of Probiotics and Prebiotics: A Review of *in Vivo* and *in Vitro* Findings. *International Journal*

of Molecular Sciences, *11*(6), 2499-2522. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms11062499</u>

- Ou, C. C., Lin, S. L., Tsai, J. J., & Lin, M. Y. (2011). Heat-killed lactic acid bacteria enhance immunomodulatory potential by skewing the immune response toward Th1 polarization. *Journal of food science*, 76(5), M260-M267.
- Ozyurt, V. H., & Ötles, S. (2014). Properties of probiotics and encapsulated probiotics in food. *Acta Scientiarum Polonorum Technologia Alimentaria*, 13(4), 413-424.
- Papagianni, M. (2003). Ribosomally synthesized peptides with antimicrobial properties: biosynthesis, structure, function, and applications. *Biotechnology advances*, 21(6), 465-499.
- Papagianni, M., & Papamichael, E. M. (2011). Purification, amino acid sequence and characterization of the class IIa bacteriocin weissellin A, produced by Weissella paramesenteroides DX. *Bioresource Technology*, 102(12), 6730-6734.
- Parks, D. H., Imelfort, M., Skennerton, C. T., Hugenholtz, P., & Tyson, G. W. (2015). CheckM: assessing the quality of microbial genomes recovered from isolates, single cells, and metagenomes. *Genome research*, 25(7), 1043-1055.
- Pato, U., Surono, I. S., Koesnandar, & Hosono, A. (2004). Hypocholesterolemic effect of indigenous dadih lactic acid bacteria by deconjugation of bile salts. *Asian-Australasian Journal of Animal Sciences*, 17(12), 1741-1745. <u>https://doi.org/DOI</u> 10.5713/ajas.2004.1741
- Pfeffer, K. (2003). Biological functions of tumor necrosis factor cytokines and their receptors. *Cytokine & growth factor reviews*, 14(3-4), 185-191.
- Pinto, A. L., Fernandes, M., Pinto, C., Albano, H., Castilho, F., Teixeira, P., & Gibbs, P. A. (2009). Characterization of anti-Listeria bacteriocins isolated from shellfish: potential antimicrobials to control non-fermented seafood. *International journal of food microbiology*, 129(1), 50-58.
- Pithva, S., Shekh, S., Dave, J., & Vyas, B. R. (2014). Probiotic attributes of autochthonous *Lactobacillus rhamnosus* strains of human origin. *Appl Biochem Biotechnol*, 173(1), 259-277. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s12010-014-0839-9</u>
- Pokusaeva, K., Fitzgerald, G. F., & van Sinderen, D. (2011). Carbohydrate metabolism in Bifidobacteria. *Genes & nutrition*, 6(3), 285-306.
- Popa, C., Netea, M. G., Van Riel, P. L. C. M., Van Der Meer, J. W. M., & Stalenhoef, A. F. H. (2007). The role of TNF-α in chronic inflammatory conditions, intermediary metabolism, and cardiovascular risk. *Journal of lipid research*, 48(4), 751-762.
- Porter, N. T., Canales, P., Peterson, D. A., & Martens, E. C. (2017). A subset of polysaccharide capsules in the human symbiont Bacteroides thetaiotaomicron promote increased competitive fitness in the mouse gut. *Cell host & microbe*, 22(4), 494-506.
- Povey, K. (2016). Developing food products, which help consumers to lower their cholesterol level. *Developing Food Products for Consumers with Specific Dietary Needs*, 300, 173-199. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-08-100329-9.00009-8</u>

- Prasirtsak, B., Thongchul, N., Tolieng, V., & Tanasupawat, S. (2016). Terrilactibacillus laevilacticus gen. nov., sp. nov., isolated from soil. *International journal of systematic and evolutionary microbiology*, 66(3), 1311-1316.
- Price, J. D., Simpfendorfer, K. R., Mantena, R. R., Holden, J., Heath, W. R., van Rooijen, N., Strugnell, R. A., & Wijburg, O. L. C. (2007). Gamma interferonindependent effects of interleukin-12 on immunity to Salmonella enterica serovar Typhimurium. Infection and immunity, 75(12), 5753-5762. https://doi.org/10.1128/Iai.00971-07
- Prudencio, C. V., dos Santos, M. T., & Vanetti, M. C. D. (2015). Strategies for the use of bacteriocins in Gram-negative bacteria: relevance in food microbiology. *Journal of Food Science and Technology-Mysore*, 52(9), 5408-5417. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s13197-014-1666-2</u>
- Ramalho, J. B., Soares, M. B., Spiazzi, C. C., Bicca, D. F., Soares, V. M., Pereira, J. G., Da Silva, W. P., Sehn, C. P., & Cibin, F. W. S. (2019). In vitro probiotic and antioxidant potential of Lactococcus lactis subsp. cremoris LL95 and its effect in mice behaviour. *Nutrients*, 11(4), 901.
- Ranadheera, C. S., Vidanarachchi, J. K., Rocha, R. S., Cruz, A. G., & Ajlouni, S. (2017). Probiotic Delivery through Fermentation: Dairy vs. Non-Dairy Beverages. *Fermentation-Basel*, 3(4). <u>https://doi.org/ARTN</u> 67
- 10.3390/fermentation3040067
- Reilly, N., Poylin, V., Menconi, M., Onderdonk, A., Bengmark, S., & Hasselgren, P.-O. (2007). Probiotics potentiate IL-6 production in IL-1β-treated Caco-2 cells through a heat shock-dependent mechanism. *American Journal of Physiology-Regulatory, Integrative and Comparative Physiology*, 293(3), R1169-R1179.
- Richter, M., & Rosselló-Móra, R. (2009). Shifting the genomic gold standard for the prokaryotic species definition. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 106(45), 19126-19131.
- Richter, M., Rosselló-Móra, R., Oliver Glöckner, F., & Peplies, J. (2016). JSpeciesWS: a web server for prokaryotic species circumscription based on pairwise genome comparison. *Bioinformatics*, 32(6), 929-931.
- Romani, L., Puccetti, P., & Bistoni, F. (1997). Interleukin-12 in infectious diseases. *Clinical Microbiology Reviews*, 10(4), 611-+. <u>https://doi.org/Doi</u> 10.1128/Cmr.10.4.611
- Rose-John, S., Winthrop, K., & Calabrese, L. (2017). The role of IL-6 in host defence against infections: immunobiology and clinical implications. *Nature Reviews Rheumatology*, *13*(7), 399-409.
- Roth, G. A., Fihn, S. D., Mokdad, A. H., Aekplakorn, W., Hasegawa, T., & Lim, S. S. (2011). High total serum cholesterol, medication coverage and therapeutic control: an analysis of national health examination survey data from eight countries. *Bulletin of the World Health Organization*, 89(2), 92-101. <u>https://doi.org/10.2471/Blt.10.079947</u>
- Saad, N., Delattre, C., Urdaci, M., Schmitter, J. M., & Bressollier, P. (2013). An overview of the last advances in probiotic and prebiotic field. *Lwt-Food Science and Technology*, 50(1), 1-16. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lwt.2012.05.014</u>

- Saarela, M., Mogensen, G., Fonden, R., Matto, J., & Mattila-Sandholm, T. (2000). Probiotic bacteria: safety, functional and technological properties. *Journal of Biotechnology*, 84(3), 197-215. <u>https://doi.org/Doi</u> 10.1016/S0168-1656(00)00375-8
- Saito, H., & Miura, K.-I. (1963). Preparation of transforming deoxyribonucleic acid by phenol treatment. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-Specialized Section on Nucleic Acids and Related Subjects*, 72, 619-629.
- Saitou, N. (1987). Nei. M. h ghbo o gm thod: a wm thod fo co t uct g phylog t ct. *Mol. B ol. E ol.–Oxfo d*, *4*, 406-425.
- Salminen, S., von Wright, A., Morelli, L., Marteau, P., Brassart, D., de Vos, W. M., Fondén, R., Saxelin, M., Collins, K., & Mogensen, G. (1998). Demonstration of safety of probiotics—a review. *International journal of food microbiology*, 44(1-2), 93-106.
- Sanders, M. E., Akkermans, L. M., Haller, D., Hammerman, C., Heimbach, J. T., Hörmannsperger, G., & Huys, G. (2010). Safety assessment of probiotics for human use. *Gut microbes*, 1(3), 164-185.
- ŞAnlibaba, P., Akkoc, N., & Akcelik, M. (2009). Identification and Characterisation of Antimicrobial Activity of Nisin A Produced by Lactococcus lactis subsp lactis LL27. Czech Journal of Food Sciences, 27(1).
- Saravanan, C., & Shetty, P. K. H. (2016). Isolation and characterization of exopolysaccharide from *Leuconostoc lactis* KC117496 isolated from idli batter. *International Journal of Biological Macromolecules*, 90, 100-106. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijbiomac.2015.02.007</u>
- [Record #28 is using a reference type undefined in this output style.]
- Schlee, M., Harder, J., Köten, B., Stange, E. F., Wehkamp, J., & Fellermann, K. (2008). Probiotic lactobacilli and VSL# 3 induce enterocyte β-defensin 2. *Clinical & Experimental Immunology*, 151(3), 528-535.
- Schleifer, K. H., & Kandler, O. (1972). Peptidoglycan types of bacterial cell walls and their taxonomic implications. *Bacteriological reviews*, *36*(4), 407-477.
- Schumann, P. (2011). Peptidoglycan structure. In *Methods in microbiology* (Vol. 38, pp. 101-129). Elsevier.
- Shafa, F., & Salton, M. R. J. (1960). Disaggregation of bacterial cell walls by anionic detergents. *Microbiology*, 23(1), 137-141.
- Shehata, M., El Sohaimy, S., El-Sahn, M. A., & Youssef, M. (2016). Screening of isolated potential probiotic lactic acid bacteria for cholesterol lowering property and bile salt hydrolase activity. *Annals of Agricultural Sciences*, 61(1), 65-75.
- Shekh, S. L., Dave, J. M., & Vyas, B. R. M. (2016). Characterization of *Lactobacillus plantarum* strains for functionality, safety and γ-amino butyric acid production. *LWT*, *74*, 234-241.
- Shida, K., Nanno, M., & Nagata, S. (2011). Flexible cytokine production by macrophages and T cells in response to probiotic bacteria: a possible mechanism by which probiotics exert multifunctional immune regulatory activities. *Gut microbes*, 2(2), 109-114.
- Shokryazdan, P., Faseleh Jahromi, M., Liang, J. B., & Ho, Y. W. (2017). Probiotics: From Isolation to Application. *Journal of the American College of Nutrition*, 36(8), 666-676. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/07315724.2017.1337529</u>

- Shripada, R., Gayatri, A.-J., & Sanjay, P. (2020). Paraprobiotics. *Precision medicine* for investigators, practitioners and providers, 39-49.
- Simova, E. D., Beshkova, D. B., & Dimitrov, Z. P. (2009). Characterization and antimicrobial spectrum of bacteriocins produced by lactic acid bacteria isolated from traditional Bulgarian dairy products. *Journal of Applied Microbiology*, 106(2), 692-701. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-</u> <u>2672.2008.04052.x</u>
- Sirilun, S., Chaiyasut, C., Kantachote, D., & Luxananil, P. (2010). Characterisation of non human origin probiotic *Lactobacillus plantarum* with cholesterollowering property. *African Journal of Microbiology Research*, 4(10), 994-1000. <Go to ISI>://WOS:000278594000013
- Somashekaraiah, R., Shruthi, B., Deepthi, B. V., & Sreenivasa, M. Y. (2019). Probiotic Properties of Lactic Acid Bacteria Isolated From Neera: A Naturally Fermenting Coconut Palm Nectar. *Front Microbiol*, 10, 1382. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2019.01382</u>
- Sornplang, P., & Piyadeatsoontorn, S. (2016). Probiotic isolates from unconventional sources: a review. *Journal of animal science and technology*, 58(1), 26.
- St-Onge, M. P., Farnworth, E. R., & Jones, P. J. H. (2000). Consumption of fermented and nonfermented dairy products: effects on cholesterol concentrations and metabolism. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 71(3), 674-681. <Go to ISI>://WOS:000085499600008
- Stackebrandt, E. (2006). Taxonomic parameters revisited: tarnished gold standards. *Microbiol. Today*, 33, 152-155.
- Stage, M., Wichmann, A., Jørgensen, M., Vera-Jimenéz, N. I., Wielje, M., Nielsen, D. S., Sandelin, A., Chen, Y., & Baker, A. (2020). Lactobacillus rhamnosus GG genomic and phenotypic stability in an industrial production process. *Applied and environmental microbiology*, 86(6), e02780-02719.
- Stern, N. J., Svetoch, E. A., Eruslanov, B. V., Perelygin, V. V., Mitsevich, E. V., Mitsevich, I. P., Pokhilenko, V. D., Levchuk, V. P., Svetoch, O. E., & Seal, B. S. (2006). Isolation of a Lactobacillus salivarius strain and purification of its bacteriocin, which is inhibitory to Campylobacter jejuni in the chicken gastrointestinal system. *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy*, 50(9), 3111-3116. <u>https://doi.org/10.1128/Aac.00259-06</u>
- Sun, Z., Yu, J., Dan, T., Zhang, W., & Zhang, H. (2014). Phylogenesis and evolution of lactic acid bacteria. In *Lactic acid bacteria* (pp. 1-101). Springer.
- Surayot, U., Wang, J., Seesuriyachan, P., Kuntiya, A., Tabarsa, M., Lee, Y., Kim, J.-K., Park, W., & You, S. (2014). Exopolysaccharides from lactic acid bacteria: structural analysis, molecular weight effect on immunomodulation. *International journal of biological macromolecules*, 68, 233-240.
- Tahri, K., Grill, J. P., & Schneider, F. (1996). Bifidobacteria strain behavior toward cholesterol: Coprecipitation with bile salts and assimilation. *Current Microbiology*, 33(3), 187-193. <u>https://doi.org/DOI</u> 10.1007/s002849900098
- Talarico, T. L., Casas, I. A., Chung, T. C., & Dobrogosz, W. J. (1988). Production and Isolation of Reuterin, a Growth Inhibitor Produced by Lactobacillus reuteri. Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy, 32(12), 1854-1858. <u>https://doi.org/Doi</u> 10.1128/Aac.32.12.1854

- Tanaka, H., Doesburg, K., Iwasaki, T., & Mierau, I. (1999). Screening of lactic acid bacteria for bile salt hydrolase activity. *Journal of dairy science*, 82(12), 2530-2535. <u>https://doi.org/DOI</u> 10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(99)75506-2
- Tanaka, T., Narazaki, M., & Kishimoto, T. (2014). IL-6 in inflammation, immunity, and disease. *Cold Spring Harbor perspectives in biology*, 6(10), a016295.
- Tanasupawat, S., Okada, S., & Komagata, K. (1998). Lactic acid bacteria found in fermented fish in Thailand. *Journal of General and Applied Microbiology*, 44(3), 193-200. <u>https://doi.org/DOI</u> 10.2323/jgam.44.193
- Tanizawa, Y., Fujisawa, T., & Nakamura, Y. (2018). DFAST: a flexible prokaryotic genome annotation pipeline for faster genome publication. *Bioinformatics*, 34(6), 1037-1039.
- Tarrah, A., Pakroo, S., Lemos Junior, W. J. F., Guerra, A. F., Corich, V., & Giacomini, A. (2020). Complete Genome Sequence and Carbohydrates-Active EnZymes (CAZymes) Analysis of Lactobacillus paracasei DTA72, a Potential Probiotic Strain with Strong Capability to Use Inulin. *Current microbiology*, 77(10), 2867-2875.
- Tatusova, T., DiCuccio, M., Badretdin, A., Chetvernin, V., Nawrocki, E. P., Zaslavsky, L., Lomsadze, A., Pruitt, K. D., Borodovsky, M., & Ostell, J. (2016). NCBI prokaryotic genome annotation pipeline. *Nucleic acids research*, 44(14), 6614-6624.
- Tejada-Simon, M. V., & Pestka, J. J. (1999). Proinflammatory cytokine and nitric oxide induction in murine macrophages by cell wall and cytoplasmic extracts of lactic acid bacteria. *Journal of food protection*, 62(12), 1435-1444.
- Tejero-Sarinena, S., Barlow, J., Costabile, A., Gibson, G. R., & Rowland, I. (2013). Antipathogenic activity of probiotics against *Salmonella Typhimurium* and *Clostridium difficile* in anaerobic batch culture systems: Is it due to synergies in probiotic mixtures or the specificity of single strains? *Anaerobe*, 24, 60-65. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anaerobe.2013.09.011
- Terpou, A., Papadaki, A., Lappa, I. K., Kachrimanidou, V., Bosnea, L. A., & Kopsahelis, N. (2019). Probiotics in Food Systems: Significance and Emerging Strategies Towards Improved Viability and Delivery of Enhanced Beneficial Value. *Nutrients*, 11(7). <u>https://doi.org/ARTN</u> 1591
- 10.3390/nu11071591
- Thamacharoensuk, T., Taweechotipatr, M., Kajikawa, A., Okada, S., & Tanasupawat, S. (2017). Induction of cellular immunity interleukin-12, antiproliferative effect, and related probiotic properties of lactic acid bacteria isolated in Thailand. *Annals of Microbiology*, 67(8), 511-518.
- Tiwari, S. K. (2022). Bacteriocin-Producing Probiotic Lactic Acid Bacteria in Controlling Dysbiosis of the Gut Microbiota. *Frontiers in Cellular and Infection Microbiology*, 415.
- Todorov, S. D. (2009). Bacteriocins from Lactobacillus plantarum production, genetic organization and mode of action: produção, organização genética e modo de ação. *Brazilian journal of microbiology : [publication of the Brazilian Society for Microbiology]*, 40(2), 209-221. https://doi.org/10.1590/S1517-83822009000200001
- Todorov, S. D., Wachsman, M., Tomé, E., Dousset, X., Destro, M. T., Dicks, L. M. T., de Melo Franco, B. D. G., Vaz-Velho, M., & Drider, D. (2010).

Characterisation of an antiviral pediocin-like bacteriocin produced by Enterococcus faecium. *Food Microbiology*, 27(7), 869-879.

- Tomaro-Duchesneau, C., Jones, M. L., Shah, D., Jain, P., Saha, S., & Prakash, S. (2014). Cholesterol Assimilation by *Lactobacillus* Probiotic Bacteria: An *In Vitro* Investigation. *Biomed Research International*. <u>https://doi.org/Artn</u> 380316
- 10.1155/2014/380316
- Towbin, H., Staehelin, T., & Gordon, J. (1979). Electrophoretic transfer of proteins from polyacrylamide gels to nitrocellulose sheets: procedure and some applications. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 76(9), 4350-4354.
- Tremblay, S., Romain, G., Roux, M., Chen, X. L., Brown, K., Gibson, D. L., Ramanathan, S., & Menendez, A. (2017). Bile Acid Administration Elicits an Intestinal Antimicrobial Program and Reduces the Bacterial Burden in Two Mouse Models of Enteric Infection. *Infection and Immunity*, 85(6). <u>https://doi.org/ARTN</u> e00942
- 10.1128/IAI.00942-16
- Tsai, Y. T., Cheng, P. C., & Pan, T. M. (2012). The immunomodulatory effects of lactic acid bacteria for improving immune functions and benefits. *Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology*, 96(4), 853-862. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00253-012-4407-3</u>
- Tuomola, E. M., Ouwehand, A. C., & Salminen, S. J. (1999). Human ileostomy glycoproteins as a model for small intestinal mucus to investigate adhesion of probiotics. *Letters in applied microbiology*, 28(3), 159-163.
- van Heel, A. J., de Jong, A., Song, C., Viel, J. H., Kok, J., & Kuipers, O. P. (2018). BAGEL4: a user-friendly web server to thoroughly mine RiPPs and bacteriocins. *Nucleic acids research*, 46(W1), W278-W281.
- van Reenen, C. A., Dicks, L. M. T., & Chikindas, M. L. (1998). Isolation, purification and partial characterization of plantaricin 423, a bacteriocin produced by *Lactobacillus plantarum*. Journal of Applied Microbiology, 84(6), 1131-1137. <Go to ISI>://WOS:000075057100026
- Vasilchenko, A. S., Vasilchenko, A. V., Valyshev, A. V., & Rogozhin, E. A. (2018).
 A Novel High-Molecular-Mass Bacteriocin Produced by *Enterococcus faecium*: Biochemical Features and Mode of Action. *Probiotics and Antimicrobial Proteins*, 10(3), 427-434. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s12602-018-9392-0</u>
- Ventura, M., Canchaya, C., van Sinderen, D., Fitzgerald, G. F., & Zink, R. (2004). Bifidobacterium lactis DSM 10140: identification of the atp (atpBEFHAGDC) operon and analysis of its genetic structure, characteristics, and phylogeny. *Applied and environmental microbiology*, 70(5), 3110-3121.
- Vieco-Saiz, N., Belguesmia, Y., Raspoet, R., Auclair, E., Gancel, F., Kempf, I., & Drider, D. (2019). Benefits and Inputs From Lactic Acid Bacteria and Their Bacteriocins as Alternatives to Antibiotic Growth Promoters During Food-Animal Production. *Frontiers in microbiology*, 10. <u>https://doi.org/ARTN</u> 57

10.3389/fmicb.2019.00057

- Wang, B., Wei, H., Yuan, J., Li, Q., Li, Y., Li, N., & Li, J. (2008). Identification of a surface protein from Lactobacillus reuteri JCM1081 that adheres to porcine gastric mucin and human enterocyte-like HT-29 cells. *Current microbiology*, 57(1), 33-38.
- Wang, S. C., Chang, C. K., Chan, S. C., Shieh, J. S., Chiu, C. K., & Duh, P. D. (2014). Effects of lactic acid bacteria isolated from fermented mustard on lowering cholesterol. *Asian Pac J Trop Biomed*, 4(7), 523-528. <u>https://doi.org/10.12980/APJTB.4.201414B54</u>
- Wang, Y., Qin, Y., Xie, Q., Zhang, Y., Hu, J., & Li, P. (2018). Purification and characterization of plantaricin LPL-1, a novel class IIa bacteriocin produced by Lactobacillus plantarum LPL-1 isolated from fermented fish. *Frontiers in microbiology*, 9, 2276.
- Wassenaar, T. M., Zschüttig, A., Beimfohr, C., Geske, T., Auerbach, C., Cook, H., Zimmermann, K., & Gunzer, F. (2015). Virulence genes in a probiotic E. coli product with a recorded long history of safe use. *Eur J Microbiol Immunol* (*Bp*), 5(1), 81-93. <u>https://doi.org/10.1556/eujmi-d-14-00039</u>
- Wehkamp, J., Harder, J. r., Wehkamp, K., Meissner, B. W.-v., Schlee, M., Enders, C., Sonnenborn, U., Nuding, S., Bengmark, S., & Fellermann, K. (2004). NF-κBand AP-1-mediated induction of human beta defensin-2 in intestinal epithelial cells by Escherichia coli Nissle 1917: a novel effect of a probiotic bacterium. *Infection and immunity*, 72(10), 5750-5758.
- Woraprayote, W., Pumpuang, L., Tosukhowong, A., Roytrakul, S., Perez, R. H., Zendo, T., Sonomoto, K., Benjakul, S., & Visessanguan, W. (2015). Two putatively novel bacteriocins active against Gram-negative food borne pathogens produced by Weissella hellenica BCC 7293. *Food Control*, 55, 176-184.
- Xiao, J., Zhang, Y., & Yang, Z. (2014). Lactic acid bacteria in health and disease. In *Lactic Acid Bacteria* (pp. 303-374). Springer.
- Xie, J., Zhang, R., Shang, C., & Guo, Y. (2009). Isolation and characterization of a bacteriocin produced by an isolated Bacillus subtilis LFB112 that exhibits antimicrobial activity against domestic animal pathogens. *African Journal of Biotechnology*, 8(20).
- Xu, S., Liu, T. G., Radji, C. A. I., Yang, J., & Chen, L. M. (2016). Isolation, Identification, and Evaluation of New Lactic Acid Bacteria Strains with Both Cellular Antioxidant and Bile Salt Hydrolase Activities In Vitro. *Journal of food protection*, 79(11), 1919-1928. <u>https://doi.org/10.4315/0362-028x.Jfp-16-096</u>
- Yamane, T., Sakamoto, T., Nakagaki, T., & Nakano, Y. (2018). Lactic acid bacteria from kefir increase cytotoxicity of natural killer cells to tumor cells. *Foods*, 7(4), 48.
- Yang, Y., Xing, R., Liu, S., Qin, Y., Li, K., Yu, H., & Li, P. (2018). Immunostimulatory effects of sulfated chitosans on RAW 264.7 mouse macrophages via the activation of PI3 K/Akt signaling pathway. *International journal of biological macromolecules*, 108, 1310-1321.
- Ye, J., Wang, Y., Wang, Z., Liu, L., Yang, Z., Wang, M., Xu, Y., Ye, D., Zhang, J., & Lin, Y. (2020). Roles and mechanisms of interleukin-12 family members in

cardiovascular diseases: opportunities and challenges. *Frontiers in Pharmacology*, 11, 129.

- Yi, L., Dang, Y., Wu, J., Zhang, L., Liu, X., Liu, B., Zhou, Y., & Lu, X. (2016). Purification and characterization of a novel bacteriocin produced by *Lactobacillus crustorum* MN047 isolated from koumiss from Xinjiang, China. *Journal of dairy science*, 99(9), 7002-7015.
- Yoon, S.-H., Ha, S.-M., Kwon, S., Lim, J., Kim, Y., Seo, H., & Chun, J. (2017). Introducing EzBioCloud: a taxonomically united database of 16S rRNA gene sequences and whole-genome assemblies. *International Journal of Systematic* and Evolutionary Microbiology, 67(5), 1613.
- Zendeboodi, F., Khorshidian, N., Mortazavian, A. M., & da Cruz, A. G. (2020). Probiotic: conceptualization from a new approach. *Current Opinion in Food Science*, *32*, 103-123.



CHULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY

VITA

NAME	Engkarat Kingkaew
DATE OF BIRTH	5 November 1994
PLACE OF BIRTH	Bangkok, Thailand
INSTITUTIONS ATTENDED	 B.Sc. (2013-2016) Bachelor of Science (Industrial Microbiology) Bachelor of Science Program in Industrial Microbiology of Faculty of science, King Mongkut's Institute of Technology Ladkrabang (KMITL) 32. Chargemprakiat Rama 9/22. Prawet district. Nongbon sub-District
	Bangkok, 10250
PUBLICATION	 Kingkaew, E., Nuhwa, R., Piluk, J., Thitiprasert, S., Thongchul, N., & Tanasupawat, S. (2020). Terrilactibacillus tamarindi sp. nov., isolated from bark of Tamarindus indica. International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology, 70(7), 4145-4150. Kingkaew, E., Konno, H., Hosaka, Y., & Tanasupawat, S. (2022). Diversity of lactic acid bacteria from fermented mussel (Hoi-dong) with their cholesterol-lowering and immunomodulation effects. Heliyon Kingkaew, E., Konno, H., Hosaka, Y., & Tanasupawat, S. (2022). Probiogenomic Analysis of Lactiplantibacillus sp. LM14-2 from Fermented Mussel (Hoi-dong), and Evaluation of Its Cholesterol- Lowering and Immunomodulation Effects. Probiotics and Antimicrobial Proteins
	CONFERENCES
จุฬา CHULA	1) Kingkaew, E., Taweechotipatr, M., Visessanguaun, W., & Tanasupawat, S. (2020). Screening and identification cholesterol lowering and bile salt hydrolase producing lactic acid bacteria from Their nickled exercise (Usi deep). (CTU Internetional Concerne ex-
	Science, Technology and Technology-based Innovation October 5-7, 2020. Ramkhamhaeng University, Bangkok, Thailand. (Poster presentation) 2) Kingkaew, E., Visessanguaun, W., & Tanasupawat, S. (2021). Screening and identification cholesterol-lowering and bile salt hydrolase of lactic acid bacteria from Thai fermented fish (Pla-paeng-
	daeng). 14TH June 2021 The 2021 National RGJ and RRI conferences, (Online poster presentation)